

Volume 4 No.2

Online ISSN: 2587-8964 Print ISSN: 2587-6104

Changing Societies & Personalities



Online ISSN 2587-8964 Print ISSN 2587-6104

2020, Vol. 4, No. 2

Published **quarterly** Founded in **2016**

Founder and Publisher:

Ural Federal University named after the first President of Russia Boris N. Yeltsin. Address: 19 Mira street, Yekaterinburg, Russia, 620002

Journal contact information:

51 Lenin Avenue, room 240, Yekaterinburg, Russia, 620000 Phone: +7 (343) 389-9412 E-mail: editor@changing-sp.com Web: https://changing-sp.com

The Journal is registered by the Federal Agency for Supervision in the Sphere of Telecomunication, Information Technologies and Mass Communication, Certificate of Registration: ΠИ № ФС77–65509 from May 4, 2016

Aims and Scope:

Changing Societies & Personalities is an international, peer-reviewed quarterly journal, published in English by the Ural Federal University. *CS&P* examines how rapid societallevel changes are reshaping individual-level beliefs, motivations and values – and how these individual-level changes in turn are reshaping societies. The interplay of personality traits and sociocultural factors in defining motivation, deliberation, action and reflection of individuals requires a combination of theoretical and empirical knowledge. Since an interdisciplinary approach is needed to understand the causes and consequences of the contemporary world's changing socio-political institutions, moral values, and religious beliefs, the journal welcomes theoretical and empirical contributions from a wide range of perspectives in the context of value pluralism and social heterogeneity of (post)modern society.

Topics of interest include, but are not limited to

- value implications of interactions between socio-political transformations and personal self-identity;
- changes in value orientations, materialist and post-materialist values;
- moral reasoning and behavior;
- variability and continuity in the election of styles of moral regime and/or religious identity;
- the moral bases of political preferences and their elimination;
- social exclusion and inclusion;
- post-secular religious individualism;
- tolerance and merely "tolerating": their meanings, varieties and fundamental bases;
- ideologies of gender and age as variables in political, moral, religious and social change;
- educational strategies as training for specific social competences;
- social and existential security.

The journal publishes original research articles, forum discussions, review articles and book reviews.

https://changing-sp.com/ojs/index.php/csp/index

Editor-in-Chief

| Elena A. Stepanova | Institute for Philosophy and Law, Ural Branch |
|--------------------|---|
| | of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Russia |

International Co-Editor

| Ivan Strenski | University of California, Riverside (UCR), USA |
|---------------|--|
|---------------|--|

Editorial Board

| Andrey S. Menshikov | Ural Federal University, Russia – Deputy Editor | |
|---------------------|---|--|
| Olga A. lakimova | Ural Federal University, Russia – Executive Editor | |
| Alexey N. Borbunov | Ural Federal University, Russia – Sub-Editor/Wo Editor | |
| Natalia G. Popova | Institute for Philosophy and Law, Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Russia – Assistant Editor | |

Editorial Council

Eva Boštjančič Radu Burlacu Riccardo Campa Juan Diez Nicolas Marharyta Fabrykant Martin van Gelderen John Horton Annika Hvithamar Ronald Inglehart Fayruza S. Ismagilova Tim Jensen Maxim B. Khomyakov **Gregory Simons** Nikolay G. Skvortsov Kristina Stöckl Abdulkader Tayob Katya Tolstava Elena G. Trubina Peter Wagner

University of Ljubljana, Slovenia Université Pierre Mendès, France Jagiellonian University, Poland Complutense University of Madrid, Spain Belarusian State University, Belarus University of Göttingen, Germany Keele University, UK University of Copenhagen, Denmark University of Michigan, USA Ural Federal University, Russia University of Southern Denmark, DK Higher School of Economics, Russia Uppsala University, Sweden St. Petersburg State University, Russia University of Innsbruck, Austria University of Cape Town, South Africa Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, Netherlands Ural Federal University, Russia University of Barcelona, Spain

https://changing-sp.com/ojs/index.php/csp/about/editorialTeam



CONTENTS

Editorial

| Editor's Note | |
|--------------------|-----|
| Elena A. Stepanova | 133 |

Articles

| A Graveyard as a Home to Ghosts or a Subject of Scholarly Research? The Czech National Cemetery at Vyšehrad |
|---|
| Tomáš Bubík |
| "Messianicity Without Messianism": On the Place of Religion in the Philosophy of Jacques Derrida |
| Roman Soloviy |
| The Uzbek National Tradition in the Pedagogical Practices of Adult Educators |
| Fayruza S. Ismagilova, Aleksey V. Maltsev, Erkinbai N. Sattarov 172 |
| Factors Influencing Nurses' Decision to Join a Professional Association in Russia |
| Natalia A. Akimova, Elena N. Medvedeva |
| |

Review of International Research on Ethical and Psychological Barriers to Reproductive Donation



Opening the Debate

| The Crisis of Humanism and Emerging | | |
|--|----|--|
| Post-Anthropocentric Epoch: A Personalistic View | | |
| Dmitriy A. Davydov | 20 | |

Book Review

| Germaine R. Halegoua (2019). The Digital City: Media and the Social Production of Place. New York: New York University Press | |
|--|-----|
| Elena G. Trubina | 248 |
| Ethical Code | 252 |
| Instruction for Authors | |

Changing Societies & Personalities, 2020 Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 133–135 http://dx.doi.org/10.15826/csp.2020.4.2.093



EDITORIAL

Editor's Note

The current issue of *Changing Societies & Personalities* aims to investigate value transformations in various spheres of social life, such as the image of religion in the memorial places and its impact on national identity; the concept of time maintaining full openness to the future and remembering the past, as well as messianism in the works of prominent contemporary French philosophers; the balance between openness to global influences and national identity in education; the role of professional organizations in civil society; and review of the research on ethical and psychological reasons in reproductive donation.

Tomáš Bubík in his article A Graveyard as a Home to Ghosts or a Subject of Scholarly Research? The Czech National Cemetery at Vyšehrad questions the generally accepted claim that the contemporary Czech society is one of the least religious nations in Europe and stresses the importance of focusing not so much on general claims but rather on specific segments of culture intertwining religious and non-religious elements. Bubík's research is focused on the Vyšehrad cemetery in Prague as a vivid example of close links between the religious and the secular. He shares the assumption about a close relationship between personal religiosity and its funerary expression, being convinced that the study of Vyšehrad gravestones in a historical perspective can contribute to elucidating the transformations concerning the attitude of Czech society towards life and death, the country and its religion. Bubík observes the history of the Vyšehrad national cemetery and its contribution to the formation of national identity in the light of the traditional "mortuary ideology" widespread in the country, concluding that "religion is an important element of the grave architecture of the national cemetery from its founding up until the present, despite the fact that it does not clearly predominate at present".

In the article "Messianicity Without Messianism": On the Place of Religion in the Philosophy of Jacques Derrida, Roman Soloviy explores the interpretation of messianicity by the prominent French philosopher Jacques Derrida in the light of ideas expressed by key Jewish thinkers of the beginning of the 20th century. Soloviy stresses that Derrida turned to the analysis of religious issues at different stages of his intellectual career, thus calling into question the traditional view on Derrida's deconstruction as generally being not favourable to religion. At the

Received 25 June 2020 Published online 9 July 2020 same time, Soloviy proves that Derrida's understanding of religion goes far beyond the terms of traditional denominational beliefs and practices. In addition, Derrida denies the traditional concept of time as a sequence of modalized presents: that is why, Soloviy believes, "the future cannot be regarded as a projected continuation of the present. It is not a descriptive empirical future, but a messianic eschatological future, an expectation of the arrival of an unpredictable other, in which our 'come' is turned to the point that we cannot determine, predict, or calculate in advance who or what is coming". Derrida's messianisity, concludes Soloviy, remains fully secular and separate from any particular socio-cultural context.

Fairuza S. Ismagilova, Aleksey V. Maltsev and Erkinbai N. Sattarov in their article The Uzbek National Tradition in the Pedagogical Practices of Adult Education search "for the right balance between openness to global influences, on the one hand, and the desire to preserve the country's national identity, on the other", namely, the centuries-old cultural and historical traditions of Uzbek people in the sphere of professional education. Following the results of a focus group analysis, the authors formulated four research hypotheses concerning teaching strategies and methods in the Uzbek education system: (1) Professors tend to choose interactive methods by following one of the four strategies in relation to the national context and national identity; (2) Experts will consider such methods as buddying, discussion, role-playing and metaphorical role-play as having limited applicability in the Uzbek national context; (3) Experts will consider the methods of case study, in-basket technique and shadowing as holding more potential for training the civil service talent pool in Uzbekistan; (4) Experts will consider mentoring, coaching and workshops as the most effective teaching methods. In the conclusion, the authors present the results of the conducted empirical study, which are partly confirmed and partly refuted.

Identification of the main objective and subjective reasons that determine nurses' membership/non-membership in professional associations is the focus of Natalia A. Akimova and Elena N. Medvedeva article *Factors Influencing Nurses' Decision to Join a Professional Association in Russia*. Following a comprehensive literature review, the authors analyse the role of nurse professional organizations as an important element of civil society, describe their history and present status in various countries, including Russia. The authors' intention is to address the existing research gap in studying professional nurse associations in Russia. In-depth interviews with nurses from different Russian regions were conducted to clarify their motivation for membership/non-membership; nurses' awareness of the activities of medical associations; the role of professional associations in nurses' daily practices, etc. The authors conclude that "factors contributing to the popularity of professional nurse associations can be quite diverse: starting from formal obligations... and ending with personal interest and commitment to the organization's goals and mission".

Elvira E. Symaniuk, Irina G. Polyakova and Elena V. Kvashnina present the article *Review of International Research on Ethical and Psychological Barriers to Reproductive Donation,* which covers most recent studies on reproductive donation written in English. The analysis includes about 70 publications devoted to the ethical and psychological motivation of donors to participate in reproductive donation. The

authors believe that the review can be beneficial for professional Artificial Reproductive Technologies (ART) organizations, "in particular those engaged in recruitment of new donors. The results of this review are meant to provide useful information for medical and legal professionals as well as policy makers on reproductive health". The conclusion is drawn that reproductive donation is underpinned by a variety of motivations and faces multiple obstacles; therefore, research into psychological and ethical aspects of reproductive donation should be continued.

The section OPENING THE DEBATE introduces Dmitriy A. Davydov's article The Crisis of Humanism and Emerging Post-Anthropocentric Epoch: A Personalistic View. In a quite provocative way, the author poses the problem of "increasing unpredictability" [...] and "danger of manmade interventions in human nature", stressing the importance of approaching reality through a personalistic path. The latter is considered to be not a specific philosophical school, but rather "an attitude, a way of thinking that can be present in certain people, regardless of whether they consider themselves to be personalist philosophers or not". Davydov analyses the concept of "humanism" in the modern socio-cultural context: he insists that the "humanistic civilization" has entered its "sunset period" and sets up a variety of arguments to prove this assumption. He believes that humanism as a historical phenomenon of European culture experiences a deep crisis, which "provides the impulse towards mechanisms of technological changes in the biological nature of individuals". Turning to the prospects of changing human nature by technologies, Davydov warns about their possible dangers, namely, the "destruction of the universal human 'lifeworld'". In particular, Davydov's article may be seen as the invitation to discuss perspectives of transhumanism and its impact over human body and mind.

In the BOOK REVIEW section, one can find Elena Trubina's review of Germaine R. Halegoua (2019), *The Digital City: Media and the Social Production of Place* (New-York University Press). Trubina stresses that the focus of the book is "first, how citizens daily engage in the digital placemaking practices; second, the diversity of ways in which various populations employ navigation technologies and media platforms".

Discussions around the topics raised in the present issue will be continued in the subsequent issues of our journal. In planning to introduce new interesting themes, we welcome suggestions from our readers and prospective authors for thematic issues, debate sections or book reviews.

For more information, please visit our Journal's website: https://changing-sp.com/

Elena A. Stepanova Editor-in-Chief Institute of Philosophy and Law, Ural Branch of the RAS, Yekaterinburg, Russia



ARTICLE

A Graveyard as a Home to Ghosts or a Subject of Scholarly Research? The Czech National Cemetery at Vyšehrad

Tomáš Bubík

Palacký University Olomouc, Czech Republic

ABSTRACT

Confirmed by a variety of sociological research, modern Czech society is considered deeply secular, non-believing, rejecting religious institutions and traditional forms of religion. This paper focuses on a field study of religiosity, namely on funeral artifacts in Vyšehrad, the Czech national cemetery in Prague, the Czech Republic's capital. Based on the findings of ethnographer Wilbur Zelinsky, the paper assumes that gravestones in particular record very private, innermost feelings, messages, tidings, and personal values, which can provide us with important knowledge about (especially) the bereaved persons' attitudes to human ultimate things including religious issues in the moments of a great loss of a loved one, i.e. in the situation of so-called existential crisis. The aim of the paper is to answer two key questions: firstly, how religion (or non-belief) is presented in the Czech national cemetery and secondly, to what degree is the gravestones' character influenced by significant historical events of modern Czech history. In other words, how much the image of religion in this nationally important cemetery corresponds with the degree of religiosity researched by standard sociological means.

KEYWORDS

funerary religiosity, national cemetery, Czechness, national identity, Vyšehrad, non-religion

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This article has been published as part of the research project "Freethought, Atheism and Secularization in Central and Eastern European Countries in the 20th and 21st Centuries"; supported by Czech Science Foundation (GACR), grant no. 18-11345S.

Introduction

A secular and unbelieving character, latent anticlericalism, apathy and indifference concerning religious questions and even atheism are all positions, which have been linked in recent decades with the Czech Republic as well as with Estonia within the framework of European society (Bubík, Remmel, & Václavík, 2020). Contemporary research confirms that religion is not an important theme for Czech society and is much less visible in public life than is the case, for example, in the neighbouring countries like Poland, Slovakia and Hungary (Máté-Tóth, 2019), that is in countries with a similar historical and cultural experience. There is nevertheless a need to distinguish within the positions of the Czech population between the relationship to religion and personal faith, religiosity. In this context we define religion in Durkheim's sense as unified system of beliefs and practices uniting believers into one community (Durkheim, 1912/2003, p. 65), whereas religiosity is a personal expression of faith that is not necessarily tied with it.

A number of specialized studies dealing with the decline in the importance of religion in Czech society are usually based on sociological studies, and they reveal much of importance (Hamplová, 2013; Horák, 2015; Lužný, 1999; Nešpor, 2010; Václavík, 2009). This is first and foremost a significant decline in trust in religious institutions, rejecting traditional faith, loss of religious identity, as well as civic awareness of the importance of protecting one's own privacy, in particular, when it comes to questions which are viewed as personal including the relationship to religion. It is nevertheless specifically this fact, the possibility of not answering questions about religious perception (for example, when carrying out a census), which significantly limits sociological inquiry (Fialová & Nešpor, 2018, p. 210; Havlíček, 2019). Although it has been clearly demonstrated that the number of people identifying with traditional religious perception has markedly decreased in the Czech Republic in recent decades, this does not necessarily mean that the number of non-believers or even atheists is growing. Whatever the case, the set of so-called "religiously unaffiliated" significantly complicates a scientific view of the actual level of secularization of Czech society. Specifically, these circumstances can markedly relativize the specialized and lay claims that contemporary Czechs rank among the least religious nations at present.

This study attempts to take another approach. It is based on the conviction that science needs to focus attention primarily on research into so-called small and narrowly focused issues. Contemporary society is extremely different in terms of ideology and values, and social science continues to succumb to the temptation to produce extremely general claims, for example, in connection with the character and level of religiosity or secularity. The author of this study is therefore putting forward the markedly more modest aim, this being to contribute to the study of one of the most important segments of material culture, these being cemeteries as locations with a cultural memory. This study specifically focuses on the Vyšehrad cemetery in Prague, which is specific in that it has been viewed as the Czech national cemetery from as far back as the nineteenth century (Gade, 2015).

This study is influenced by an emphasis on "a grounded theoretical and inductive approach to religion in locality" propagated by the Religious Studies scholar Kim Knott, according to whom the religious and non-religious are situated in the structure of the seeming secular world together. These do not therefore consist of two spheres of reality, which are distinctly separate, but which actually interlink with one another. The author of this study does not therefore share the traditional concept of "the holy and the profane" as ambivalent realities, but is of the opinion that specifically public space, in our case the cemetery, appropriately manifest these two categories.

The role of the body is also essential in the framework of the study of religiosity in public space, which in our case will consist of a body (bodies), which is dehumanized. The method of placement of the body into a space actually constructs social reality, thereby giving (the body) a truly specific symbolism (Knott, 2005), which can play an important role, for example, in the framework of religious, cultural, historical or political narrative, which they can even mutually link. The body and space will be therefore key components of this study, by means of which we can try to explain not only the processual changes in relationship to death among the Czech intelligentsia, but also their relationship to religion.

The Study of Funerary Religiosity

Research into cemetery artefacts of the Vyšehrad cemetery follows one essential aim, thus being a contribution to understanding so-called "funerary religiosity" (Zelinsky, 2007, p. 453), as we are of the opinion that this type of religiosity is not only neglected, but is also an important component of the study of religiosity as such.

Although the fact that exploring something such as "funerary religiosity" can sound somewhat strange, it is important to emphasize that this primarily concerns the religiosity of the bereaved, which is manifested first and foremost in the formation of the gravestones of the close deceased and in adaptations to grave sites. The ethnographer Wilbur Zelinsky, for example, is convinced that gravestones in particular are artefacts expressing extremely internal feelings, messages and a mission, personal values and that "the testimony of cemeteries is some kind of final letter to the world" (Zelinsky, 2007, pp. 446-447). Laura Suchan is also of the opinion that "gravestones are more than just memorials to the deceased" (Suchan, 2008, p. 41). It is important in her view to view gravestones and cemeteries differently than merely from the perspective of genealogy. This consists, that is, of a form of expression, which is able to provide insight into the social history of the given society and thus "convey messages about religion" (Suchan, 2008, pp. 41–43, 45). In other words, research into cemeteries can provide us with important knowledge about local history, period literature, architecture, art and about religion (Mitoraj, 2001, pp. 82-87), or generally said about "mortuary ideology" and its conditioning to religious, social, historical, cultural and economic factors (Gorman & DiBlasi, 1981, p. 79).

While the work up until now focused on research into graveyards has been focused on the denominational affiliation of the deceased, the localization of graveyard motifs in various geographical areas, the diversity of iconography, the change in gravestone motifs, etc., specifically Zelinsky's research is unique in that it is focused on research into funerary religiosity in connection with the study of the level of secularization. This is based on the fact that the bereaved confronted with the reality of death and mortality, along with the name, date of birth and date of death freely place on gravestones symbols and inscriptions, which correspond with their personal values and convictions. This therefore consists of an extremely sensible form of religiosity, which needs to receive deserved attention even in religious research (Zelinsky, 2007, p. 453), and this specifically because it does not have always to correspond with a publicly declared religiosity, can be coordinated or supplemented.

Zelinsky's working hypothesis is the assumption, which I also support in this study, that there is a close relationship between "deep down personal religiosity and its funerary expression" (Zelinsky, 2007, p. 457). In other words, a person who experiences his faith personally, also expresses it in this manner. The submitted study therefore attempts to make use of this theoretical assumption¹. One of its main goals is to therefore capture the changes in the attitudes of the Czech intelligentsia to religion in time, along with the onset, character and changes to secular thinking.

The research was focused on one concrete cemetery, which is unique in the Czech environment. Vyšehrad or also the Slavín cemetery at the church (basilica from the year 2003) of St. Peter and St. Paul in Vyšehrad in Prague, the capital of the Czech Republic, is a locale where a number of renowned Czech personages are buried, including their families. Originally, however, only Catholic Christians were buried in this cemetery, and its western part serves as a burial ground for higher ecclesiastical dignitaries, priests, clergymen and nuns.

The reasons behind the selection of this cemetery were several. The first of them is the fact that this cemetery in particular is the modern Czech burying ground for a range of personages who contributed significantly to the building of Czech national consciousness and the development of Czech society. Secondly, these people are perceived historically as models and examples of modern Czechness. Thirdly, there is the assumption that specifically the gravestones of these personages can help us understand the transformations on the relationship of Czech society to religion.

It is also assumed that the graveyard space, in the same manner as "funerary religiosity" in Bohemia, underwent changes as of the nineteenth century which are linked with important ideological and also political milestones of Czech history, that is:

- 1) the period after the year 1848 when transformations to the absolutist system of the Austrian Empire came about, which the Czech Lands were part of;
- developments after the year 1918, which are linked with the emergence of an independent Czechoslovakia and the democratization of society;
- the events after the year 1945, when World War II came to an end and essential changes in the national composition occurred (the expulsion of one third of the population) in post-war Czechoslovakia;

¹ Zelinsky compares a large amount of data obtained from gravestones in the United States, Canada and Great Britain. The greatest surprise of this research is the fact that the level of British and Canadian religiosity recorded on gravestones is permanent and far greater than the American value, even though the United States is generally viewed as an extremely religious society.

- the events after the year 1948, when the Communist regime came to power and the national establishment of atheism;
- 5) changes after the year 1989, which are linked with the fall of Communism, the gradual renewal of democratic society, its differentiation, pluralization, and also marked by great consumerism.

In other words, this paper presents the research into "the temporal patterning" (Gorman & DiBlasi, 1981, p. 81) of the content of the gravestones of Vyšehrad cemetery and what these gravestones can tell us in a time perspective about attitudes to death, to the nation, to the country and to religion, that is how so-called "mortuary ideology" changed over time, in the key historical stages, which Czech society went through in the modern age.

In light of the above-mentioned, there will be an attempt to answer two key questions:

- how and to what extent religion is represented at the Czech national cemetery with the assumption that if this cemetery is a national symbol characterizing modern Czechness, then this cultural icon should correspond roughly to the attitudes of Czech society to religion in the modern age;
- 2) whether and to what extent the so-called final letters to the world of this cemetery are influenced by the significant historical events, which Czech society underwent in its modern history.

In contrast to Zelinsky, I am of the opinion that gravestone messages, despite being direct and often of an internal character, are therefore conditioned by an ideological fixation, that is the spirit of the time and key historical events.

The Idea of the National Cemetery in Prague

The history of Europe as well as of the Czech Lands relate of several key characteristics, which local cemeteries are marked by. So-called "mortuary ideology", corresponding to established Christian tradition and its traditions concerning the character of burial and treatment of remains (of the body) of the deceased, has penetrated deep into social awareness and the legal principles of the particular European countries in existence at present.

The traditional character of this "ideology" is based on biblical teachings about the body and physicality, the main idea of which is that the body was created by God and will one-day rise from the dead. The Christian concept views death as a transition, which corresponds to the traditional emphasis on a respectable treatment of the body, including the placement of the remains in a chosen piety locale, this being a graveyard. Over the course of centuries, a truly thorough manual of burial rituals came about, a prayer practice for the deceased, including so-called commemorative day for the deceased entitled "All Souls' Day". Visiting a cemetery, at least on the day of the anniversary of a birth or death of a deceased person, belongs to the unwritten rules, a publicly respected form of piety. Emotional respect for a close deceased person is thus a truly natural form of behaviour.

With transformations in the area of religious faith in Europe, which arise primarily in the Reformation, changes also come about in the understanding of mortuary ideology, the relationship to the body including attitudes toward death², which culminates in the modern era in a requirement for a secular burial and with the right to engage with one's own body (for example, in the form of the so-called cremation movement). According to Olga Nešporová, "the perception changed as to what behaviour is considered pious (in burial practice), and this in the sense of much greater tolerance for various kinds of treatment" in recent decades (Nešporová, 2013, p. 234). It has also become apparent that Christian symbolism is retreating to the background and that new parts of cemeteries in the Czech Republic not only do not make use of Christian symbolism, but do not use anything else instead (Nešporová, 2013, pp. 237–238). It is therefore clear that a marked change in traditional funeral practice, the customs connected with it, in particular those which are based on Christian attitudes to death, is coming about in contemporary Czech society.

5522 cemeteries and 266 private graveyards were listed in the Czech Republic in the year 2006 (Eliáš & Kotrlý, 2006). Vyšehrad cemetery in Prague, which is the central locality for the present research, is a piety location, where burials took place, according to archaeological findings from as far back as the eleventh and twelfth centuries (Nechvátal, 1991, p. 5). A small graveyard emerged here over the course of time, where burials only took place occasionally (Bedrníček, 2008, p. 4). The idea of building a national cemetery specifically at this spot emerged in the 1860s as part of the newly established association of Czech writers under the name *Svatobor*, the members of which were renowned personages from the ranks of Czech cultural and business life, with the extremely renowned historian František Palacký at the forefront (Potoček, 2005, p. 16). A number of nationalist focused Catholic priests and later even Tomáš G. Masaryk, the first President of democratic Czechoslovakia from the years 1918 up to 1935 and also his successor in the presidential office Edvard Beneš, were involved in it.

The motto of the association was: *Pomáhej! Osvěcuj! Pamatuj! (Help! Enlighten! Remember!)*. The aim was to support financially Czech writing³, in particular impoverished writers, their families and the bereaved as a central element of the national revival and also, which is significant for our purposes, "the celebration of their memory" (Liška, 2006, p. 11). Help was provided also by means of prizes, scholarships or rewards, which was supposed to develop their further creative work, although this did not consist of only support for literary works, but also scientific work or historical (Potoček, 2005, pp. 342–344). There was also a focus on publishing important works written in Czech, the building of monuments, gravestones and memorial plaques at places of reverence, which contributed in a significant manner to the development

² Philipe Ariés (1977, 1983) distinguishes between the old and the modern approach to death, which are perceived as clearly contradictory. The modern period and man, in contrast to the so-called old approach, do not in his view know how to deal with death and attempts to eliminate it from life. He distinguishes in this sense between the "sauvage' and "domestiquée" approach to death.

³ Literature was viewed as the most important source for national life and the national language, even being viewed as "a holy thing", as mentioned in *Ohlášení (Announcement)* by Svatobor, which was printed in *Národní listy* ("The National Newspaper") (1862, no. 89). The authors of this text included František Palacký and Jan E. Purkyně.

of national writing and culture, and this not only in the Czech Lands, but also abroad (Potoček, 2005, p. 342).

The actual association Svatobor came about in the year 1862, this being a time when the Czech Lands were still a part of the Hapsburg monarchy (from the years 1526 to 1918). The political situation in the monarchy, after the revolutionary year of 1848⁴, was liberalized somewhat, leading to more open propagation of national consciousness and patriotism. This led to the idea of founding the national cemetery in an appropriate locality. After a certain period of weighing various possibilities, the choice was made for a locale, which had been the seat of Czech political power in the past; it was also the burial site of the first Czech King Vratislaus I (888-921), from the Czech royal Přemyslid dynasty, which ruled the Přemyslid state from this locale (Nechvátal, 1991, p. 7). Vyšehrad was an ancient Slavic fortress "linked with mythical legends from the oldest national past". It was viewed in the modern age as "the historical picture of Czech life" (Balák, 1946, p. 8). A number of renowned personages had been buried here from the time of the establishment of the national cemetery, including the poet Karel Hynek Mácha (1810-1836), the writer Božena Němcová (1820–1862), the composers Bedřich Smetana (1824–1884) and Antonín Dvořák (1841–1904), the painter Mikoláš Aleš (1852–1913), the writer Karel Čapek (1890-1938) and a range of others.

According to the founders of the association, the true greatness of the nation was to be embodied not only in care for its own history and language, but also in care for "the sons of the nation", and this not during their lives, but also after their deaths. The national cemetery is therefore a graveyard where Czechs are buried not in accordance with their religious allegiance or piety, but in accordance with their loyalty to the language and to the nation. In relation to the study of mortuary ideology, this cemetery is therefore a truly suitable locality. It helped to create the story of Czechness, which contributed to the formation of national identity, and also reflects the Czech national character.

Slavín Tomb as a Czech Pantheon

The memory of a nation is undoubtedly conditioned by the level of education, the character of the political system, technological development or the ruling ideology. The life stories of renowned persons therefore only have a time-limited length in the framework of the national memory. Some of them can even be completely intentionally forgotten, and others, in contrast, recalled. Awareness of the societal-wide importance of particular people is not only a generational, but a personal (for example, an intellectual) issue, and this is also the case with the individuals buried at the Vyšehrad cemetery, where among the more than 600 buried only a few are still part of current-day general awareness (a number of the buried are, however, their relations).

The idea of transforming Vyšehrad cemetery into a national graveyard came about, however, gradually (Nechvátal, 1991, pp. 8–11). The first separate, so-called national

⁴ The year 1848 is primarily linked in the Hapsburg Monarchy with the struggle of Hungarians for freedom and independence, which helped other nations or ethnic groups in the monarchy with their efforts.

graves were established with the aim of burying Czech writers. We therefore read of one of the newly built graves: "Nations cannot disappear if their language is alive"⁵. The maturity of a nation was supposed to consist of the maturity of the language and its writing. Apart from language, there was also an emphasis on, for example, the idea of the country or nation, but language was viewed as the main element for forming continuity of national awareness, national identity and national distinctiveness. It is not therefore the territory, bloodline or religion, but the language allegiance, which is of the greatest importance for self-definition in the modern concept of Czechness; it was defined in the nineteenth century in confrontation with Germanness and the German language as well as in relation to Austrian absolutism and the Austrian form of Catholicism or Austro-Catholicism.

Another idea emerged in the 1880s in connection with discussion about the character of a cemetery, thus being the establishment of a shared honorary tomb. This was not, however, accepted unanimously, with resistance even among the Czech intelligentsia (Nekula, 2017, pp. 389–390). This was supposed to consist of a so-called Czech "Pantheon", a kind of "temple of humanity", as is written on its epitaph. The tomb was finally built and named Slavín (Figure 1). It has been situated in the eastern part of Vyšehrad cemetery from the year 1893⁶. The first to be buried there was the renowned poet Julius Zever in the year 1901, this being eight years



Figure 1. Slavín tomb

after the completion of the tomb. The last to be buried there was the conductor Rafael Kubelík in the year 1996. The personage of the poet Zeyer, as the first to be buried, was supposed to imply "the Christological and national narrative", and specifically his burial at Vyšehrad cemetery became "a visible symbol of Czechness" not only for Czechs, but also for Prague Germans, as it became a symbol of the nationally divided Prague (Nekula, 2017, p. 389), in the same fashion as in the Czech Lands.

The tomb was built at the end of the nineteenth century, still during the period of Austria-Hungary. The Habsburgs, over the period of the three-hundred-year empire, was responsible in particular for the forced recatholization of the inhabitants of the Czech Lands, this involving the eradication of Protestantism and also supporting the privileged position of German and German speakers and the confession of the Catholic population. From the time of the Imperial Patent of Toleration from the year 1781, the constitution guaranteed complete freedom of confession for

⁵ This was a motto by the Czech writer, national patriot and Slavist Václav Hanka (1791–1861).

⁶ Slavín tomb was built in the year 1893. The first to be buried there was the poet Julius Zeyer.

even non-Catholics; however, within the Protestant confession only Lutherans and Helvetian Calvinists were allowed, these being non-Czech denominations. Czech and Brethren confessions were not allowed. Modern Protestantism finally built upon these concepts, but only after the year 1918. These two Protestant confessions, the Helvetian and the Lutheran, were extremely small in terms of numbers in the Czech Lands, thus being a result of the forced recatholization. Protestants thus became a minority confession in the Czech Lands, which currently consists of half of a percent of the population. Religious identity of the nineteenth century that is at the time of building national identity was primarily Catholic. It is therefore not surprising that specifically church Catholic symbolism played an important role in the symbolic and aesthetic creation of the national Slavín tomb.

55 people were buried in this tomb over the course of more than one hundred years. The greatest number consisted of poets and writers (12), followed by actors (7), opera singers (6), painters (5), sculptors (5), architects (4), violinists (3), pianists (2), conductors and composers (2), directors (2), philologists (2), historians (2), archaeologists (1), literary historians (1), theatre critics (1), inventors (1) and economists (1).

The tomb consists of a crypt, a catafalgue with a cross and a monument with a sarcophagus, which are linked by a balustrade stairway. The tomb is covered by the gravestones of the persons buried there. They are simple and list, with one exception, only the birth-date and date of death. The cross as a traditional cultural burial symbol depicts the crucified Christ, with a stone table underneath upon which the remains of the deceased are placed during funerals before being placed into the tomb (Liška, 2006, p. 21). An inscription is on the table in the form of a verse from the New Testament from the Gospel of John 11:25: "Whoever believes in me, though he die, yet shall he live". A monument rises behind the cross in the form of a stylobate, upon the top of which is an allegorical figure of so-called the Genius of the Nation with wings seated on the sarcophagus. An inscription is placed under the sarcophagus, which is also the motto of Slavín: "Although having died, they still speak". Another two sculptures representing the nation are situated in the lower part of the sarcophagus. The first of them depicts "The mourning nation" with the inscription "His great sons now dust - the nation mourns, returning to earth", the second "The nation rejoices" with the inscription "Their deeds, rejoicing, celebrate for humanity for ages" (Liška, 2006, 21).

The tomb is dominated by four figures, with two of them being most prominent – the person of the crucified Christ and the figure of the Genius of the Nation, which is reminiscent of an angel because of its wings. The symbol of the cross of Christ is understood in Christian culture as a symbol of suffering, death and crucifixion and victory over death in the form of resurrection. Christian culture does not view suffering as an end in itself, but attributes it with a deep meaning; just as death does not represent a definitive end, but a transition, a hope for a new eternal life. The excerpt from the Gospel of John thus makes reference to the importance of faith as a condition for future life, which expires without faith, in the same manner as a nation without a language.

The character of a national tomb links the Christian symbolism of a cross with the symbolism of the nation as a place for a life which is ours, which we own and from which we arose. The nation is a place where a person is born and dies; it takes care of life and death, which is shared with others; it is both the birthplace of ordinary people as well as remarkable ones, geniuses. The central figure of the Genius of the Nation, as well as the words placed on the inscriptions located on the monument, such as "genius", "nation" or "land" are linked into one whole thanks to the arrangement of the space of the monument; but one cannot not notice that the symbolism of the Christian cross is only a kind of transition or transitional level to something else, something higher, which can also be symbolized by the stairs of the balustrade, which lead from the cross to the actual monument. From the spatial perspective, the Christian cross in Slavín does not stand out, but in comparison with the character of the monument of the nation finds itself in its shadow. The memorial with the cross is significantly smaller than the monument with the sculpture of the Genius of the Nation placed on the top. The proportionality of both sculptures is thus diametrically different. The expression of the tortured Christ also comes across as passive and, in this respect, both monuments are contrasting in expression. The majesty of the Genius of the Nation has wings, which manifest freedom, power and strength and which are as if in contradiction with the helpless position of Jesus on the cross. The sculpture of Genius also evokes the expression of a caring being, bending down over the coffin of the deceased son of the nation, and seeming to be preparing to breathe new life into him, while in contrast the sculpture of Christ seems to loom in isolation in the space.

The Slavín tomb thus makes the strong impression that traditional religious identity and Christ as a model followed (still ongoing) in the Christian type of society are only a symbolic expression of a transition to a new, earthly and humanly focused ideal. At the same time, the process of social and cultural development begins to be understood in an environment of nationalists and intellectuals as a path to Humanism, which leads from religion to a nation, from the Church to a country, from the following of Christ to the following of great personages of a nation, their great ideals.

The philosopher Ladislav Kunte (1874–1945) truly distinctly captured the spirit of the day, which corresponds with our theme, when he wrote in the 1920s that modern man is not only losing faith in life after death, but that "life and the world as it is today has become the starting point and goal of the new faith" (Kunte, 1920, p. 27). He at the same time realises that the nation for the Czech patriot is "a being of its kind, which through something great, living, demanding respect, honour, devotion, sacrifice – a deity of its own kind, and everything which links one to a nation evokes mystical respect: the language of a nation, its history, a historical locale, historical personages, days" (Kunte, 1920, pp. 94–95). Even the patriotic phraseology has, in his view, a religious character, when he speaks of the responsibility to love the nation and the country, about sacrifices for the nation, about the altar of the nation and so on (lbid.). It is therefore apparent that the national tomb reveals that the importance of Christianity was receding among the Czech intelligentsia in the nineteenth century in favour of period nationalism and preparing a new path, an earthly one and most importantly one focused on human ideals.

The Gravestone Symbolism of the Vyšehrad Cemetery

Several important facts need to be kept in mind when studying national symbolism. First of all, the erection of the gravestones usually did not correspond in terms of time with the date of the death of the personages. In addition, various changes involving repairs, adaptations, overall reconstruction or even the selling of a grave spot could come about over the course of time. When studying this issue, we also became aware of the fact that a certain level of symbolic, aesthetic and cultural conservatism exists in the question of the character of the gravestones. Their selection was thus influenced not only by the personal taste of the bereaved, but also by period fashion and local customs.

The Christian cross ranks among the most traditional symbols to be placed on the graves of the deceased in Western culture generally, along with in the Czech Lands. This is also the case at the Vyšehrad cemetery, where the symbol of the cross (Figure 2) is not only part of the Slavín tomb, but also predominates as a symbol in the architecture of the entire cemetery. If one were to briefly contemplate the meaning of a traditional symbol like the cross, one should emphasize that it consists of a symbol of a geometric shape, which consists of two pieces overlaying each other at a right angle. The actual word ("cross": from the Latin "crux") originally meant an instrument of torture, used by a range of ancient nations for executing criminals. Jesus of Nazareth was also killed on a cross, as a result of which the cross became the main symbol of this religion and consequently even Christian graves.



Figure 2. Symbol of a cross

Apart from Christian crosses, there are also various depictions of the face of Jesus on the gravestones in the cemetery, usually with an anguished expression, with the crown of thorns which was supposedly placed on the head of Jesus during the crucifixion. The motif of the lamb of God as a sacrificial animal also appears in one case on a gravestone, this being a symbolic depiction of the sacrificed Jesus. A christogram was also used on several gravestones, with this ranking among the oldest Christian symbols, even being used on the gravestones of Christians back in Classical times. This consists of the first two letters referring to the name of Jesus in Greek, that is the Greek letters "X" and "P" (read together as Chi-Rho), when the letters are written after each other. Apart from these Greek letters from the alphabet, there are also its first and last letter, that is "A" and " Ω ", which indicate the beginning and the end, birth and death, which refer in Christian theology to the fact that God is the origin of everything and where everything returns, that is even the bodies of the deceased.

The mother of Jesus, Mary, who is viewed as the mother of the Catholic Church, is also depicted on several gravestones. The Catholic Church is comprehended as the Madonna protector, who cares for the souls of the deceased in a special manner and intercedes for their salvation. She is sometimes even portrayed with the infant Jesus or also with the crucified Christ in the form of piety (Figure 3). Finally, there are figures of angels, spiritual beings in human form with wings. The Bible perceives them as messengers of God, who link the eternal world with the earthly one and who are also viewed as protectors of the bodies, whose souls have departed.



Figure 3. Gravestone in the form of piety

All of these presented symbols are traditional signs of Christian identity and its mortuary ideology, and do not differ from established views as to what a usual Christian tomb should look like. They consist of symbols, which are personal and which can be viewed as a so-called final letter to the world, but also as a letter fully corresponding with the cultural dominance of the Catholic church in society. Life in this cemetery over the last 150 years is therefore evidence of the fact that Christian discourse and its mortuary ideology is still deeply rooted in Czech society.

When we speak of the Vyšehrad cemetery as a national graveyard, we have to keep in mind that this consists of a cemetery, which was originally Catholic. This serves to explain why there are no gravestones with Protestant gravestone symbols in the national cemetery, such as the chalice or the Bible, despite the fact that Protestantism in the Czech Lands is among the most important religious traditions of a dynamic society from as far back as the high Middle Ages. The symbolic grave (a so-called cenotaph built in the year 2000) of Dr. Milada Horáková (she was a member of the Evangelical Church of Czech Brethren), who was a victim of a judicial murder at the time of the rise of the Communist regime and was publicly executed in 1950, is located at the cemetery, but the symbolism of the grave is political emphasizing the heroic position taken against the despotism of the Communist party.

Seemingly, for the same reason, due to this being originally a Catholic cemetery, the national cemetery is missing any Jewish grave symbols, such as blessing hands, a pot or the Star of David. A number of Jews identified historically with the German culture and language, but also with the Czech culture after the establishment of Czechoslovakia in the year 1918. These Czech Jews usually came from the circle of so-called assimilants, many of whom, however, were either murdered during World War Two or emigrated prior to the War. The renowned Prague Jews included, for example, Franz Kafka (1883–1924), who is buried in Prague, but not at Vyšehrad cemetery. The reason for this could also be the fact that he wrote in German.

When it comes to depictions of secular gravestones, the approaches are quite rich in variety and make up a significant part of this cemetery. A number of the graves in the Vyšehrad cemetery are of a secular character and do not have any religious symbolism. The most frequent depictions are busts of the deceased personages, sometimes of larger than life size. This type of gravestone is therefore linked to a concrete deceased person, who is artistically rendered, often without any other secular symbols, which would indicate the position of the deceased or his or her family to death or to religion. The personality of the deceased is emphasized, his or her human dimension and skills, thanks to which the person became known. Gravestones in the form of a bust were most frequently built during the period of the Communist regime. This emphasis on individuality and the importance of the personage did not, however, actually correspond with the collective concept of Communist society, which rejected

and openly criticized the cult of the personality as of the 1950s. These gravestones actually served to evoke this impression.

Additional secular expressions of interest include, first and foremost, engravings of the personal autographs of the deceased, these being artistically stylized figures, most frequently women, as well as various musical instruments (guitar, violin, harp) or other objects, which are connected with the deceased (hands, football, ball), with even symbols of the scouting movement in several cases. A number of gravestones have both religious and secular symbols at the same time.

One interesting discovery is that Christian motifs continued to be used for decorating gravestones during the forty-year period of the Communist regime. Also, of interest is that no gravestones have been preserved with typical Communist symbols such as the sickle, hammer or red star from the same period. There are none of them in the cemetery at this time. Even the gravestones of renowned figures of the Communist regime, such as the poet and writer Vítězslav Nezval (Figure 4) or the historian



Figure 4. Grave of the Communist poet Vítězslav Nezval

and celebrated Communist politician Zdeněk Nejedlý, do not contain any Communist symbolism, or any other. The question therefore arises as to why certain renowned Communists were buried specifically here in this cemetery, when the Communist regime advocated an international, that is a non-national, policy.

Epitaphs as Messages to the Future

It has already been mentioned that gravestones are understood here as bearers of reports, messages, which are designated, first and foremost, for future generations. They are expressions from the bereaved, usually related to the deceased person, but also expressing values, desires and convictions in order to communicate something completely personal. It is apparent that in existential situations, as in the case of the death of someone close, personal convictions appear more often and more open than is the case, with so-called ordinary life moments. I therefore attempt here to capture the content of this communication and place it into the period and cultural contexts.

A chronological perspective can be very helpful in order to understand the transformations of mortuary ideology. Gravestones and their inscriptions, if we were to arrange them from the oldest to the most current, can indicate transformations over time and their possible connection to the character of the day and our formulated key historical events.

To create a time axis, I chose as the criteria *the date of the death of the first person* listed on the gravestone, and this as the approximate period for the erection of the gravestone. I should emphasize that this only consists of "a framework chronology". I am aware, of course, of the fact that the time period of the erection of the gravestone often did not correspond with the year of the death of the personage and that gravestones were often built somewhat later. In addition, gravestones could be changed, altered or rebuilt completely new over time⁷. Despite the fact that the exact time of the final adaptation to the gravestone cannot be verified, I finally did not resign on this criteria, as I am of the opinion that thanks to this we can at least approximately determine the time of its creation. In light of this fact, I will only attribute a corresponding weight to the conclusions.

Christian symbolism, if we leave out at this time the Slavín tomb and the part of the cemetery where Catholic clergy are buried, is present in more than half of the overall number of 46 inscriptions. The most frequent themes are references to God, the Lord, Jesus Christ, the Virgin Mary, the idea of eternal truth, the theme of resurrection from the dead, the Final Judgement or the awareness that man comes from the dust of the earth. The following can be seen as an example of this theme: *"Beatified be the deceased who die with the Lord"* (year 1887), or the introductory words of the hymn Hail Mary in the Latin version: *"Ave Maria, gratia plena"* (year 1892), *"His soul lives with God"* (year 1940), *"Thy will be done"* (year 1949) or the New Testament verse

⁷ The administration of the Vyšehrad cemetery is not managed by any archive, which would contain information about the period of the building of the tombs or their consequent adaptations. There was not a requirement for the approval of the administration of the cemetery for building structures (repairs) of grave equipment at the cemetery in the nineteenth or even in the twentieth century, as is there is at present.

from the Gospel of John "Jesus said to her, I am the resurrection and the life; he who believes in me, though he die, yet shall he live" (year 1954). These therefore consisted of standard religious texts, which fully correspond with mortuary ideology and which are an expression of a personal, Church conceived piety. It is of interest that this traditional form did not even become significantly less frequent in the first decades after the Communist takeover (1948), which was accompanied by persecution of the Church and denigration of religious faith in society.

Epitaphs from the nineteenth and beginning of the twentieth century, in contrast, thematise the idea of the country and the nation, these themes having become extremely important and powerfully resonating within society. This is also attested to by particular examples: *"If and when God gives you life, be loyal to your nation and faithful to your friends"* (year 1869) or *"My nation is my motto"* (year 1888), *"If only the misfortune of my nation could join me in one grave"* (year 1890), *"I wish my nation from all my heart that it would never descend into small-mindedness or ascend into arrogance"* (year 1895) or *"He went out into the world to seek truth in his great longing, fighting for the rights of his nation, rest in the arms of eternal truth"* (year 1917). These inscriptions indicate, however, an already unclear link between the idea of the nation and religion. Additionally, it seems as if the theme of the nation is gradually dwindling, which could have been the result of the gaining of national independence in the year 1918, with the founding of Czechoslovakia.

Apart from Christian, patriotic and nationalist themes, there are a number of inscriptions on the gravestones also emphasizing the themes of futility, fate and the transience of human life (for example, "Where are those times, where is that time"; year 1962), the cycle of life ("The tree of knowledge is in sudden sorrow, what time has taken, it will also give"; year 2011), sorrow from the loss of a loved one, the importance of internal experience of reality, the seeking of truth within the human or in contrast the importance of seeking out oneself in nature ("We only find ourselves in nature"; year 1922). They further celebrate family, marital and filial love ("I love you to the skies, Mother"; year 2004), as well as promoting the importance of faith, loyalty, justice or a life lived in devotion to music and art. These consist therefore of expressions of internal human feelings and basic values, which are not conditioned by period mortuary ideology or by important historical events, which occurred in Czech society. They are expessions, which could be labelled as eidetic, as they express pure personal feelings which are a result of the loss of a loved one. These inscriptions in particular, as letters to the future generation, can be viewed as "secular humanist".

The Non-Religious Character of the Tombs

Gravestones and their symbolism are conditioned not only by the ideological beliefs of the deceased and their families, the traditional forms of their formation, the funeral mode, but also the economic possibilities of the bereaved. It is therefore assumed that the greater the originality of the gravestone, the larger the financial costs connected with its realization. In addition, these kinds of gravestones have a greater informative value than those which are simple and basic. Originality of gravestones, which we comprehend in the sense "of an unconventional design", is also more typical among the intelligentsia and the more prosperous layer of society, among artists, and also with those deceased whose gravestones were financed from public resources. In other words, a higher economic status on the part of the bereaved makes possible a more distinct, that is a more original expression, this being the bearer of a richer informative message.

While the gravestones situated on the national Slavín tomb (with the exception of the tomb itself) are simple and only have a basic message about the deceased, that is the date of birth and death, a number of additional gravestones in the Vyšehrad cemetery are extremely varied in terms of their content and execution, often truly atypical and interesting artistically. The gravestones of actors, artists and athletes rank among the most original. I have chosen as examples the gravestones of personages who died after the year 1989, that is after the fall of Communism so as to be able to attempt to capture the character of the time period. These gravestones are executed, not only in an original manner, but a number of them also have a religious character. It is therefore assumed that their content will correspond to the freedom of the time and independent expression in questions, which concern the final affairs of individuals.

It is apparent that the originality of gravestones is more frequent with actors or artists than with other professions. One of them, for example, is the gravestone of the actor Antonín Jedlička (1923-1993) with the artistic pseudonym "Uncle Jedlička". This actor was primarily known for establishing a theatre focused on children, "who were introduced to theatre in the form of play" (Potoček, 2005, p. 101). He also worked as a sound imitator (he was able to imitate hundreds of different sounds) in the radio and television and also wrote books for small children (lbid.). The gravestone is specific in terms of the fact that the only symbol which it contains is a (simple) symbol of a fir as a tree. This is located in the place where usually the symbol of a cross is placed on graves. The symbol of the tree was chosen because the name of this actor in Czech consists of a diminutive of the word for a fir tree, that is jedlička (in English "little firtree"). The gravestone also contains his artistic name, which was primarily known by his child audience, that is "Strýček Jedlička" (in English "Uncle Fir-Tree"). The gravestone does not make any reference to any post-humous content, but instead recalls the artistic role of this actor, in particular the role of the good uncle, who is kindhearted, merry, friendly and who even has a sense of humour even after the graves, which is confirmed by the symbolic tree on his gravestone.

Another original gravestone from the present is that of the actor Radoslav Brzobohatý (1932–2012), who was known as both a theatre and film actor and who was famous as a young man on the big screen, not only for his acting talent, but also for his manliness. His name is engraved on the gravestone, his own signature and also an excerpt from the song *"Moravia, Moravia! dear Moravia, what comes from you, noble band"*. This consists of a nationalist song apparently from the time of the Napoleonic (French-Austrian) Wars which took place in the Czech (Moravian) territory. This song is sometimes even viewed as the unofficial Moravian anthem. The song has more verses, some of which emphasize, for example, an anti-French, others an anti-German character, etc. The reason for the placement on the gravestone is in all

probability the fact that the actor had a deep affection for Moravia and Wallachia (the eastern part of the Czech Republic) where he was born. Although he spent most of life in Prague, he was a Moravian patriot, and also truly loved Moravian folk songs. His gravestone, similarly as in the case of the actor Jedlička, did not contain any religious motifs, but was intended to recall two things. The first is the personality of the actor, which is supposed to be captured by the engraving of his signature as well as the engraving of his portrait. The second, his deeply personal relationship to his native land, is his birthplace. The words of the song therefore emphasize the nobility of the personages who came from this region. The gravestone does not contain any information about his profession, but does recall his human character and relation to his homeland.

The gravestones of the Czech football players Josef Bican (1913-2001) and Josef Masopust (1931-2015), who were icons of Czech football in the twentieth century, are also original. Bican is even considered one of the greatest Czech football players of all time. He first played for Rapid Vienna and later for Slavia Prague. He was the leading scorer, not only in the Austrian, but also in the Czech football league. Josef Masopust, in contrast, won a silver medal at the World Cup in 1962 as a member of the Czechoslovak national team and received that same year the Golden Ball for the best football player in Europe. He is ranked among the top hundred world football players of all time.

Bican's grave is primarily decorated by his bust with his name and then an engraving of a football, above which is the inscription "football international". When his wife died in the year 2011, another gravestone was placed on the grave with her name and a message, which is a deeply personal message from his wife: "It wasn't always easy, but life with you Josef was lovely". Masopust's gravestone (Figure 5),

which was an initiative of the Club of Friends of Josef Masopust, is in the shape of a smaller football pitch. Apart from his date of birth and death, there is an engraving of his signature and a football. His signature is supposed to represent purity of play fair play. The model for the sculpture of the ball was the one used by Masopust in the year 1962 at the World Cup in Chile, where he achieved his greatest success. The artistic goal behind the execution of the gravestone was for the ball to loosely diffuse into the space and be transformed into "the shape of a heart as an expression of the fact that the famous football player was first and foremost a husband, father, grandfather, friend and primarily a model of honesty. (...) This therefore serves as Josef Masopust's eternal legacy primarily as a person" (Pašková, 2017). Both of these personages are linked by a *Figure 5. Josef Masopust's gravestone*



love for sport, specifically to football, where they achieved remarkable successes. Their gravestones communicate that remarkable sports success also requires a remarkable character.

Additional interesting gravestones include those on the graves of personages such as the singer and musician Waldemar Matuška (1932-2009), the violinist Josef Suk (1929-2011) or the conductor Jiří Bělohlávek (1946-2017). All three of these personages are primarily linked by their relation to music, with this also being expressed in the stylization of their gravestones. All of them are also missing religious symbolism or inscriptions of this meaning. The singer Matuška ranked among the most well-known singers of the second half of the twentieth century. Near the end of the Communist regime, he had emigrated to the USA in 1986, where he became especially popular among the Czech and Slovak expatriate community. His marble gravestone is decorated with an engraving of the body of a guitar, his favourite musical instrument, which a number of his listeners associate him with. An engraving of one of his most well-known songs "Sbohem Lásko" (Farewell Love) is located on the left side. The words are the introductory words of the refrain of this song and sound as follows: "Farewell love, allow me to go, allow me to go, it will be peaceful, no tears will help with my wandering feet, I truly loved you, what more can I give you, I'm not perfect, allow me to move on to another house". Another of the personages is Josef Suk (Figure 6) who was a renowned Czech violinist, a soloist in the Czech Philharmonic, the grandson of the world-famous composer Josef Suk the greatgrandson of the composer Antonín Dvořák. He was also considered one of the finest



Figure 6. Gravestone of the violinist Josef Suk

performers in the world of the music of Johann Sebastian Bach, Wolfgang Amadeus Mozart or Ludwig van Beethoven. His gravestone therefore has understandably a violin, which was symbolically broken in half as a result of his death. His authentic signature is consequently depicted underneath. The last of our list of aesthetically remarkable secular gravestones belongs to the conductor Jiří Bělohlávek, who conducted a range of renowned orchestras both at home and abroad and who was the head composer of the Czech Philharmonic during the last five years of his life, where he also tried to propagate musical works by Czech composers. The gravestone, apart from basic data, also contained the legend: "a renowned Czech conductor", an engraving of his signature and most interestingly an obelisk with his conducting notes which is particularly impressive.

These gravestones are of interest due to several basic characteristics. This is first and foremost their secular character, which do not contain any religious symbolism. In addition, the personages are linked by their love for music, with their gravestones expressing this connection both in words, as well as symbolically (in the form of the body of a guitar, the name of a song, notes for a violin or a conductor). Finally, there are personal signatures, which are understood in the Czech culture not only as an identification sign of the person, but also an expression of the character of the personage.

The secular character of gravestones in the national cemetery began to be completely normal during the period of Communism, where gravestones were built alongside each other with both Christian and secular themes. This trend is current and completely natural at present which demonstrates that this cultural space, thanks to the initial efforts of the nationalists, changed significantly over the course of the following 150 years.

Conclusion

This study attempts to answer several questions, which generally link academic study of religiosity in the Czech Republic. I consequently chose one of the important national and artistic gems, this being the national cemetery at Vyšehrad in Prague. The assumption behind this was that if this cemetery is a national symbol characterizing modern Czechness, then this cultural icon should correspond with the attitudes of Czech society to religion in the modern age. I further assumed that the attitudes of individuals to religion are not conditioned merely by personal experience, but also by the historical events which society undergoes, as these events have their own narrative power which influence public opinion, including attitudes to death on the part of society.

The findings have led to the following conclusions. First, religion is an important element of the grave architecture of the national cemetery from its founding up until the present, despite the fact that it does not clearly predominate at present. Second, a religious-patriotic or nationalist character was only of a time-limited duration, this being evidently the result of the obtaining of national independence. Third, the inscriptions and gravestones remained completely untouched by the ideological influence of Communism, with an extremely characteristic, for this time period, emphasis on the importance and significance of the deceased personages, which was, however, in my view not in ideological agreement with the concept of a classless and egalitarian society. Fourth, apart from a religious and national perspective, the perspective of secular humanism also became important, thus being manifest as the most distinct form of a message to the future generations, as it represented generally shared desires and values and was to a minimum possible extent subject to important historical events and the character of the time. Fifth, a significant part of the so-called final letters to the world, despite being personal considerations, corresponded to the spirit of the time in the sense that they adopted its discursive framework (religious, secular, national).

It is therefore apparent that, despite the relatively secular character of modern Czech society, the religious (Christian) theme of the national graveyard is an important and permanent element. It is present in all of the historical periods and predominates significantly in some of them. The theme even became an important means of self-expression of the elite during the time of the Communist dictatorship. The secular humanist character of the gravestones, which are characterized by an emphasis on originality and the society-wide contribution of the deceased personages, consequently recedes over the long-term perspective. The character of this graveyard as a whole does not, however, clearly support the argument about a strongly secular or atheist character of Czech society, if we take into consideration its thorough break from religion.

The above-mentioned reasons therefore indicate that the Czech national graveyard can also be understood as a certain kind of ideological laboratory; thanks to it we can determine that it was apparently the idea of a nation, which helped Czechs overcome the hundreds of years of ideological conflict between Catholicism and Protestantism. This was not, however, an idea of a nation, which would focus on one of these confessions, but one which represented its secular humanistic perspective, which primarily placed an emphasis on man, on its early humanity and upon the construction of humanitarian ideals. In the first phase of the building of the national cemetery, the religious theme tended to be presented as more of the beginning of the process of national emancipation, which was moving from a religious perspective to a national one, but which did not amount to a marginalization of religion. This would seem, from today's perspective, to reflect the fact that the efforts of nationalists were not established, over the long-term, by mere religious motivated nationalism, as was the case in neighbouring Poland or Slovakia, but seemingly not by any other. Neither religious nor secular nationalism were the phenomena, which became established over the long-term in the character of the national cemetery, or among the Czech intelligentsia. The development of modern Czech society instead tended to lead from national consciousness to Czechness, which, in my view, came about primarily through the attainment of political and national sovereignty.

References

Ariés, Ph. (1977). *L'homme devant la mort* (Vols. 1-2) [English edition: *The Hour of Our Death*, trans. Helen Weaver. New York, NY: Alfred A. Knopf, 1981. Czech edition: *Dějiny smrti*, trans. Danuše Navrátilová. Praha: Argo, 2000]. Paris: Seuil.

Ariés, Ph. (1983). *Images de l'homme devant la mort* [English edition: *Images of Man and Death*, trans. Janet Lloyd. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press, 1985]. Paris: Seuil.

Balák, K. (1946). V posvátné půdě Vyšehradu [In the Sacred Soil of Vyšehrad]. Praha: A. Lapáček.

Bedrníček, P. (2008). *Vyšehradský hřbitov* [Vyšehrad Cemetery]. Praha: Volvox Globator.

Bubík, T., Remmel, A., & Václavík, D. (Eds.). (2020). *Freethought and Atheism in Central and Eastern Europe. The Development of Secularity and Non-Religion.* Abingdon and New York: Routledge.

Durkheim, É. (2003). *Les formes élémentaires de la vie religieuse* [The Elementary Forms of Religious Life]. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France. (Original work published 1912).

Eliáš, V., & Kotrlý, T. (2006). *Přehled veřejných a neveřejných pohřebišť* v České *republice* [Overview of Public and Non-public Cemeteries in the Czech Republic]. Retrieved from http://www.pohrebiste.cz/download/publpreh.pdf

Fialová, K., Nešpor, Z. R. (2018). Nevěřící, apatheisté nebo skrytí věřící? Charakteristika osob, které se v rámci sčítání lidu nepřihlásily k žádné denominaci [Non-Believers, Apatheists or Hidden Believers? The Socio-Demographic Characteristics of Persons Refusing to Declare Their Religious Affiliation in the National Census]. *Religio: Revue pro religionistiku, 26*(2), 205–230. Retrieved from https://www.soc.cas. cz/publikace/neverici-apatheiste-nebo-skryti-verici-charakteristika-osob-ktere-se-vramci-scitani-lidu

Gade, D. W. (2015). Cemeteries as a Template of Religion, Non-religion and Culture. In S.D. Brunn (Ed.), *The Changing World Religion Map* (pp. 623–647). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. DOI: <u>10.1007/978-94-017-9376-6</u>

Gorman, F. J. E., & DiBlasi, M. (1981). Gravestone lconography and Mortuary Ideology. *Ethnohistory, 28*(1), 79–98. DOI: <u>10.2307/481579</u>

Hamplová, D. (2013). *Náboženství v* české *společnosti na prahu 3. tisíciletí.* [Religion in Czech Society on the Threshold of the 3rd Millennium]. Praha: Univerzita Karlova, Karolinum.

Havlíček, J. (2019). "Měřítko vytváří jev": k pojetí obsahů a funkcí náboženství ve výzkumech religiozity v současné české společnosti ["It Is the Scale That Makes the Phenomenon": Towards Conceptualizing the Contents and Functions of Religion in Czech Religiosity Research Today]. *Religio: Revue pro religionistiku, 27*(1), 117–141.

Horák, J. (2015). *Dechristianizace* českých *zemí* [Dechristianization of the Czech Lands]. Olomouc: Univerzita Palackého v Olomouci.

Knott, K. (2005). Spatial Theory and Method for the Study of Religion. *Temenos – Nordic Journal of Comparative Religion*, 41(2), 153–184. DOI: <u>10.33356/temenos.4778</u>

Kunte, L. (1920). *Vznik nového náboženství* [The Origin of a New Religion]. Praha: Kvasnička a Hampl.

Liška, V. (2006). *Slavín. Zpráva o rekonstrukci* [Slavín. Reconstruction Report]. Praha: Kamil Mařík.

Lužný, D. (1999). *Náboženství a moderní společnost: Sociologické teorie modernizace a sekularizace* [Religion and Modern Society: A Sociological Theory of Modernization and Secularization]. Brno: Masarykova univerzita.

Máté-Tóth, A. (2019). *Freiheit und Populismus. Verwundete Identitäten in Ostmitteleuropa* [Freedom and Populism. Identified Identities in Eastern Europe]. Wiesbaden: Springer Fachmedien Wiesbaden.

Mitoraj, S. (2001). A Tale of Two Cemeteries: Gravestones as Community Artifacts. *The English Journal*, *90*(5), 82–87.

Nechvátal, B. (1991). *Vyšehradský hřbitov* [Vyšehrad Cemetery]. Praha: Správa nár. kulturní památky Vyšehrad.

Nekula, M. (2017). *Smrt a zmrtvýchvstání národa* [Death and Resurrection of the Nation]. Praha: Univerzita Karlova, Karolinum.

Nešpor, Z. (2010). Příliš slábi ve víře [Too Weak in Faith]. Praha: Kalich.

Nešporová, O. (2013). O smrti a pohřbívání [About Death and Burial]. Brno: CDK.

Pašková, I. (2017, April 7). Náhrobek Josefa Masopusta vytvořil Ondřej Oliva. [The Tombstone of Josef Masopust created by Ondřej Oliva]. *DOBRÝ DEN s kurýrem.* Retrieved from: <u>http://www.idobryden.cz/kultura/nahrobek-josefa-masopusta-vytvoril-ondrej-oliva/b859b31a-16f7-11e7-9afc-005056ab0011/</u>

Potoček, V. (2005). *Vyšehradský hřbitov – Slavín* [Vyšehrad Cemetery – Slavín] (1sted.). Praha: Professional Publishing.

Suchan, L. (2008). Memento Mori: Bringing Classroom to the Cemetery. *The History Teacher, 42*(1), 41–53. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/40543773</u>

Václavík, D. (2009). *Náboženství a moderní* česká *společnost* [Religion and Modern Czech Society]. Praha: Grada.

Zelinsky, W. (2007). The Gravestone Index: Tracking Personal Religiosity Across Nations, Regions, and Periods. *The Geographical Review, 97*(4), 441–466. DOI: 10.1111/j.1931-0846.2007.tb00406.x



ARTICLE

"Messianicity Without Messianism": On the Place of Religion in the Philosophy of Jacques Derrida

Roman Soloviy

Dragomanova National Pedagogical University, Kyiv, Ukraine

ABSTRACT

This article examines Jacques Derrida's concept of "messianicité sans messianisme" ("messianicity without messianism") as an important example of rethinking the role and nature of religion in the late period of the work of the philosopher. Historical and philosophical analysis demonstrates that the appeal to the problem of messianism is inherent to many Jewish philosophers of the early twentieth century. They tried to develop a concept of time that would maintain full openness to the future and at the same time remember the past. Their work affected the interpretation of messianism in Derrida, because he developed his concept in discussion with Walter Benjamin and Emmanuel Lévinas. As the most general structure of the experience of justice, openness to the undecidable future, and respect for other messianicity do not exclude the religious manifestations of messianism, calling instead for the unceasing deconstruction of their fundamentalist claims.

KEYWORDS

Jacques Derrida, religion, messianism, messianicity, hospitality, other

Introduction

The overall goal of this article is to examine the rethinking of religion in contemporary continental philosophy as illustrated by Jacques Derrida's concept of messianicity, which, according to many scholars, was the most influential form of philosophical interpretation of messianism during the twentieth century. With this aim in mind, we will start exploring the resurgence of the ideas

Received 16 March 2020 Accepted 3 June 2020 Published online 9 July 2020 © 2020 Roman Soloviy r.p.soloviy@npu.edu.ua of hope and the future in the works of the key Jewish thinkers of the beginning of the twentieth century. Then we will analyze how their work affected the interpretation of messianism in Derrida, who developed his concept in conversation with Walter Benjamin and Emmanuel Lévinas. The central part of the article will study in great detail the peculiarities of the Derrida's interpretation of messianicity as a primordial structure of experiencing an openness to the coming of the others when we are unable to foresee their arrival. It is impossible to predict what is coming, or to become ready for it. It should be noted that Derrida's idea of messianicity is strongly linked to his conceptualization of an alterity. It's also worth noting that other is a key word in Jacques Derrida's terminology. The concept of otherness is essential in all of his work, even when it is examined with varying methods, According to Derrida, this concept cannot be reduced to a simple linguistic formulation; every other is wholly other, and any idea of the other is open to paradoxes and aporias. However, close reading of Derrida's work proves that he calls it "something that is completely other, something that cannot be returned to the same by any form of dialectical sublation" (Miller, 1996, p. 155). The Derridian concept of the other that implies absolute singularity of every being has essential consequences for moral obligations, political activities and religion. As we will demonstrate, Derrida's notion of messianicity does not exclude the religious phenomena. We will conclude with an analysis of the full range of interpretations that Derrida's concept of messianicity has been received. While some researchers have interpreted it as a clear sign of the religious intentions of the late Derrida's philosophy. others have maintained the atheistic nature of the concept, as simply deconstruction.

Appealing to philosophical thought when developing the theological concept of messianism is a recent phenomenon related to historical developments during the last two centuries. One of the main paradoxes of modern history is that the unprecedented growth of violence and the cruelty that characterizes it have been accompanied by a previously unknown revival of the concepts of hope and the future. The decisive role played in this process belongs to a number of prominent Jewish intellectuals who were active during the beginning of the twentieth century (Walter Benjamin, Franz Rosenzweig, Martin Buber, Ernst Bloch, Theodor Adorno, Gershom Scholem, among others). They all sought to clarify the nature of the relationship between European and Jewish culture, as well as find answers to current social and political challenges. As the French philosopher Pierre Bouretz (2003/2010) emphasized, their versions of the messianic utopia were developed as a faithful companion to twentieth-century suffering and terror, and at the same time as a form of protest against the concept of the irreversible progress of the world that is, against the horrific excesses of immanence. By promoting the concept of being "witnesses of the future," they rejected the idea of the past as completed and done with, they defied attempts to predict the blind future, and they encouraged resistance toward the view of man "having become purely a historical being" (Bouretz, 2003/2010, p. 11). Their purpose was to remember the past and tradition while also developing a concept of time that retains full openness towards a future, which cannot be confined by any horizons of significance and expectation. Philosophical reflection on messianism continued during the second half of the last century.

Derrida's Messianicity in the Context of Jewish Philosophical Messianism

It should be noted that while attention to ethical and religious issues is inherent to Derrida's later work, the texts from his early years also address topics related to religion. Already in Glas (Derrida, 1974/1986), the question of religion is the focus of the philosopher's attention in his reading of Hegel's early texts. Between 1980 and 1990, Derrida turned to the analysis of negative theology and the problems of the translation of sacred texts, as well as to phenomena such as confession, faith, hospitality, and gifts. Works of this period call into question the established treatment of Derrida's philosophy as promoting atheism and late period modern secularism. Is it possible to talk about the appeal to religion of a philosopher who has gone to so much effort to critique the metaphysics of presence, which is so important to religious discourse? According to Derrida, the fundamental feature of the history of western metaphysics is the modality of thinking about Being in terms of presence. Human thought and language always refer to something external, and the Being is an ultimate reference and "transcendental signified" of our discourses. As such, it provides a metaphysical justification of certainty of human knowledge. Derrida claims that metaphysics of presence is a profound mistake since it fails to recognize that human understanding of reality is linguistically mediated. His philosophical project intended to undermine the possibility of disregarding the linguistic mediation of reality by deconstructing the "transcendental signified." At first glance, deconstruction is not favorable to religion. If the idea of God is regarded as the name of transcendental signified, then the classical theistic view of the omnipotent God as a ground of all meaning can be deconstructed as a merely human concept. However, as the reading of Derrida's texts shows, he is not interested in returning to traditional theism. His purpose is much more radical, for he is convinced that the God of conventional theism has become a thing of the past. Derrida tries to think of God and faith after Enlightenment skepticism, the death of God, and the destruction of metaphysics.

"Messianicity" is one of the essential leitmotifs of the final decade of Derrida's work. Philosopher explores traditional theological themes without reference to religion as an established system of dogmas, mode of social organization, or a foundation for the moral life. The methodology of Derrida's employment of theological concepts is well illustrated by his reflections on the nature of religion in *The Gift of Death* (Derrida, 1992/1996). The ambiguity of the issue of death is understood here as the context for analyzing the responsibility of free subjectivity, access to which is provided by religion. However, religion here doesn't mean traditional denominational beliefs and practices, but what Derrida defines as "religion without religion," that is, not classical theism or institutional patterns of religion, but a form of faith that does not require an event of revelation for its existence.

Derrida addressed problems of messianism initially in the essay "Violence and Metaphysics: An Essay on the Thought of Emmanuel Lévinas" (Derrida, 1967/2001). Lévinas' project was aimed to break with Husserlian phenomenology and Heideggerian ontology, which by attempting to possess and know the Other, concealed its infinite alterity and reduced it to the Same. Derrida offers an extensive critique of Lévinas'

interpretation of Husserl and Heidegger and questions his explanation of the ethical relationship in a face-to-face encounter. He also analyzes Lévinas' appeal to the tradition, which is beyond the bounds of the key concepts of Greek thought, namely to "messianic eschatology." It is certainly not that Lévinas' philosophy is based on the religious texts of Judaism or is a form of "Jewish theology" or "Jewish mysticism." Moreover, the philosophy of Lévinas "can even be understood as the trial of theology and mysticism" (Derrida, 1967/2001, p. 103). In this sense, Derrida is close to Lévinas himself, who in *Totality and Infinity* denies the idea that eschatological theologies can supplement philosophical discourses through their prophetic proclamations of the ultimate purpose of being and through offering a clear picture of the future. In order for the "eschatology of messianic peace" to gain significance in philosophical thinking, it needs, according to Lévinas, a primordial and original relation with being, a "relation with being beyond the totality or beyond history" (Lévinas, 1961/2011, p. 22).

Derrida interprets this "beyond" as an appeal to experience itself, to practice, and to the irreducible alterity of the other. Therefore, owing to eschatology, which goes beyond all totality and objective experience and awakens people to the fullness of their responsibility, a figure of the other is discovered, which, according to Lévinas, cannot be understood within the framework of traditional philosophy, and which is the sole source of ethics. Thus, in one of his earliest texts, Derrida picks up on Lévinas' idea of messianic eschatology and uses it to assess if Lévinas' efforts to go beyond Greek philosophical tradition are productive.

It should be noted that despite the fact that for the first time Derrida addresses the subject of messianism under the influence of Lévinas, an even more important role in the development of his conception of the messianic was played by the philosophical legacy of Walter Benjamin (1892–1940), the author of one of the most influential versions of the philosophical understanding of messianism.

Written shortly before his tragic death in September 1940, Benjamin's *On the Concept of History* (Benjamin, 1996) denies that historical progress will inevitably lead to the replacement of capitalism by socialism. Instead, the thinker underpins his own conception of historical time, the defining aspect of which is the idea of breaking, active messianic intervention in the course of events. Refusing to interpret the historical process as a homogeneous and linear "empty time," Benjamin claims that every moment of the history is "the small gateway in time through which the Messiah might enter" (Benjamin, 1996, p. 397). For Benjamin, temporality of "a time to come" is not of future as coming present, "but that of the future anterior, a time in which future and past do not so much come together as come about one another, doing so in a way that circumvents conventional modalities of presence and holds time open to the coming of another (Levine, 2014, pp. 5–6).

The sudden arrival of the Messiah and the end of the history of the world – that is to say, large-scale historical transformations – can occur in an unprogrammed way, at any moment, even when their arrival is not expected. They are possible only as the radical interruption of linear time. Therefore, Benjamin is trying to defend the possibility of a revolutionary breakthrough in a situation where its occurrence is not conditioned by any socio-economic realities. Here we find an echo of the widespread

belief in Jewish mysticism that glimpses of future salvation can be found in the present. In this context, it should also be noted that the experience of the moment as a moment of the symbolic unity of the religious community and its intense expectation of salvation is also inherent in the philosophy of Franz Rosenzweig. The author of The Star of Redemption (Rosenzweig, 1921/2005) emphasizes that the community must be in a state of intense expectation that the Kingdom of God is about to come. This experience of maximum intensity reveals an important paradox: the balance between the concentration of history in one moment interacts with a permanent delay, shifting the finale of history into the future. A critical moment of world history is approached by people who "have been endowed with a weak messianic power, a power on which the past has a claim" (Benjamin, 1996, p. 390) – people who seek justice for the dead, forgotten in the whirlwind of historical cataclysms. They do not cherish the vain illusion that a happy future is coming as a result of rampant scientific and technological progress but retain the memory of a "secret agreement between past generations" who seemingly expected that new generations will set them free from stories written by the victors.

The guestion of the degree of influence of Benjamin's "weak messianic power" on Derrida's "messianicity" remains debatable. At first glance, the approaches of the two philosophers are close enough, since both appeal to Marxism and employ the notion of messianism. What is common to Benjamin and Derrida is "a certain messianic weakening," or the refusal to give some specific content to the messianic promise or to determine the form of the messianic event. On this basis, John D. Caputo even argues that Benjamin's "weak messianic power" and Derrida's "messianicity" are expressions of the same idea (Caputo, 1997, p. 352). However, commenting on Benjamin's statement about weak messianism in Specters of Marx (Derrida, 2006), Derrida argues that the logic of his messianic thought is "turned toward the future no less than the past, in a heterogeneous and disjointed time" (Derrida, 2006, p. 228). Thus, while Benjamin's weak messianism contains a strong ethical impulse, calling for remembering the forgotten victims of history (or those who are at risk of oblivion), his appeal to the past carries with it the risk of losing focus on the future - that is, giving attention to what is always yet to come. History could be addressed with the critical selection of the heritage we want to bring to the future. The work of mourning is not a one-time task that can be accomplished and completed, but is rather an indication of an important way of being human. At the core, the formation of subjectivity takes place in the process of mourning, inheriting what is passed on from previous generations and developing an awareness of one's duty toward them. We are not able to bring the dead back to life, but we are capable of witness and sorrow. It is impossible to establish justice and prevent the recurrence of wrongs from the past simply by "burying" the past. Instead, one should constantly practice the "work of mourning" with its continued attention to the past for the sake of preserving the messianic hope for the future.

Thus, the decisive difference between Derrida's messianism and Benjamin's weak messianic power lies in the various "logics of inheritance." For Benjamin, it is important to preserve the totality of the past in order to perpetuate the memory of the forgotten victims of coercion and injustice, as well as to open up the possibility of

reawakening the past in an era of revolutionary catastrophes that threaten to forget about the suppressed. According to Derrida, the duty toward the past consists not so much in preserving a certain tradition, but in remembering the past for the sake of repeating and confirming the difference of the other.

Mourning over difference requires a kind of "exorcism," but not in order "to chase away the ghosts, but this time to grant them the right, if it means making them come back alive as *revenants* who would no longer be *revenants*, but as other *arrivants* to whom a hospitable memory or promise must offer welcome – without certainty, ever, that they present themselves as such" (Derrida, 2006, p. 220). Although inheritance confirms the return of the past, this past, paradoxically, is a time yet to come, a time that is fundamentally different from any other period in history that we know of. The task, therefore, is to open the past for the future, to leave in it the cracks through which newness can enter, to provide an opportunity for the disruption of the usual course of things.

Messianicity as Openness to the Arrival of an Unpredictable Other

Messianicity appears as a sign of the openness towards the future that is fundamentally unpredictable. This radical openness to the possibilities of the forthcoming offers a hope for coming of justice. Undoubtedly, openness is never absolute – at every step forward something from the past is lost, and every moment of inheritance opens new possibilities for transformation and the multiplication of tradition. The driving force and at the same time the vulnerability of the gesture of inheritance Derrida exposes in the concept of promise. According to the general structure of promise, the future (that is, not the future in conventional sense of the word, but the radical future – what Derrida calls *l'avenir*) always exceeds any prediction or calculation. Derrida denies an understanding of time as a sequence of modalized presents – the past is not the present that is past, and the present is not a mere result of the present. It is not a descriptive empirical future, but a messianic eschatological future, an expectation of the arrival of an unpredictable other, in which our "come" is turned to the point that we cannot determine, predict, or calculate in advance who or what is coming.

Messianicity calls for inheriting those texts of the past that are most open to the future. This approach is exemplified by Derrida's interaction with the legacy of Marxism, in which he sees the most striking modern manifestation of messianic hospitality, "certain emancipatory and *messianic* affirmation, a certain experience of the promise that one can try to liberate from any dogmatics and even from any metaphysico-religious determination, from any *messianism*" (Derrida, 2006, p. 111).

As Derrida explains in his important essay Faith and Knowledge: The Two Sources of Faith and Knowledge at the Limits of Reason Alone (Derrida, 1996/2002), messianicity is depicted not as a religious phenomenon, but as the primordial general structure of experiencing an openness to the forthcoming (*l'avenir*) beyond any horizon of expectations defined by religious conceptual schemes. This messianic dimension does not depend on any messianism; it does not come from a definite revelation of the Abrahamic religion. Its essence consists in "movement of an experience open to the absolute future of what is coming, that is to say, a necessarily indeterminate, abstract, desert-like experience that is confided, exposed, given up to its waiting for the other and for the event" (Derrida, 2006, p. 112). In contrast, religious and political messianisms form in advance a set of expectations and prophetic predictions that determine how, where, when, and under what conditions the other may appear. Because messianisms contain a predetermined horizon of expectation, they inevitably commit violence towards unique singularities.

Thus, it is anticipated that we will extend radical hospitality to the *arrivant* without imposing on him any prior obligations or conditions. Derrida defines it as "a waiting without horizon of expectation," that is, "awaiting what one does not expect yet or any longer, hospitality without reserve, welcoming salutation accorded in advance to the absolute surprise of the *arrivant* from whom or from which one will not ask anything in return" (Derrida, 2006, p. 211). An example of this register of an appeal to the present to go beyond itself is Derrida's interpretation of a "democracy-to-come," which means not a specific form of government but something fundamentally different, something that still has to come, going beyond the previously known. The effectiveness of a democratic promise is linked to the eschatological expectation of some unpredictable alternativeness. It cannot be identified with any particular embodiment of democracy but calls for the endless transformation of the societies that exist here and now.

In explaining the meaning of the messianic, Derrida repeatedly uses the famous Aggada of the Babylonian Talmud. He appeals to this story, influenced by the earlier interpretations of Blanchot (1980, pp. 214–215). Aggada begins with Rabbi Joshua ben Levi meeting the prophet Elijah and asking him when the Messiah will come. The prophet replies that the rabbi can ask this question directly of the Messiah, for he is sitting at the gates of Rome dressed in rags. When the rabbi reaches Rome and indeed meets the Messiah in the company of the poor at the gates of Rome, he asks him, "When will you come?" and the Messiah answers, "Now." Derrida notes a discrepancy, an inadequacy between the generalized and specific "now" in this story. In the same way that the Messiah is not waiting and is coming right now, we should anticipate the coming of the future right at this moment in time. The Messiah is not some future present; his coming is here and it is inevitable. The parable points to the messianic structure as responsibility, for the coming of the event. At the same time, Derrida notes the "ambiguity" of the messianic structure: we can expect the arrival of the other, hoping in reality that he will not come, that the arrival of the Messiah will remain in permanent delay. Derrida points out that "we wait for something we would not like to wait for" (Derrida, 1997, p. 24), or as John D. Caputo explains, "The Messiah must always be to come. The Messiah is a very special promise, namely, a promise that would be broken were it kept, whose possibility is sustained by its impossibility" (Caputo, 1997, p. 162).

Although Derrida calls for a careful delineation of the notions of messianism and messianicity, he still leaves the question of the connection between them open. Religious and political messianisms always annunciate the arrival of a clearly defined messiah at a certain time and place. When the Messiah actually comes, as soon as the future really becomes a definite presence, the messianic will immediately cease to exist, because its essence lies in the expectation of what is yet to come. The proclamation of the arrival of the Messiah will pave the way for the other whose messianic experience is different from your messianism. Derrida's Messiah is the one we hope to come to, even though we know he will never come. This is an impossible opportunity of the future. The impossible goes beyond the possible, not as its direct opposite, but as the desire to overcome what is obviously predictable. The coming of the Messiah, his full presence, would deny any messianic expectation. By pointing to a particular Messiah, confessional messianism defines the future and limits it to the scope of specific messianic determination. Justice and expectations become related to counting, program, conformity, and predictable outcomes.

Idea of Messianicity and Religious Messianisms

Derrida emphasizes that although his idea of messianicity is not related to what is considered to be the essence of religious messianisms, that is, the historical revelation and figure of the Messiah, it does not mean that they should be dismissed as absurd eschatological fabrications. He refuses to identify messianicity with messianism, since the latter is always associated with a particular religion, limited by a specific cultural environment and a dogmatic system of beliefs. Derrida's secularized messianicity retains its separation from specific socio-cultural and religious contexts, allowing it to be a truly universal category. At the same time, as the most general structure of experience, messianicity does not exclude religious manifestations of messianism. At a roundtable at Villanova University (1997), Derrida explained his position in more detail.

When I insisted in Specters of Marx on messianicity, which I distinguished from messianism. I wanted to show that the messianic structure is a universal structure. As soon as you address the other, as soon as you are open to the future, as soon as you have a temporal experience of waiting for the future, of waiting for someone to come: that is the opening of experience. Someone is to come, is now to come. Justice and peace will have to do with this coming of the other, with the promise. Each time I open my mouth, I am promising something. When I speak to you, I am telling you that I promise to tell you something, to tell you the truth. Even if I lie, the condition of my lie is that I promise to tell you the truth. So the promise is not just one speech act among others; every speech act is fundamentally a promise. This universal structure of the promise, of the expectation for the future, for the coming, and the fact that this expectation of the coming has to do with justice - that is what I call the messianic structure. This messianic structure is not limited to what one calls messianisms, that is, Jewish, Christian, or Islamic messianism, to these determinate figures and forms of the Messiah. As soon as you reduce the messianic structure to messianism, then you are reducing the universality and this has important political consequences. Then you are accrediting one tradition among others and a notion of an elected people, of a given literal language, a given fundamentalism. That is why I think that the difference, however subtle it may appear, between the messianic and messianism is very important (Derrida, 1997, p. 23).

Having stressed the necessity to maintain a distinction between the concepts of messianism and messianicity, Derrida still hesitates about the true nature of their relationship, considering two possible hypotheses in Faith and Knowledge. According to the first one, messianicity is the most basic structure of experience, which has particular representations in historical messianisms. In this case, messianicity should be viewed on the same basis as the general structure of the Offenbarkeit (Revealability) developed by Heidegger in The Question of Being (Heidegger, 1957/1958), in order to clarify specific ways of Being's revealing itself and to evaluate their authenticity. Religions are then only concrete examples of the universal structure of messianicity, and its study later involves first of all research into the fundamental ontological conditions of the possibility of religion. At the same time. Derrida suggests another hypothesis, according to which the Offenbarung (Revelation) of Abrahamic religious traditions were absolute, unique events, through which universal possibilities of messianicity have shown themselves. Derrida does not give a definitive answer as to which of these hypotheses is more likely; he would like to find an explanation that combines both. The philosopher points out that, although his notion of messianicity is significantly different from that of Judaism, Christianity, or Islam, it still depends on these singular events of revelation.

Interpretations of Derrida's Messianicity

Derrida's concept of messianicity has a wide range of interpretations. While some researchers have assessed it as clear confirmation of the religious intentions of the late Derrida's thought, others have insisted on the atheistic nature of the concept, as all deconstruction. The atheistic reading of Derrida was supported by the Swedish philosopher Martin Hägglund. In his view, widespread theological interpretations of Derrida's thought are inconsistent. The trajectory of deconstruction fits in completely with the logic of radical atheism, which not only denies the existence of God and immortality, as does traditional atheism, but also denies the very possibility of a person's desire for God and immortality. In the seeming pursuit of infinite being and fullness, Hägglund sees a desire to survive, to increase life expectancy that is determined by an openness to the unpredictable future that can either enrich or destroy us. "I argue that the so-called desire for immortality dissimulates a desire for survival that precedes it and contradicts it from within" (Hägglund, 2008, p. 1).

Hägglund also sees radical atheism in Derrida's concept of messianicity. Although this concept, more than any other, led to the suspicion that the philosopher secretly cherished the religious hope for salvation, according to Hägglund, such readings of Derrida's thought are based on confusion of the notions of messianicity and concrete religious forms of "messianism". In Derrida's vocabulary, messianicity is just another name for the undecidable future, which creates a chance for the desirable, but at the same time threatens it from within. At the same time, traditional messianism is a religious or political belief in the future that will put an end to time, replacing it with an eternal tranquility that cannot be destroyed. The only common feature of messianicity and religious messianism is the formal structure of the promise of the coming, by which Derrida reads messianism against itself. Thus, Hägglund concludes that Derrida is inverting the logic of religious eschatology. Derrida emphasizes that the coming of the other does not contribute to the end of time, but always exceeds any definite end of life or history. His version of eschatology proclaims not the end of time, but only absolute openness to the uncertainty and unpredictability of the future. In addition, messianic hospitality for the future is not connected to the promise of peace. The *arrivant* may not be the bearer of peace, the Messiah, but as Derrida recognizes, the wrongdoer, the bearer of hatred, evil, and violence.

John D. Caputo, an American philosopher and one of the influential proponents of the use of deconstruction in religious thinking, disagrees with such a reading of Derrida¹. In his interpretation, the concept of messianicity refers to the core of Derrida's special religion, "of the call for a justice, a democracy, a just one to come, a call for peace among the concrete messianisms" (Caputo, 1997, p. xxviii). The difference between messianicity and messianism is interpreted as the difference between peace and war. The messianism of concrete, historical religions is always a source of exclusivism and violence, while the true meaning of messianicty lies in the promise of divine peace and the Kingdom of God accessible to all. Treating a specific religious tradition as the possessor of higher knowledge, granted only to God's chosen people, is a formula for endless war. For instance, Derrida viewed the conflict in the Middle East as a merciless war of dangerous "messianic eschatologies", driven by the desire to prove the truth of a particular version of messianism. Therefore, as opposed to confessional messianism, Caputo draws attention to the proclamations of the biblical prophets, who reminded their readers that God is seeking not ritual sacrifices, but justice for all oppressed people. In this approach, deconstruction is seen as the salvation of religion, because it cleanses it of its worst instincts.

Responding to Hägglund's reading of Derrida in an atheistic perspective, Caputo argues that the Swedish philosopher misunderstood the deconstructionist's interest in religion as an effort to protect common religious beliefs and denominational tenets. Relying on Derrida's distinction between faith and religion, Caputo defines the purpose of deconstructing religion in its reimagining as "religion without religion", that is, more primordial faith (*foi*), quasi-transcendent for both theism and atheism, which are just different forms of dogmatic beliefs (*croyances*). This faith does not

¹ For instance, see Derrida, J., & Caputo, J.D. (1997). *Deconstruction in a Nutshell: A Conversation with Jacques Derrida*. New York, NY: Fordham University Press; Caputo, J. D. (1997). *The Prayers and Tears of Jacques Derrida*: *Religion without Religion*. Bloomington and Indianapolis, IN: Indiana University Press; Caputo, J. D., Dooley, M., & Scanlon, M.J. (Eds.). (2001). *Questioning God*. Bloomington and Indianapolis, IN: Indiana University Press); Caputo, J. D., & Scanlon, M.J. (Eds.). (2005). *Augustine and Postmodernism: Confessions and Circumfession*. Bloomington and Indianapolis, IN: Indiana University Press.

exist in a state of unbroken peace; it is not protected from doubts, error, evil, violence, or death. Rising from the abyss of unbelief, this "unprotected religion" is more open to uncertainty and structural risk. As Caputo points out that in his analysis, Hägglund relies on a truncated, caricatured version of deconstruction when he claims that it is the decisive refutation of religion and that "deconstruction proceeds on a level of neutral, value-free descriptive analysis of the logic of time" (Caputo, 2015, p. 155). In fact, however, deconstruction is not about destroying religion by means of radical atheism; rather, it is a way of rereading and rethinking religion.

Caputo's views on deconstruction are largely shared by another influential continental philosopher of religion, Richard Kearney. Analyzing Derrida's statement that the name of God. like any other name, should be considered in the context of radical atheism, Kearney concludes that Derrida's purpose is not to abandon the phenomenon of God as such, but to sustain a general openness to difference without name, that is, without the identity of the historical givenness of the deity of historical religions (Kearney, 1999, p. 122). This general disposition to the arrival of the other, which is understood as the unpredictable occurrence of an event, is a messianicity that contradicts any form of the messianism of positive revelation. Therefore, according to Kearney, atheism for Derrida is not a total rejection of the idea of God, but rather a disagreement with the statement that a definite God is a condition for the possibility of God, who still has to come, to be named. While agreeing with Derrida's call for unconditional openness to the arrival of the other, Kearney nevertheless critically appreciates the assertion that the *arrivant* may be anyone or anything. He hopes that deconstruction waits for the coming of justice and associates this coming with the notion of a transcendent God who comes to save and liberate.

However, for Kearney, the possibility of combining the coming of this good God with the radical unpredictability of the future remains extremely problematic. Caputo ignores this problem, agreeing with Derrida that justice is concerned with the other, whose arrival cannot be predicted, while at the same time emphasizing that the other is always a victim and not a wrongdoer. Given that, as Derrida points out, anyone who comes can change his or her name and become anyone at any time, in "Desire of God" (1999) Kearney asks how we can distinguish between "between true and false prophets, between bringers of good and bringers of evil, between holy spirits and unholy ones ... between a living God and a dead one, between Elijah and his 'phantom', between messiahs and monsters" (Kearney, 1999, p. 127). Such a distinction is possible only if there are clear criteria. Without giving them, Derrida underestimates "the need for some kind of critical discernment based on informed judgment, hermeneutic memory, narrative imagination, and rational discrimination" (Kearney, 1999, p. 139).

However, it should be noted that Derrida's refusal to articulate a specific set of criteria does not mean that he underestimates the importance of identification and differentiation. On the contrary, Derrida argues that such acts are necessary because of the unpredictability of the future. We have to identify and make decisions each time because we are not able to predict in advance how the other will act. Establishing clear

preliminary criteria for the arrival of the other, Derrida points out, would be an act of discrimination and a restriction of unconditional universal hospitality – openness to the newcomer, whoever he may be. Total security is possible only if the possibility of something unexpected is closed. The rejection of the threat of trauma associated with the arrival of an unpredictable other is possible only at the expense of the rejection of the opportunity for transformation.

Another line of criticism of the messianic tradition of Lévinas and Derrida relies on a renewed reading of the texts of the Apostle Paul. In particular, we would like to mention such philosophers as Alain Badiou, Slavoj Žižek, and Giorgio Agamben. All of them, to one degree or another, accept Jacob Taubes' confidence in the determining role of messianism in the theology of the Apostle Paul. They also share the conviction that messianism was an important structural factor in the history of Western thought, finding expression not only in the Judeo-Christian religious heritage but also in secular phenomena. The findings of these philosophers signal a break with the phenomenological tradition of interpreting messianism. In particular, Badiou deploys criticism of Lévinas' ethic of alterity, which, in his belief, either falls into quasitheological piety that emphasizes the absolute otherness of God or reduces itself to a liberal assertion of difference and individuality. Badiou's criticism of messianic ethics is based on a new reading of Pauline messianism. The Apostle's faithfulness to the event of Christ's resurrection serves as foundation for a new universal truth that eliminates the conflict between Jewish law and the Greek logos. If Badiou contrasts Lévinas' messianic otherness with Paul's messianic universality, Žižek calls into guestion Derrida's messianic future, relying on the urgency of the messianic moment of the Apostle's theology, his emphasis on the Messiah's coming. The Apostle's belief that the Messiah is here, according to Žižek, resists the Derridian existence in a state of uncertainty and constant delay, calling for life in the new space already opened by the Event of Christ (Žižek, 2003, pp. 136-137).

Conclusion

Summarizing the analysis of Derrida's concept of messiancity, it should be noted that despite the criticism it has faced, the concept of "messianicity without messianism" has already became an influential concept in contemporary philosophy of religion. In the context of current civilizational challenges, it calls for openness to an absolute, unpredictable future and a respect for the other. In our view, Derrida's philosophy of religion and his call for the deconstruction of traditional messianism should not be characterized as atheistic. Religious and political messianisms need constant deconstruction because, unlike abstract messianicity, they are incapable to respect the irreducibility of the other. However, their deconstruction is by no means an attempt to return to some sort of Enlightenment version of "religion within reason alone," for, as Derrida points out, religion and science share a common source—the primordial faith that forms the basis for any social connection and communication. Therefore, the deconstruction of messianisms means releasing religions from their fundamentalist claims in order to promote their openness to the other.

References

Badiou, A. (1997). *Saint Paul: La fondation de l'universalisme* [Saint Paul: The Foundation of Universalism]. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France. DOI: 10.7202/004898ar

Benjamin, W. (1996). On the Concept of History. In H. Eiland and M. W. Jennings (Eds.), *Walter Benjamin: Selected Writings, 4: 1938–1940* (pp. 389–400). Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Blanchot, M. (1980). *L' écriture du désastre* [The Writing of the Disaster]. Paris: NRF/Gallimard.

Bouretz, P. (2010). *Witnesses for the Future: Philosophy and Messianism* (M.B. Smith, Trans.). Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press. (Originally published in French 2003)

Caputo, J. D. (1997). *The Prayers and Tears of Jacques Derrida: Religion without Religion*. Bloomington and Indianapolis, IN: Indiana University Press. DOI: 10.2307/j.ctt2005rjr

Caputo, J. D. (2015). Unprotected Religion. In E. Baring & P. E. Gordon (Eds.), *The Trace of God: Derrida and Religion* (pp. 151–177). New York, NY: Fordham University Press. DOI: <u>10.5422/fordham/9780823262090.003.0009</u>

Derrida, J. (1986). *Glas* (J. P. Leavey Jr. & R. Rand, Trans.). Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press. (Originally published in French 1974)

Derrida, J. (1992). Force of Law: The 'Mystical Foundation of Authority'. In D. Cornell, M. Rosenfeld, & D. Carlson (Eds.), *Deconstruction and the Possibility of Justice* (pp. 3–67). London and New York: Routledge.

Derrida, J. (1996). *The Gift of Death* (D. Wills, Trans.). Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press. (Originally published in French 1992)

Derrida, J. (1997). The Villanova Roundtable: A Conversation with Jacques Derrida. In J. Derrida & J.D. Caputo (Eds.), *Deconstruction in a Nutshell: a Conversation with Jacques Derrida* (pp. 3–28). New York, NY: Fordham University Press.

Derrida, J. (2001). Violence and Metaphysics: An Essay on the Thought of Emmanuel Lévinas. In A. Bass (Trans.), *Writing and Difference* (pp. 97–192). London: Routledge Classics. (Originally published in French 1967)

Derrida, J. (2002). Faith and Knowledge: The Two Sources of "Religion" at the Limits of Reason Alone. In G. Anidjar (Ed.), *Acts of Religion / Jacques Derrida* (pp. 40–101). London and New York: Routledge. (Originally published in French 1996)

Derrida, J. (2006). *Specters of Marx: The State of the Debt, the Work of Mourning and the New International* (1st ed.). London and New York: Routledge.

Derrida, J., & Caputo, J.D. (Eds.). (1997). *Deconstruction in a Nutshell: A Conversation with Jacques Derrida*. New York, NY: Fordham University Press.

Hägglund, M. (2008). *Radical Atheism: Derrida and the Time of Life*. Stanford, CA: Stanford University Press.

Heidegger, M. (1958). *The Question of Being* (W. Kluback & J.T. Wilde, Trans.). New York, NY: Twayne Publishers. (Originally published in German 1957)

Kearney R. (1999). Desire of God. In J. D. Caputo and M. J. Scanlon (Eds.), *God, the Gift, and Postmodernism* (pp. 112–145). Bloomington and Indianapolis, IN: Indiana University Press.

Lévinas, E. (2011). *Totality and Infinity: An Essay on Exteriority* (A. Lingis, Trans.). Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands. (Originally published in French 1961)

Levine, M.G. (2014). A Weak Messianic Power: Figures of a Time to Come in Benjamin, Derrida, and Celan. New York, NY: Fordham University Press. DOI: 10.2307/j.ctt13x0301

Miller, J. H. (1996). Derrida's Others. In J. Brannigan, R. Robbins, & J. Wolfreys (Eds.), *Applying: To Derrida* (pp. 153–170). London: Palgrave Macmillan. DOI: <u>10.1007/978-1-349-25077-6_10</u>

Rosenzweig, F. (2005). *The Star of Redemption* (B.E. Galli, Trans.). Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin Press. (Originally published in German 1921)

Žižek, S. (2003). *The Puppet and the Dwarf: the Perverse Core of Christianity*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press. DOI: <u>10.7551/mitpress/5706.001.0001</u>



ARTICLE

The Uzbek National Tradition in the Pedagogical Practices of Adult Educators

Fairuza S. Ismagilova Ural Federal University, Yekaterinburg, Russia

Aleksey V. Maltsev Ural Federal University, Yekaterinburg, Russia

Erkinbai N. Sattarov

Academy of the General Prosecutor's Office of the Republic of Uzbekistan, Tashkent, Uzbekistan

ABSTRACT

While Uzbekistan strives to preserve its traditional culture and values (for example, respect for elders), interest in modern teaching methods is growing incrementally. This study aims to investigate whether and to what extent the national context affects teaching methods, in particular the interactive methods, which Uzbek professors use for training the civil service talent pool. The study is based on focus groups and content and cluster analysis. The results show that although Uzbek professors acknowledge the importance of the national context, their adult students' needs and their own pedagogical experience are paramount in their choice of interactive methods.

We also found that professors are highly motivated to try new methods, despite the lack of adequate access to cutting-edge resources. Therefore, their professional development should be aimed at improving their teaching qualifications by introducing the latest global trends in instruction methods. Conventional methods have to be revised and complemented with modern ones. This will lead to mutual enrichment between unique and strong Uzbek national traditions in education and contemporary international trends.

KEYWORDS

national identity, interactive methods, adult training, focus group

Received 2 April 2020 Accepted 1 June 2020 Published online 9 July 2020 © Fayruza S. Ismagilova, Aleksey V. Maltsev, Erkinbai N. Sattarov f.s.ismagilova@urfu.ru a.v.maltsev@urfu.ru sattotov1955@mail.ru

Introduction

Problem: The education system in Uzbekistan aims to protect national interests and preserve the country's unique cultural and moral values along with its customs and traditions. Some traditions are passed from generation to generation, such as *Shashmaqom* (the classical music tradition), *Katta Ashula* (a type of traditional Uzbek song), *Nowruz* (rituals marking the celebration of the New Year) and *Askiya* (the art of wit) (included in the UNESCO Representative List). However, equally important for Uzbekistan is the task of keeping up with global realities and trends in education.

The search for the right balance between openness to global influences, on the one hand, and desire to preserve the country's national identity, on the other, inevitably affects professional education programs. Today's Uzbekistan is a country seeking to adopt modern social practices while preserving its cultural and national identity, which means that the innovative methods of training in Uzbek education need to be adjusted not only to the requirements of specific disciplines but also to the culture-specific characteristics of teachers and students. Generational differences are most keenly felt in adult education. Adult training methodology and techniques are now being actively developed, numerous methods are being adopted from other countries' experience. The application of such methods in Uzbekistan, however, may fail to be as effective as expected and encounter resistance on the part of teachers and/or students. The generation gap and the corresponding clash between tradition and modernity exacerbates the problem: young people are more oriented towards "modern" values while the older generation have deeper respect for long-held cultural and religious values (Yuldasheva, 2018). To address the problem under investigation, we need to consider the following question:

Does the national context affect Uzbek professors' choices of interactive methods? And what are the other factors that play a significant role in their choices?

Research purpose: The purpose of the study is to explore Uzbek professors' ideas about the barriers to and opportunities for the effective use of interactive methods for training the civil service talent pool.

Method: We used focus groups for data collection. In our case, the focus group discussion centred around the limitations and strengths of 14 teaching methods. In particular, we asked the participants to answer the following question: do you recommend using this or that method in training the civil service talent pool in Uzbekistan? Why or why not? The sample consisted of 27 leading professors of the Academy of the Prosecutor General's Office of the Republic of Uzbekistan. All of these educators were involved in training the talent pool for the national civil service. The resulting responses were grouped with the help of cluster analysis.

Theoretical Background and Hypotheses

Education and National Culture

Integration of positive international experiences and the centuries-old cultural and historical traditions of Uzbek people is at the core of the development of national

mentality in Uzbekistan (Yurevich, 2013). This approach known as "pragmatic traditionalism", implies that an individual is proud of their origins but at the same time manifests certain behavioural modifications (Finke, 2014). Sometimes, however, these two tendencies contradict each other: some Uzbek researchers are concerned about the impact that the unquestioned authority of the elders resulting from the eastern system of social relations has on younger generations. They believe that younger people's respect for the authority of older people impedes the former from acting on their own and generating new ideas. A study of the values prevalent among young Uzbek adults found that they attach little significance to such values as the "spirit of innovation (willingness to generate and adopt new, original ideas)" and "pro-active attitude in life" (Seitov, 2018). The dominant role of the national-ethnic factor and the persistence of cultural norms and traditions despite the influence of globalization have been emphasized in a number of studies (Adams, 2004; Bekmurodov, 2004; Ne'matov & Enikeeva, 2016; Welter et al., 2006). According to Zh. Ne'matov and A. Enikeeva (2016), it is necessary to analyse the applicability of international management models and generalize available positive national experiences in order to create new management models adapted to the country's unique context (Ne'matov & Enikeeva, 2016). While accepting this argumentation, we believe it would be more reasonable to adapt methods, which have already been internationally tested to the local cultural context rather than design new ones.

Trying to strike the appropriate balance between teaching goals and promoting national culture and values, professors tend to choose one of four possible strategies: avoidance, promotion, rejection and problematisation (Sant & Hanley, 2018). Avoidance means that teachers can choose to avoid the topic of national identities by simply "skirting around it in lessons and steering discussion into safer territory when it is raised by students" (Hand & Pearce, 2009). Active promotion of national identities stems from the assumption that shared values are necessary for the survival of any community; however, this strategy may make some teachers and students resentful (Sant & Hanley, 2018). Rejection implies that teachers can choose to assert their personal views rather than the values commonly shared in society (Peterson, Durrant, & Bentley, 2015). Finally, the strategy of problematizing national identities means that teachers can take "a stance of neutrality, inviting discussion" and present it "as an open question or controversial issue" (Maylor, 2016). As E. Sant and C. Hanley (2018) show in their study of British teachers, these four strategies co-exist in contemporary teaching practices.

Interactive learning means that all participants of the process engage with one another to find answers or solve problems together (Panina & Vavilova, 2007). The interactions described by Panina and Vavilova (information exchange, evaluation of one's own actions and the actions of other participants, joint search for solutions) need to be carried out in a specific multi-cultural environment, in an atmosphere that fosters cooperative work (ibid, pp. 33–34). The choice of methods is made even more complicated by the fact that at the moment there are no officially established criteria for the comprehensive evaluation of civil servants in Uzbekistan (Malikova, 2018). Therefore, regarding the national identity factor, we suggest that professors

follow one of the above-described strategies in their choice of interactive methods. As we can see, in Uzbekistan much of the attention of academia and the wider public is focused on the challenges of strengthening national identity; this goal is also described in many official policy documents. This trend is also observed in the sphere of adult education. The possible downside of this emphasis on national identity is that it can impede efficient application of those interactive methods that conflict with the national or cultural characteristics of teachers and students. In view of the above, the *hypothesis 1* to be considered in this study is as follows:

• Professors tend to choose interactive methods by following one of the four strategies in relation to the national context and national identity.

Interactive Methods in Adult Learning

Interactive forms and methods may be roughly divided into discussion-based ones and role-playing. Discussion-based methods include dialogue, group discussion, the case method (discussion of real-life situations), and meetings with guest experts. Roleplaying methods include business role-playing, simulations and management games (Panina & Vavilova, 2007; Senashenko & Marushina, 2018). Recently in education there has been an upsurge of interest in international corporate training techniques, such as buddying, shadowing, workshops and rotation. Buddying is based on mutual help and monitoring between the two individuals while job shadowing implies that a younger employee should follow a more experienced worker to learn new aspects related to the job, organization, certain behaviours or competencies. Buddying is sometimes described as informal two-way peer-to-peer mentoring or coaching (Aban'kina & Medvedeva, 2017). Such methods as workshops, internships and rotation are also widely used (Shubina, 2017). It is easy to see simply by looking at the terms, most of which are adopted from the English language, that the majority of the above-discussed methods appeared in response to globalization in professional education (Azizkhodzhaeva, 2009). This makes the choice of methods harder for many professors since working with adults requires them to take into account the specific aspects of the socio-cultural enbironment, in which their students are operating.

Our analysis of the studies focused on socio-cultural characteristics of Uzbekistan has shown that respect for parents and the elderly is a significant national value. Other values include self-command and obedience to elders; gravitas, dignity; deliberative decision-making; love and care towards spiritual values, national history and culture (Abdukakhkharova, 2017); and unquestioned fatherly authority (while the mother takes charge of domestic life in Uzbek families, the father is responsible for all important family decisions and provides support to children only when necessary) (Ubaydullayeva, 2018). Training programs for young adults are oriented towards maintaining and developing these values. Since the buddying method is based on equal partner relationships between the teacher and the student, we may suppose that its application in adult training in Uzbekistan will be constrained. The limitation is linked to the fact that in Uzbekistan a teacher (*domla*) is considered as a kind of father figure, someone who should be looked up to and respected, a student could find it difficult to engage in an equal partnership with him.

On the other hand, programs aimed at helping students build their professional skills mostly deal with the cognitive sphere, which includes such qualities as tolerance towards other people's opinions and views (Siddikov, 2019) and divergent thinking (Magroupov, 2019). These considerations lead us to suppose that the application of such methods as discussion, role-playing and metaphorical role-play will have limitations resulting from the prevalence of strict traditional business etiquette, convergent thinking (tendency to come up with a single, well-established answer to a problem) and lack of tolerance towards other people's opinions.

The results of our theoretical analysis have led us to formulate three more hypotheses:

- Hypothesis 2. Experts will consider such methods as buddying, discussion, role-playing and metaphorical role-play as having limited applicability in the Uzbek national context.
- Hypothesis 3. Experts will consider the methods of case study, in-basket technique and shadowing as holding more potential for training the civil service talent pool in Uzbekistan.
- Hypothesis 4. Experts will consider mentoring, coaching and workshops as the most effective teaching methods.

Method and Procedure

Focus Group Discussion

To test the above-described hypotheses, empirical data were collected by using the focus group method. The focus groups comprised professors involved in training young adults for the civil service talent pool at the Academy of the General Prosecutor's Office of the Republic of Uzbekistan. This method was chosen because the sample was comparatively small and it was impossible to conduct a larger-scale survey. We identified 14 interactive methods used by adult educators (Babić, Vukmirović, & Capko, 2015; Corder, 2008; Kelly, 2017; Makarova, 2014; Marin, et al., 2010; Roach, 2014; Settles, 2009; Shen, Xue, & Zhu, 2016; Smith, 2017; Wuestewald, 2016).

The participants were given the following instructions: There are many teaching methods and techniques used for training young employees to perform a variety of tasks and improve their overall work performance. Such an abundance of methods sometimes makes it difficult for professors to decide, which methods to apply and when. At certain moments you may feel at a loss, not knowing, which method to go for. Therefore, it is important to have a toolbox of effective teaching methods at hand, especially when the need arises to design a new curriculum program or to spice up your methodology. We propose to discuss 14 modern adult training methods. Please read the descriptions of these methods; in 30 minutes' time, we are going to discuss the following questions:

- 1) Which of these methods do you consider effective for training the civil service talent pool? Give reasons for your answer.
- 2) Which of these methods do you find ineffective or even inappropriate for training the talent pool? What are the limitations and barriers to applying these methods in your or your colleagues' practice?

The list of interactive methods of adult learning:

- The project method is a method of instruction based on solving practical problems that students define themselves. The role of the teacher in this method is to facilitate group work and monitor the progress of groups as they work through the task.
- 2) In-basket technique is used to teach students how to set their priorities right, deal with the most urgent problems, work with data, systematize, analyze and make well-informed decisions; in other words, to try and cope with the administrative and planning aspects of a managerial position. The student's task is to perform a manager's job when confronted with issues and problems that have accumulated in a manager's "in-basket" and to take action on these issues and problems.
- The case study method is based on active imitation non-role-playing learning. Students try to resolve dilemmas (taking decisions or solving problems) from actual real-life situations (cases).
- 4) *Role-play* that allows students to explore realistic situations by assuming certain roles and/or acting out professional situations.
- 5) *Metaphorical role-playing* is a creative technique aimed at encouraging a collaborative search for solutions or a shift of perspective. What distinguishes this method is that the role-play centres around a metaphor (a legend or a parable symbolically representing real-life problems and relationships).
- 6) Internship is a form of experiential learning, which allows a student to develop their skills in a professional setting under the guidance of an experienced specialist.
- Rotation is a training method where members of staff rotate roles or tasks by going from one job to another or from one department to another inside their organization.
- 8) *Shadowing* is based on learning the reality of a job by spending time with a person working in that career.
- 9) *Discussion* is based on the collaborative exchange of ideas in order to try to reach some kind of agreement regarding the given problem or question.
- Distance learning is a method of studying individually or in groups when lectures, seminars and tutoring sessions are conducted via the Internet (Skype, for example).
- 11) Mentoring is a process in which senior professionals guide younger ones by sharing their knowledge and experience; from the psychological perspective, it is a relationship between people from two generations to ensure the transfer of skills and experience.
- 12) Buddying is based on pairing two individuals in a single unit. The relationship established in the buddy system implies equality, sharing the information and/or providing each other with objective feedback and support in achieving personal and corporate aims and learning new skills.
- 13) Coaching is a method of instruction, which is more structured, focused and short-term than mentoring. Coaching sessions are held regularly and concentrate on specific development areas and issues.

14) *Workshop method* is usually time limited, often to a single session, and implies that a top-level professional shares their experience and expertise with a group of students.

Procedure. The focus group gathered in a separate room and the whole session lasted for about 1.5 hours. In the first 30 minutes, the participants were given a list of methods to study and prepare. The discussion was conducted in Uzbek, which is the language of instruction: the guidelines were also provided in Uzbek. The moderator asked clarifying questions. The focus group discussions were recorded with the help of a voice recorder. The records were later transcribed and the data used for statistical and content analysis.

Participants' responses were first entered into a simple table where we listed all the arguments for each method that participants mentioned in favour or against applying it. Then all choice criteria were evaluated by two independent experts according to the provisions described further. There were no disparities in the expert evaluations.

Content and Cluster Analysis

First, we conducted primary clustering of the factors that affected the choice of methods. These factors were then divided logically into three larger groups of factors related to social environment:

- 1) national cultural context of the learning process;
- 2) professional environment where adult students act and use their expertise;
- 3) pedagogical practice professors are involved in and their teaching experience.

At the stage of secondary clustering, all the factors were decomposed; for each of the factors, the clusters and units of content analysis of the choice criteria were specified. To identify the criteria for the factor "national cultural context", we used sources describing the cultural values and unique traditions of Uzbekistan. Finally, we identified 6 clusters as choice criteria (see Table 1).

 Table 1. Cluster Analysis of the Choice Criteria
 Optimization
 Optinteracion
 <thoust content</th>
 Optimiz

| No. | Nation-specific characteristics | Cluster |
|-----|--|----------------------|
| 1 | respect for elders; leadership of the elders in the family; the family | transfer of |
| | elders as the ultimate decision-makers by virtue of the richness of | knowledge from |
| | their knowledge and life experience (Seitov, 2018). | mentor to student |
| 2 | decisive power of public opinion (Farmanova, 2019); sense of | working in a team |
| | belonging to a community (Muminov, 2017); connectedness and | |
| | attachments; importance of reputation (Urinboyev & Svensson, 2018). | |
| 3 | dignity (Farmanova, 2019); long-standing authoritarian traditions | large distance in |
| | (Ne'matov & Enikeeva, 2016); hierarchy (Urinboyev & Svensson, | a teacher-student |
| | 2018). | relationship |
| 4 | low value of innovation and personal initiative; importance of | prevalence of |
| | conformity (Seitov, 2018). | traditional views |
| 5 | low tolerance of uncertain, unstructured situations or changeable | search for the right |
| | environments; lack of divergent thinking skills (Magroupov, 2019). | answer |

Within the factor "professional environment where adult students act and use their expertise", we identified four clusters of criteria depending on the following characteristics of the student group:

- a) age;
- b) high status in the civil service system;
- c) highly regulated professional activities;
- d) participation in the civil service talent pool.

The factor "pedagogical practice professors are involved in and their teaching experience" was divided into three clusters of criteria depending on the participants' individual attitudes to specific methods:

a) knowledge of the method and ability to use it (teaching expertise);

b) belief in the universal applicability of this or that method regardless of the cultural environment;

c) willingness to expand and update the inventory of teaching practices inventory to keep up with cutting-edge global practices.

Results

Sample

We conducted 2 focus group discussions including 12 and 15 participants. The average age of the participants was 45.2; their overall length of service was on average 21.1 years; and their work experience in education was 9.4 years. All professors teach different courses at the Academy of Public Prosecutions of the Republic of Uzbekistan. Their students are adults with university education, lawyers who are improving their qualifications at the academy. The average age of the students is 28 to 40 years: they have an average of 5-10 years of experience in law and public service.

Content Analysis of Responses

To test our first hypothesis about the significance of the national context in Uzbek teachers' choice of interactive methods, we focused on those responses that dealt with the applicability of these methods in Uzbekistan, that is, whether they are considered appropriate for use in Uzbek education or not. These responses, which are in fact subjective criteria of each method's applicability, were then divided into five clusters. Examples of clustering are given below.

The cluster of the criteria "transfer of knowledge from the mentor to the student as an established Uzbek national tradition" included such responses as "the mentorstudent system has been one of the leading methods in professional training for as long as anyone can remember"; "Uzbeks have a saying *ustoz kurgan*, which means 'educated by a teacher".

The criteria included in the cluster "teamwork as a national collectivist practice (community life or *mahalla*)" can be illustrated by the following example: "This method is effective because it helps you learn to work together, as a team".

The cluster "a large teacher-student distance based on unquestionable respect for the teacher (*domla*)" includes such responses as "a young generation always needs a teacher to teach them professional secrets" and "the situation when actual managers and their subordinates participate in role-playing together is unacceptable".

Examples of the criteria included in the cluster "prevalence of traditional views and respect of the national mentality" are as follows: "This method disagrees with our national mentality" and "this method is not suitable for us because it requires us to make a lot of extra effort and it is against our laid-back national attitude".

The cluster "search for the right answer" can be illustrated by such responses as "this method is suitable because it allows us to give the right direction to young specialists", and "it is an effective method because it helps develop decision-making skills".

We calculated the number of culture-related responses given by each participant. Table 2 shows the results of the content analysis of the choice criteria ("For" or "Against") for specific interactive methods within the factor "national cultural context".

| No. | Clusters of criteria | Number of c | Number of content units | | ontent units, % |
|-----|--|-------------|-------------------------|------|-----------------|
| | | For | Against | For | Against |
| 1 | transfer of knowledge from mentor to student | 35 | 16 | 34.3 | 42.1 |
| 2 | working in a team | 22 | 1 | 21.5 | 2.6 |
| 3 | large distance in a teacher- student relationship | 1 | 8 | 1.0 | 21.1 |
| 4 | prevalence of traditional views | 2 | 6 | 2.0 | 15.8 |
| 5 | search for the right answer | 42 | 7 | 41.2 | 18.4 |
| | TOTAL | 102 | 38 | 100 | 100 |

 Table 2. Content Analysis of the Choice Criteria ("For" or "Against") for Specific

 Interactive Methods from the Group "National Cultural Context"

As Table 2 shows, there are two dominant criteria in our experts' evaluations of interactive methods. First, there is the possibility of knowledge transfer from mentor to student (51 responses). Second, there is the orientation of the method towards the "search for the right answer" (49 responses). Both criteria correspond to the cognitive rather than the behavioural aspect of the method. At the same time, neither of the two behavioural criteria (the method fits into the national context or not and the method supports the patriarchal tradition of large teacher-student distance or not) appeared to have any significant impact on the choice of the method.

In order to identify the role-played by a factor like "national culture" in comparison with others, we conducted content analysis of the criteria for the factors "professional environment where adult students act and use their expertise" and "pedagogical practice professors are involved in and their teaching experience".

After separating the responces, responses which we identified as clusters of the factor "national context", we conducted content analysis of the remaining responses and divided them into two groups (factors "professional environment of adult students" and "pedagogical practice of professors") and then assigned them to clusters within each group.

The responses that corresponded to the professional and other characteristics of students included the following:

- the method was described as "intended for adults" and "applicable to their work"; "it takes into account employees' age"; and "it can be applied depending on the level of psychological maturity" (cluster "psychological maturity");
- the method was described as "unsuitable since not all people in these positions are ready to accept advice from others" (cluster "high status in the civil service system");
- 3) the method was described as "suitable" since "students' professional activities are rigorously regulated"; "the method contributes to a better understanding of the particularities of work in this profession" and "can be widely used to explain new laws and their correct application"; and "they are dealing with complicated work processes, which are not always open; therefore, this method will be of no use in training civil administration employees" (cluster "highly regulated professional activities");
- 4) the method was described as "inappropriate" since "superiors often fear competition from their subordinates": "It gives learners an opportunity to gain first-hand experience of what it's like to be a boss" (cluster "participation in the civil service talent pool").

The quantitative results of the content analysis of these clusters are shown in Table 3.

| No. | Clusters of criteria | Number of c | Number of content units | | ontent units, % |
|-----|--|-------------|-------------------------|------|-----------------|
| | | For | Against | For | Against |
| 1 | psychological maturity | 8 | 9 | 4.4 | 12.5 |
| 2 | high position in the civil service system | 24 | 15 | 13.2 | 20.8 |
| 3 | highly regulated professional activities | 91 | 25 | 50.0 | 34.8 |
| 4 | participation in the civil service talent pool | 59 | 23 | 32.4 | 31.9 |
| | TOTAL | 182 | 72 | 100 | 100 |

| Table 3. Content Analysis of the Choice Criteria for the Factor |
|---|
| "Professional Environment of Adult Students" |

Table 3 shows the prevalence of the cluster "highly regulated professional activities" (n = 116), that is, those criteria that focus on adult students' professional needs and characteristics. Thus, in their evaluations of interactive methods, professors put the main emphasis on whether or not these methods can help students meet the professional requirements and perform well at work. Such aspect as students' psychological maturity turned out to be the least significant factor in professors' considerations (n = 17).

Finally, the third group of responses where the main factor was the pedagogical practice and experiences of professors can be illustrated by the following examples:

- the method was described as "tried and tested" and "often used in practice" (cluster "professor's knowledge and application of the method");
- 2) the method "provides opportunities for gaining experience in different spheres"; "develops skills of dealing with difficult situations, problem-solving abilities"; the method was described as "too time-consuming as takes too much time to find the necessary learning materials"; the method "requires certain expertise" (cluster "evaluation of the method as a tool, regardless of the national context");
- the method was "new for me but I hope to use it for problem-setting" (cluster "evaluation of the method's potential in terms of the most recent international trends").

Quantitative results of the content analysis of these clusters are shown in Table 4.

| No. | Clusters of criteria | | | | Frequency of content units, % | |
|-----|---|-----|---------|------|-------------------------------|--|
| | | For | Against | For | Against | |
| 1 | professor's knowledge and application of the method | 32 | 11 | 14.5 | 18.7 | |
| 2 | evaluation of the method as a tool, regardless of the national context | 174 | 34 | 78.7 | 57.6 | |
| 3 | evaluation of the method's potential in terms of the most recent international trends | 15 | 14 | 6.8 | 23.7 | |
| | TOTAL | 221 | 59 | 100 | 100 | |

Table 4. Content Analysis of the Choice Criteria for the Factor "Pedagogical Practice and Teaching Experience of Professors"

Table 4 demonstrates that the most significant cluster of criteria is "evaluation of the method as a tool, regardless of the national context" (n = 208): a method is evaluated as suitable (n = 174) or unsuitable (n = 34) from the perspective of its efficiency as a teaching tool, that is, outside of the national or professional context. In other words, in their choices professors were guided primarily by the efficiency principle rather than by nation-specific considerations (avoidance strategy).

Table 5 shows the results of our content analysis used to test hypothesis 1.

| Table 5. Distribution of the Three Factors of Interactive Method Evaluations Based |
|--|
| on the Results of Content Analysis |

| Factors of method evaluation | Method considered as suitable | | Method co as uns | onsidered uitable | Total | |
|---|----------------------------------|-------------------------------------|---------------------|-------------------------------------|-------|-------------------------------------|
| | | Frequency of content units, % | | Frequency of content units, % | | Frequency of content units, % |
| national culture | 102 | 20.2 | 38 | 22.5 | 140 | 20.8 |
| students' professional activities | 182 | 36.0 | 72 | 42.6 | 254 | 37.7 |
| pedagogical practice and teaching experience | 221 | 43.8 | 59 | 34.9 | 280 | 41.5 |
| TOTAL | 505 | 100 | 169 | 100 | 674 | 100 |

The results of our theoretical analysis have led us to formulate hypothesis 1: professors are likely to evaluate interactive teaching methods by the following specific strategies of strengthening national identity. If hypothesis 1 had been confirmed, the factor "national context" would have been shown to dominate in relation to other factors such as "professional environment of adult students" and "pedagogical practice". As Table 5 demonstrates, however, the dominant factor was "pedagogical practice" (41.5% of all units of content analysis). The factor "national context" (20.8%) ranked third after the factor "professional environment of adult students" (37.7%).

To test hypotheses 2, 3 and 4, we calculated choice frequencies and ranked the fourteen interactive methods. Table 6 shows method preferences expressed by the participants of our focus groups. The methods were ranked based on their popularity among the participants (see Table 6).

| Ranking | Method | Number of choices | % of choices | % of Errors | | | | |
|----------|------------------------|-------------------|--------------|-------------|--|--|--|--|
| position | | | | | | | | |
| 1 | Discussion | 26 | 96.3 | ±7,6 | | | | |
| 1 | Case study | 25 | 92.6 | ±10,6 | | | | |
| 1 | Mentoring | 25 | 92.6 | ±10,6 | | | | |
| 2 | Project-based learning | 24 | 88.9 | ±12,7 | | | | |
| 2 | Role-playing | 23 | 85.2 | ±14,3 | | | | |
| 2 | Workshops | 23 | 85.2 | ±14,3 | | | | |
| 2 | In-basket technique | 21 | 77.8 | ±16,8 | | | | |
| 2 | Internship | 21 | 77.8 | ±16,8 | | | | |
| 2 | Distance learning | 21 | 77.8 | ±16,8 | | | | |
| 2 | Buddying | 20 | 74.1 | ±17,7 | | | | |
| 2 | Rotation | 18 | 66.7 | ±19,0 | | | | |
| 2 | Coaching | 18 | 66.7 | ±19,0 | | | | |
| 3 | Shadowing | 10 | 37.0 | ±19,5 | | | | |
| 3 | Metaphorical role-play | 8 | 29.6 | ±18,4 | | | | |

Table 6. Choice of Methods by Focus Groups (27 people)

The determination of the confidence interval for the choice of teaching methods allowed us to distinguish three groups: 1 – the most preferred methods, 2 – the medium preferred, and 3 – the least preferred (Table 6).

According to hypothesis 2, such methods as buddying, discussion, role-playing and metaphorical role-play are likely to rank low due to the limitations associated with the national culture of Uzbekistan. As Table 6 illustrates, however, only shadowing and metaphorical role-play were rejected by the professors more actively than the other methods. Moreover, the method of discussion ranked at the top of the list.

According to hypothesis 3, experts are likely to attach greater significance to such methods as case study, in-basket technique and shadowing. This hypothesis was confirmed partially since only the case-study method ranked high while in-basket technique was in the middle of the ranking and shadowing occupied a low position. Finally, according to hypothesis 4, mentoring, coaching and workshops are likely to be seen as the most effective methods. As Table 6 shows, this hypothesis turned out to

be only partially correct since professors in our focus groups deemed mentoring and workshops as effective, but their preferences did not extend to coaching.

Discussion

Empirical data were collected with the help of focus groups, which consisted of professors training the civil service talent pool of Uzbekistan. The purpose of our study was to find out which factors influenced focus group participants' choices of interactive methods (the participants were given a list of 14 interactive methods). The first such factor was the influence of national context. This factor corresponded to our hypothesis that in their choices adult educators should take into account their national culture. Drawing from our theoretical analysis, we supposed that this factor would be prevalent in our participants' choices and preferences. The second factor we considered was associated with the characteristics of students as such. We called this factor "professional characteristics of students". The third factor was referred to as the "pedagogical practice professors are involved in and their teaching experience". We used cluster analysis to identify the clusters of criteria the participants of our focus groups mentioned in their responses. Content analysis has provided us with a better understanding of the reasoning behind our respondents' choices of methods. Thus, in our study we moved from the analysis of theoretical premises to building hypotheses and to statistical and content analysis of the collected data.

The theoretical analysis of the relationship between globalization trends, on the one hand, and the desire to preserve national identity and culture, on the other, has shown that in the case of Uzbekistan, the latter trend prevails. Therefore, we suggested that in their choice of teaching methods, Uzbek professors are oriented primarily towards the national context. The results of our empirical study, however, refuted this hypothesis.

All our hypotheses were confirmed only partially. We found that, apart from the national context, professors' choices are determined by their personal experience and the needs and characteristics of their students. Interestingly, both of these factors have a greater influence than the national context. In light of the above, the idea about the dominant role of traditionalism, especially among young people in Uzbekistan (Seitov, 2018), seems quite doubtful. It can be supposed that the results would be different if the sample consisted of rural schoolteachers.

Our study is theoretically relevant because it shows the influence of the following factors on the strategies professors use to adjust their teaching practices to the culture-specific characteristics of their audience. As the research makes clear, however, culture is not the only significant factor in the professors' choices; professors also take into account such factors as the characteristics and needs of their students, their own teaching experience and established pedagogical practices. In other words, in their choice of training methods, professors do not prioritize the connection between the national culture, values and identity alone; but instead consider other factors such as their own prior professional experience and the needs of their adult students. It can thus be concluded that Uzbek professors adopt a neutral position regarding the priority of national identity and culture in their teaching strategies (Sant & Hanley, 2018).

Limitations

Our study has several limitations worth noting. First, the research was limited by a relatively small sample size as the sample comprised 27 professors. Even though we conducted a detailed analysis of their responses and comments, a larger sample would be more representative, leading to stronger, more conclusive results.

The second limitation – the social desirability response bias – is connected to the respondents themselves. To minimize this limitation, we tried to provide a friendly, relaxed atmosphere for our focus group discussions, eliminating time pressure on the participants as much as we could. Nevertheless, since all the participants were experienced professors, enjoying a high social status, they could control their answers and shift them in the direction of what they felt to be more socially acceptable. Therefore, the possibility of bias cannot be fully eliminated as professors could be trying to project a more favourable image of themselves as modern, open-minded and cosmopolitan.

Finally, the third limitation was related to the translation of the participants' answers from Uzbek into Russian. In order to deal with this limitation, we used back translation of the answers from Russian into Uzbek to eliminate the inconsistencies and inadequacies in translation. For the purposes of this article, the answers were then translated into English.

Practical Implications

The results of this study reveal at least two possible practical applications: first, the analysis of evaluative comments made by professors shows, on the one hand, their interest in new teaching methods and practices and willingness to adopt them and, on the other, a lack of adequate access to cutting-edge methodology. Therefore, teacher training in Uzbekistan should be aimed at improving professors' methodological knowledge to keep them up to date with the latest global trends in this sphere. Second, as the participants of our focus groups observed, although traditional teaching methods share a number of aspects with mentoring and coaching, the former enjoy less popularity in the sphere of adult training than the latter. Thus, a thorough revision of conventional methods is required and they should be complemented with more up-to-date methods, which will lead to mutual enrichment between strong and unique Uzbek national educational traditions and contemporary international trends.

Avenue for Future Research

Some responses we received from focus group participants were not considered in the analysis since they addressed the questions outside of the scope of this paper. For example, some professors expressed regret that traditional, "tried and tested" teaching methods were being replaced by others and no longer used that much. Another interesting observation was that experienced professionals are often wary of becoming mentors, fearing that students may become their rivals in the future. We believe that this phenomenon requires a separate study focusing on the mentor-mentee relationship and its development over a period of several years.

Conclusion

The results of our study do not support the hypothesis that the national context is a crucial factor in Uzbek teachers' choices of interactive methods, which are widely applied in international teaching practice. Moreover, the factor "national context" ranked third (last) in the group of factors shaping the professors' choices of this or that interactive method, with the professional needs and characteristics of adult students at the top of the list followed by the professors' own pedagogical experience. Thus, as our study has shown, even though culture-related considerations play a certain role in the process of adult education, they are not the most important. The problem of integrating international teaching practices into the national cultural context can be addressed by expanding the range of criteria for evaluation of teaching methods as applicable or inapplicable. These criteria include certain aspects of the particular occupations for which training aims to prepare people and specific aspects of the corresponding teaching practices.

References

Aban'kina, M.D., & Medvedeva, A.V. (2017). Sovremennye metody obuchenia kadrovogo reserva kompanii [Modern methods of training a talent pool of a company]. *Novoe pokolenie*, 13, 179–183.

Abdukakhkharova, G.A. (2017). Formirovanie etnopsikhologicheskikh osobennostej uchitelya uzbekskoj shkoly [Formation of the ethno-psychological characteristics of an Uzbek schoolteacher]. *International Scientific and Practical Conference "World Science"*, 4(20), 36–38.

Adams, L. (2004). Cultural Elites in Uzbekistan: Ideological Production and the State. In P.J. Luong (Ed.), *The Transformation of Central Asia: States and Societies from Soviet Rule to Independence* (pp. 93–119). Ithaca; London: Cornell University Press. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/10.7591/j.ctv3s8mhm.8

Azizkhodzhaeva, N.N. (2009). Innovatsii v reformirovanii nepreryvnogo obrazovaniya respubliki Uzbekistan [Innovation in the reform of continuing education in the Republic of Uzbekistan]. *Vestnik of Pushkin Leningrad State University*, 1 (Pedagogy), 85–99.

Babić, A., Vukmirović, S., & Capko, Z. (2015). Role of Information and Communication Technology in Lifelong Learning for Employees in Public Administration. *Economy of Eastern Croatia Yesterday, Today, Tomorrow*, 4, 222–231.

Bekmurodov, M. (2004). *Uzbek mentaliteti* [Uzbek mentality]. Tashkent: Yangi asr avlodi.

Corder, N. (2008). *Learning to Teach Adults: An Introduction* (2nd ed.). London: Routledge. DOI: <u>10.4324/9780203935941</u>

Farmanova, B.A. (2019). Strategicheskij ryvok Uzbekistana: novyj etap dinamichnogo razvitiya [Strategic leap of Uzbekistan: a new stage of dynamic

development]. Bulletin of Science and Practice, 5(4), 532–537. DOI: <u>10.33619/2414-</u> 2948/41/80

Finke, P. (2014). Variations on Uzbek Identity: Strategic Choices, Cognitive Schemas and Political Constraints in Identification Processes. New York and Oxford: Berghahn Books. Retrieved from www.jstor.org/stable/j.ctt9qck24

Hand, M., & Pearce, J. (2009) Patriotism in British Schools: Principles, Practices and Press Hysteria. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *41*(4), 453–465. DOI: 10.1111/j.1469-5812.2009.00528.x

Kelly, J. (2017). Professional Learning and Adult Learning Theory: A Connection. *Northwest Journal of Teacher Education*, *12*(2), 1–15. DOI: <u>10.15760/nwjte.2017.12.2.4</u>

Magroupov, A. Yu. (2019). Chelovecheskij kapital – glavnyj faktor innovatsionnogo razvitia Respubliki Uzbekistan [Human capital is the main factor of innovative development of the republic of Uzbekistan]. *Vestnik nauki i obrazovania*, *11*(65), Part 1, 64–70.

Makarova, G. V. (2014). Metody formirovania i podgotovki reserva upravlencheskikh kadrov v regione [Methods of forming and education of reserve of the managerial personnel in the region]. *Central Russian Journal of Social Sciences, 2*(32), 54–57.

Malikova, G. R. (2018). Problemy i puti povysheniya prestizha i effektivnosti sistemy professionalnoy gosudarstvennoy sluzhby v Uzbekistane [Problems and ways for improving the prestige and efficiency of the professional state service system in Uzbekistan]. *Journal of Foreign Legislation and Comparative Law*, *5*(72), 52–56. DOI: 10.12737/art.2018.5.8

Marin, M.J.S., Lima, E.F.G., Paviotti, A.B., Matsuyama, D.T., da Silva, L.K.D., Gonzalez, C., Druzian, S., & Ilias, M. (2010). Strengths and weaknesses in the use of active learning methods. *Revista Brasileira de Educação Médica*, *34*(1), 13–20. DOI: 10.1590/S0100-55022010000100003

Maylor, U. (2016). 'I'd worry about how to teach it': British values in English classrooms. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, *42*(3), 314–328. DOI: 10.1080/02607476.2016.1184462

Muminov, A. (2017). Makhalla as the Center and the Conductor of Socio-political Development in Uzbekistan. *ISJ Theoretical & Applied Science*, *04*(48), 103–107. DOI: <u>10.15863/TAS.2017.04.48.17</u>

Ne'matov Zh. A., & Enikeeva A. G. (2016). Ekonomicheskoe stimulirovanie rabotodatelej v sozdanii bezopasnykh uslovij truda na predpriyatiakh malogo biznesa [Economic stimulation of employers in creating safe working conditions in small business enterprises]. In *Proceedings of the III International conference "Dialogue of sciences in the XXI century"* (pp. 84–87). Ufa: Research Centre of Information and Legal Technologies.

Panina, T.S., & Vavilova, L.N. (2007). Interaktivnoe obuchenie. [Interactive learning]. *Obrazovanie i nauka*, 6, 32–41.

Peterson, A., Durrant, I., & Bentley, B. (2015). Student Teachers' Perceptions of Their Role as Civic Educators: Evidence from a Large Higher Education Institution in England. *British Educational Research Journal*, *41*(2), 343–364. DOI: 10.1002/berj.3141

Roach, T. (2014). Student Perceptions Toward Flipped Learning: New Methods to Increase Interaction and Active Learning in Economics. *International Review of Economics Education*, 17, 74–84.

Sant, E., & Hanley, C. (2018). Political Assumptions Underlying Pedagogies of National Education: The Case of Student Teachers Teaching 'British Values' in England. *British Educational Research Journal*, 44(2), 319–337. DOI: <u>10.1002/berj.3331</u>

Seitov, A. (2018). Zhiznennye ustanovki molodezhi Uzbekistana [Life orientations of the youth of Uzbekistan]. *Bulletin of Science and Practice*, *4*(11), 467–475. DOI: 10.5281/zenodo.1488423

Senashenko, V. S., & Marushina, M. K. (2018). Delovaya igra v korporativnom obuchenii kak effektivnyj metod razvitiya kompetentsij rukovoditelej [The business simulation game in corporate training as an effective method of manager competency development]. *Sovremennoe obrazovanie*, 3, 94–108. DOI: 10.25136/2409-8736.2018.3.27318

Settles, B. (2009). Active Learning Literature Survey. *University of Wisconsin-Madison Department of Computer Sciences*. Retrieved from http://digital.library.wisc. edu/1793/60660

Shen, P., Xue, S., & Zhu, L. (2016). The Characteristics and Methods of Adult Learners. In *Proceedings of the 2016 2nd International Conference on Social Science and Higher Education*. Paris: Atlantis Press. DOI: <u>10.2991/icsshe-16.2016.27</u>

Shubina, O.A. (2017). Metody obucheniya kadrovogo reserva [Methods of training a talent pool]. In *Proceedings of the International Conference "Sotsiokulturnye faktory konsolidatsii sovremennogo rossijskogo obshchestva"* [Socio-cultural factors of consolidation in contemporary Russian society], Penza (pp. 158–161).

Siddikov, R.B. (2019). Tolerantnost' – vazhnoe napravlenie v obrazovatelnoj politike Respubliki Uzbekistan [Tolerance as an important area in the education policy of the Republic of Uzbekistan]. *Problems of Modern Science and Education*, *1*(134), 45–49. DOI: 10.20861/2304-2338-2019-134

Smith, S.P. (2017). Adult Learners: Effective Training Methods. *Professional Safety*, *62*(12), 22–25.

Ubaydullayeva, B.M. (2018). Rol' i status otsov v uzbekskikh sem'yakh [The role and status of fathers in Uzbek families]. *Historical Ethnology*, 2, 198–208. DOI: 10.22378/he.2018-3-2.198-208

Urinboyev, R., & Svensson, M. (2018). Corruption, Social Norms and Everyday Life in Uzbekistan. In I. Kubbe, A. Engelbert (Eds.), *Corruption and Norms: Why Informal Rules Matter* (pp. 187–210). Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-66254-1_10

Welter, F., Smallbone, D., Mirzakhalikova, D., Schakirova, N. Ju., & Maksudova, Ch. (2006). Women Entrepreneurs Between Tradition and Modernity – The Case of Uzbekistan. In F. Welter, D. Smallbone, N. B. Isakova (Eds.), *Enterprising Women in Transition Economies* (pp. 45–66). New York: Ashgate.

Wuestewald, T. (2016). Adult Learning in Executive Development Programs. *Adult Learning*, *27*(2), 68–75. DOI: <u>10.1177/1045159515602256</u>

Yuldasheva, F. Kh. (2018). Osobennosti dukhovnosti v kontekste globalizatsii [Peculiarities of spirituality in the context of globalization]. *Symbol of science*, 6, 75–79.

Yurevich, A.V. (2013). Strukturnye elementy natsionalnogo mentaliteta [The structural elements of national mentality]. *Psikhologicheskie issledovaniya*, *6*(29). Retrieved from: http://psystudy.ru/index.php/num/2013v6n29/837-yurevich29.html



ARTICLE

Factors Influencing Nurses' Decision to Join a Professional Association in Russia

Natalia A. Akimova, Elena N. Medvedeva Saratov State Medical University, Saratov, Russia

ABSTRACT

Many professional associations of nurses in Russia and other countries struggle to increase their membership. Even though there are obvious advantages of membership in a professional organization, many people decide against it, which makes the study of factors that affect their decision-making a pertinent task.

The aim of our research is to study the factors of membership or nonmembership of nurses in professional organizations in Russia. We conducted semi-structured interviews among nurses in different Russian regions (N = 16). Their responses were analyzed by qualitative content analysis. We identified the main factors that determine nurses' membership or non-membership in professional associations and distinguished between objective and subjective reasons as well as active or passive attitudes demonstrated by our respondents in this regard.

The conclusion is made that nurses often adopt a "formal" approach to membership in professional associations, seeing it primarily as a certification requirement. This means that their interests may not coincide with the goals and mission declared by these associations in their charters. Some respondents, however, demonstrated a more active attitude, pointing out such reasons for membership as professional growth, opportunities for advanced training, socialization, exchange of ideas and so on.

KEYWORDS

nursing, motivation, professional organizations, nurse, membership, qualitative content analysis

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was supported by the Russian Fund of Federal Property, project No. 18-013-01154A.

Received 26 October 2019 Accepted 21 June 2020 Published online 9 July 2020 © 2020 Natalia A. Akimova, Elena N. Medvedeva not@bk.ru fargonom@mail.ru

Introduction

Professional culture based on shared beliefs and values is crucial to any profession. Professional organizations are important elements of civil society and provide collective protection of the interests of their members. In our study, we are going to focus on professional associations of nurses in Russia and their role in the life of the nursing community.

The first professional nursing organization appeared in the USA: it was the American Society of Superintendents of Educational Institutions for Nurses, founded in 1893 (later renamed as the National League of Nurses). In 1896, the second nursing organization was founded – the Associated Graduates of Trained Nurses in the United States and Canada, which later became the American Nurses Association (ANA). Professional nursing associations went global in 1899, when the International Council of Nurses appeared, which was the first international professional nursing organization. There are currently more than 100 national professional organizations all over the world and their number is steadily growing (Matthews, 2012). Together, they have a significant impact on the healthcare sector by tackling various professional, political, regulatory, clinical and educational issues.

There is vast research literature on the work of health care professionals that demonstrates that professional associations provide their members with numerous benefits, including mentoring, continuing education opportunities, leadership development and professional development prospects (DeLeskey, 2003; Esmaeili et al., 2013; Greggs-McQuilkin, 2005; Goolsby & DuBois, 2017; Wynd, 2003). In addition, researchers have drawn attention to the relationship between an employee's membership in a professional association and the level of their professionalism (Hall, 1982; Wynd, 2003). It was shown that professional associations help health care professionals improve their competencies and ensure continuous improvement of their professional skills (Bruhn, 2001).

Wynd (2003) studied nursing professionalism by using Hall's Professionalism Inventory Scale (Hall, 1982) and found that professionals tend to adhere to the concepts of faith in public service, the right to self-government, faith in selfregulation, and a sense of vocation. Moreover, compared to those professionals who do not belong to professional associations, their members demonstrate significantly higher levels of professionalism (competence, integrity, etc.) (Wynd, 2003). Wynd's work highlights the importance of professional membership for retaining qualified and dedicated nurses and for ensuring the overall efficiency of a medical institution. Membership in professional organizations contributes greatly to the development of medical practitioners (American Nurses Association, 2016). Professional organizations disseminate information and create evidence-based professional standards that enable nurses to be informed and educated. The opinions of deans, teachers, supervisors and fellow students play an important role in nursing graduates' decision to join a professional association (Bailey, 1987). Nurses who continued their education and joined professional organizations in most cases were able to make their own decisions regarding the patient's treatment and participated in solving problems related to the organization of work in a medical institution (Haley-Andrews & Winch, 2001).

Despite numerous advantages of membership in professional associations, not all medical practitioners are keen on joining them (DeLeskey, 2003; Esmaeili et al., 2013; Goolsby & DuBois, 2017; White & Olson, 2004). 50 percent of registered nurses who were not members of a professional organization cited high membership fees and inconvenient location or meeting times as reasons for not joining or leaving the organization (DeLeskey, 2003). DeLeskey showed that nurses unsubscribed from membership because they did not feel that the benefits they received covered the cost of their membership in the organization. Exchange theory (Alotaibi, 2007; DeLeskey, 2003; Esmaeili et al., 2013; Walton, 2017) has been used as a theoretical and methodological basis for understanding why health workers do not join professional associations. The advantages of membership in a professional association are often compared against its cost. Yeager & Kline (1983) developed the Professional Association Membership Questionnaire (PAMQ), which is now widely used to identify factors that contribute to employees' decision to join a professional association. PAMQ helps determine the factors that influence nurses' decisions and to identify the most important ones, including continuing education, professional development and leadership development, networking, mentoring and professional development. The most common barriers are the lack of time, cost of membership and family responsibilities (DeLeskey, 2003; Esmaeili et al., 2013; White & Olson, 2004).

Professional organizations can create positive social change by improving the quality of medical services. They provide medical professionals with opportunities for enhancing their expertise through continuing education and professional development (Esmaeili et al., 2013). Professional organizations help nurses expand their powers and exercise their professional rights. Kung and Lugo (2015) found that participation in professional organizations, knowledge of legislation and political processes were important predictors of nurses' political participation in the development and decision-making process of a health system reform. Dollinger (2000) notes that professional organizations provide healthcare professionals with opportunities to discuss and develop standards, share experiences, and create a platform for enhancing professional relevance.

In Russia, professional associations of nurses have appeared relatively recently. The Russian Nurses Association (RNA), which is now the largest professional association of this kind in the country, was established in 1992. The second organization uniting nurses of a certain specialization – The Transregional Public Organization of Scrub Nurses (RSNA) – was set up in 2001. In addition, in 2010, the Department of Nursing Management and Social Work of the Faculty of Higher Nursing Education and Psychological and Social Work of the I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University established a non-profit partnership called "Association of Specialists with University-Level Nursery Education". In 2015, the association of organizations supporting specialists with higher and secondary nursing education and pharmaceutical education founded the Union of Medical Professional Organizations

(MPOU), which is currently the youngest and the most active professional organization of nurses and pharmacists. Only legal entities can be members of the MPOU; it comprises regional organizations of medical workers, including nurses, from 24 regions of Russia.

There are practically no studies of professional nursing associations in Russia. We believe that one of the reasons behind the apparent lack of academic attention to this question is that the institution of professional associations as such is not sufficiently developed in Russia. In this paper, we are going to address this research gap.

Research Methodology

For our study, we interviewed 16 professional nurses from different Russian cities. We selected respondents from the regions where RNA's offices had more than 2,000 members. To this end, we used the list on the association's official website1. Another important criterion was the number and density of the population in cities and regions. According to the RNA's website, it has most members in the central part of the country (Central Federal District) as well as in other large regions - the Southern, North-Western, Ural, Siberian and Volga Federal Districts. Thus, we considered Moscow region (8,000 RNA members), Bryansk region (5,189 RNA members), Kursk region (4,981 RNA members) and Voronezh region in the Central Federal District (13,448 RNA members); Saint Petersburg in the North-Western Federal District (2,902 RNA members); Rostov region (4,200 RNA members), Astrakhan region (6.700 RNA members) and Volgograd region (5,820 RNA members) in the Southern Federal District; Kemerovo region (12,159 RNA members) and Omsk region (15,924 RNA members) in the Siberian Federal District; Tyumen region in the Ural Federal District (7,236 RNA members); and the Mari-El Republic in the Volga Federal District (3,853 RNA members).

In total, 16 experts were interviewed: two representatives from each region (Moscow, St. Petersburg, Voronezh region, Rostov region, Volgograd region, Kemerovo region, Tyumen region, Mari-El Republic) with at least five years of nursing experience. The median work experience of our respondents was 18 years (from 7 to 37 years). The median age of nurses was 42 (from 27 to 56). All participants in the study were women. They work in different hospital units and medical organizations, such as TB care, intensive case, reception, physiotherapy unit, and so on. However, the data on the respondents' medical specialization were not taken into account when analyzing their responses due to the fact that there are no professional nursing associations for nurses of a certain specialization in Russia.

At the first stage, this study used the semi-structured interview method; at the second stage, the data were analyzed by applying the qualitative content analysis method.

Since not all of our respondents were affiliated with the RNA or a similar organization, we included two options in our interview guide: for those respondents who

1 https://medsestre.ru/regions

were members of a professional organization and for those who weren't. Respondents were then divided into two subgroups for subsequent analysis (N = 16, $n_1 = 9$, $n_2 = 7$).

For those respondents who were non-members of a professional association, we included two questions in the interview: questions about the conditions and factors that influenced their non-membership in an association and about their awareness of the activities of professional associations. For those respondents who were members of an association, there were three questions: concerning the factors that influenced their decision to join an association; the role of associations in their personal life and work; and their personal interest in activities of professional associations (see Appendix 1). In addition, the structure of each interview guide included questions related to respondents' gender, age, work experience, place of work, medical specialization, and education.

The data were interpreted by applying the qualitative content analysis, based on the "infrequent model of text content" (Pashinyan, 2012). In other words, the analysis focuses only on those elements of the text content that serve as indicators for the interpretation of meanings and correspond to a certain category of content. In this paper, the method of qualitative content analysis is based on an inductive approach similar to the one applied by Elo and Kyngäs (2008) in processing the data of their interviews with nurses. The key feature of this method is that the text is divided into several smaller categories. While preparing for data interpretation, we selected units of analysis, specific topics and categories. The next step is to organize high-quality data through open coding, which means highlighting the main categories (or titles) during the reading of communication texts (in our case, interviews). Then, in accordance with the induction categories, headers of a higher order are identified, which helps us reveal the relationship between the data, identify various subgroups of categories and describe their values.

The transcribed interviews that were the units for content analysis were assigned identification numbers in accordance with the division of the respondents' responses into two subgroups. We compiled a general categorical matrix based on five main topics for analysis and discussion of the received material (see Table 1).

| Subgroups | Reaso | ons for members | Awareness scale | |
|-------------------|------------|---------------------|-----------------------------|------|
| Members of a | Subjective | Active position | a) Obligatory participation | 3 |
| professional | | Passive position | b) Voluntary participation | 1; 2 |
| association | | | | |
| Non-members | Objective | c) Activity/passivi | | |
| of a professional | Subjective | Active position | d) Professional agnosticism | |
| association | | Passive position | e) Personal indifference | 0 |

| | Tabl | le 1. | Cate | gorical | Matrix |
|--|------|-------|------|---------|--------|
|--|------|-------|------|---------|--------|

As far reasons for membership or non-membership in professional organizations is concerned, we distinguish between obligatory and voluntary participation. Voluntary participation corresponds to such personal motives as as obtaining professional knowledge, professional mobility and similar. Obligatory participation includes such reasons as confirmation of qualifications, membership required due to one's senior position. There are also objective and subjective reasons: the former include, for example, absence of a professional association in one's region or one's lack of awareness of such associations. Subjective reasons may vary: for example, professional agnosticism is characteristic of non-members and correlates with an active attitude and skepticism about professional associations' efficiency; personal indifference is also characteristic of non-members but is based on a passive attitude and the lack of personal interest. We have also used the following 4-point awareness scale: from "0" denoting a complete lack of awareness to "3" corresponding to full "insider" knowledge of a professional association's activities (for members).

Our respondents were divided into two subgroups corresponding to their participation or non-participation in a professional association. The reasons that influenced their opinions of professional associations could be objective or subjective, which, in their turn, were related to active researchers identified the main reasons that influenced the assessment of professional associations by informants. These reasons are most commonly determined by objective or subjective factors, which in turn is associated with the active or passive position of the respondents themselves. Positions of activity or passivity are expressed in certain personal practices in relation to professional associations, and depend on the level of awareness of nurses.

This study complies with ethical requirements for high-quality sociological methods. All potential respondents received verbal and written information about the research being conducted; voluntary participation in the study was emphasized. In addition, confidentiality was kept; in particular, all names were removed from the transcripts of the interview; the interviews got their identification numbers. The results are presented in such a way that it is impossible to identify participants by their specific statements. Audio recordings and transcripts of interviews are available only to the researchers.

Results

The length of an interview ranged from 37 to 49 minutes, with the average length of 42 minutes. In total, we identified five main topics, two of them for the first subgroup and three for the second subgroup (Table 2).

| Topics for discussion for the | (1) Reasons (factors) for non-membership |
|-------------------------------|---|
| first subgroup | (2) Awareness of the activities of medical associations |
| Topics for discussion for the | (1) Reasons (factors) for membership |
| second subgroup | (2) The role of professional associations in the nurses' work |
| | (3) Assessment of the nurses' interest in the activities of a |
| | professional association (obligatory or voluntary membership) |

| Τá | able | 2. | Kev | Interview | Topics |
|----|------|----|-----|-----------|--------|
|----|------|----|-----|-----------|--------|

Response Analysis of the First Subgroup (Non-Members)

1. Reasons for non-membership in a professional association

In this section, we are going to discuss the factors and conditions that influence nurses' decision not to join a professional association.

The first reason cited by our respondents was the lack of personal professional need or interest:

Well, I heard something about it but somehow I never got around to looking into this topic properly (nurse working in TB care, 33 y.o., 9 years of experience).

Another reason behind unwillingness of some Russian nurses to join professional associations was the relatively short history of such associations in Russia or their absence in some regions:

Because it has just appeared, and the organization has not yet recruited members (nurse working at hospital reception, 38 y.o., 15 years of experience).

The third factor is our respondents' skepticism about the efficiency of professional association and its inability to help their members to achieve their personal professional goals:

I do not see any prospects for myself in the future. (...) I can't say that my colleagues are happy with their work. Many of them have already left associations, some are only planning since they've received nothing. It is only annual membership fees and empty talks (nurse working in TB care, 44 y.o., 22 years of experience).

2. Nurses' awareness of the activities of medical associations

In general, when being asked about the nature of the activities of professional medical associations, many respondents demonstrated either a total lack of awareness or only a superficial knowledge thereof. Some nurses pointed out that professional associations fail to meet their expectations regarding the functions such organizations should perform:

Creating opportunities for development of the medical staff; organization of training and conferences; assistance in professional growth (nurse working at hospital reception, 38 y.o., 15 years of experience);

Yes, of course, they greatly facilitate the solution of many problems and tasks that medical personnel face in their professional activities. ... Professional associations in my town do not provide support for their members (nurse working in TB care, 44 y.o., 22 years of experience).

Response Analysis of the Second Subgroup (Members)

1. Reasons for membership in a professional association

On average, those nurses who answered affirmatively to the question about their membership in a professional association have been affiliated with various regional associations for 3–6 years. The main reasons for membership include access to knowledge; confirmation of their qualifications and professional skills; and upward professional mobility. Such factors as protection and development of nursing in the region were cited much less frequently:

To pass the accreditation at work, you need to score a certain number of points. Participation in activities of a professional association contribute to the accumulation of points for promotion or serve as confirmation of qualifications (chief nurse of a private multi-purpose clinic, 47 y.o., 25 years of experience);

The main reasons are the opportunities for professional development, for obtaining new information (...) for gaining practical knowledge. They hold various conferences at the regional level, there are online conferences, training seminars, which is very useful and relevant. They also support participation in professional contests (...), and they share their first-hand knowledge. (...) And membership fees (...) are spent on the development of nursing in this region; they also help in difficult life situations, in conflict situations directly with the employer who provides protection (senior nurse of the physiotherapy department, 53 y.o., 32 years of experience).

It should be noted that some respondents indicated that for some nurses their membership in professional association was more an obligation rather than a voluntary impulse. For senior and chief nurses, membership in a professional association is determined by their job responsibilities and status:

In our area, all chief nurses are members of the association (chief nurse of a private clinic, 56 y.o., 37 years of experience).

Nurses noted that in practice, what professional associations offered was in line with their personal expectations. Those respondents for whom confirmation of their qualifications was an important factor pointed out that their membership in a professional organization helped them raise their social status:

I guess, yes. They have a charter, everything is spelled out, what are the pros and cons. It is also publicly available. In our country, the head of this association is the chief nurse of the region (...), there are very competent people who can give advice, if something is not clear, discuss some orders, or something else, that is, from the professional point of view, they support you very well (senior nurse of a physiotherapy unit, 53 y.o., 32 years of experience).

2. The role of professional associations in nurses' daily practices

Nurses' decision to join a professional association often depends on their opinions about the role such associations play in everyday life of the professional nursing community, including the lives of respondents themselves. Nurses pay attention to such functions of professional associations as training and exchange of experience, support in professional growth, communication platform, and, in some cases, financial support:

They gather us every month, conduct training in different fields, talk about innovations in medical education. They also congratulate us on professional holidays. They also hold large educational events, a lot of people come there: students, doctors and medical staff, but this happens just several times a year. *They gather chief nurses for conferences on a monthly basis* (chief nurse of a private clinic, 56 y.o., 37 years of experience).

All respondents in this group agreed that professional associations not only contributed to their personal success but also to the general prestige of the profession: *Yes, professional contests prove it.* (...) *But then again, if you are constantly advancing in your profession, only [then] the association can help you with something, promote and support you* (senior nurse working in intensive care, 45 y.o., 25 years of experience).

Respondents, however, also observed that in their daily work they did not face the need to contact a professional association in order to protect the rights of workers: *No, we didn't have it; there was no need to contact the association* (nurse working in a laboratory, 27 y.o., 7 years of experience).

3. Nurses' interest in activities of a professional association

A sign of respondents' interest in the activities of professional associations can be their willingness to participate in the events organized by such associations. Our respondents mentioned that they took part in scientific, educational and qualification activities that raised their status in the profession. In other words, respondents of the second subgroup, considered membership in a professional association as an essential practical component of their work:

Yes, I take part in such events. For example, (...) the annual conference 'Sanitary Autumn', it is held both for doctors and nurses. There are different sections there, and I participate in it every year (senior nurse of a physiotherapy unit, 53 y.o., 32 years of experience).

All nurses of this subgroup answered affirmatively to the question about membership, explaining this by the need for continuing education, obtaining relevant medical information and professional development:

The association is very active in organizing events, contests, and it provides information, so it has a developed structure (senior nurse working in intensive care, 45 y.o., 25 years of experience).

Some respondents pointed out the importance of leadership skills in raising nurses' awareness of the activities of professional associations. In some regional offices, apart from the members who were obliged to participate as a part of their duties as a senior or head nurse, there were also active members who participated on their own accord:

You know, some people say: 'Where is my money? I don't see what I get in return', but that doesn't mean that everyone is like that. (...) You understand, leadership qualities are needed here, that's how one gets by in this profession. (...) Personnel, nurse leaders who can show by personal example what is really necessary at this stage. (...) It's not only the head nurses that are members, no.

So, in 2014, I invited 60 people, I have their applications. We just need to speak more about it, the information should be accessible to people (chief nurse of a multi-purpose private clinic, 47 y.o., 25 years of experience).

Discussion and Conclusions

The lack of nursing associations in many Russian regions is connected with the paradoxical situation in the country's health care management. On the one hand, the existence of public associations and their active work in Russia shows the professional community's desire to transition to the public management model in the healthcare sector; on the other hand, the above-mentioned management model is a relatively new phenomenon in this country. The Federal Law of the Russian Federation No. 315-FZ *"O samoreguliruemyh organizacijah"* ["On Self-Regulatory Organizations"] was adopted only in 2007. According to this law, a self-regulatory organization can develop and adopt standards and rules for professional activity, disciplinary measures, business ethics, that is, requirements for all members of this organization. The RNA's Charter published on the association's website makes a reference to this law (Russian Nurses Association [RNA], 2008, Clause 1.5). Thus, membership in a professional nursing association entails acknowledgement of the norms and rules stipulated by the Law and the Charter and thereby the consent to comply with them. The latter indicates a specialist's willingness to take responsibility.

The structure of regional nursing associations in Russia is extremely diverse: in some regions, this function is performed by associations of medical workers, in others – by regional branches of national public organizations, and in some regions there no professional associations at all. It should be noted that not all Russian regions have branches of medical and other professional organizations (Ivanova, 2013). Thus, even those nurses who are willing to join a professional organization may be not able to do so.

Other factors preventing nurses from joining professional organizations are the lack of interest or motivation as well as the lack of awareness of the activities and functions of such organizations. According to L. Rapp and P. Collins (1999), the lack of information about the goals and objectives of an association as well as the practical benefits of membership were often mentioned by nurses as important reasons for their decision not to join. Thus, broader information support in regions can be recommended as one of the strategies for attracting members into professional organizations. Studying the problem of membership in professional nursing organizations in Iran, M. Esmaeili et al. (2013) found out that the lack of motivation was one of the reasons for refusing membership as people didn't consider the organization's performance as efficient. Other reasons included the general lack of interest in profession and negative publicity of professional nursing organizations (Esmaeili, et al., 2013).

The factors contributing to the popularity of professional nurses associations can be quite diverse: starting from the formal obligations (chief and senior nurses are expected to be members of such organizations) and ending with personal interest and commitment to the organization's goals and mission. The need for certification and the support of nursing managers can be indicative of a rather formal and passive attitude of the respondents to membership. These factors, however, can play a serious role in people's decision to join an organization or leave it: a study of professional nurses communities in Kuwait has shown that people's decisions were often influenced by the policies initiated by senior managers of nurses in their workplaces (Alotaibi, 2007). The Order of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation No. 240n of April 23, 2013 "O poryadke i srokah prohozhdeniya medicinskimi rabotnikami i farmacevticheskimi rabotnikami attestacii dlya polucheniya kvalifikacionnoj kategorii" ["On the Procedure and Dates of Certification for Medical and Pharmaceutical Workers for a Qualification Category" specifies the evaluation criteria, which include participation in the work of a scientific society and professional association (Par. 24). Thus, nurses may decide to join a professional organization in order to improve their gualifications and pass the certification. The same Order states that the expert group's report should include the assessment of the specialist's theoretical knowledge and practical skills necessary to assign the declared qualification category, including knowledge of modern diagnostic and treatment methods, participation in the work of a scientific community and professional association; publications (Par. 24, Section III of the Order). The Order was amended in 2019 and it now specifies that the appointment of the chairman of a territorial certification committee should be agreed upon with a medical professional non-profit organization. Thus, the RNA is directly involved in the process of nurses' certification.

As active members of professional associations, nurses pay particular attention to professional development programs, prospects related to continuing professional education and the benefits of social interaction with other members of the organization. Membership in professional organizations provides opportunities for professional growth, for obtaining advanced training, exchanging new ideas and knowledge, learning about advanced achievements of medical science, and professional socialization. Professional organizations enable nurses to develop a sense of identity with their professional community. Indeed, real career prospects, opportunities for improving the qualification and skills contribute to the prestige of the profession in society – the latter, in turn, can affect the change in the public perception of the nursing profession and help retain the nursing staff.

In many countries, membership in professional organizations is associated with the protection of workplace rights. Such organizations assist nurses in demanding a pay increase, the reduction of working hours, improvement of the working conditions. They also promote professional independence, organize leisure activities, and arrange meetings with government officials and prominent public figures to express their professional concerns and legislative initiatives. Despite the fact that the RNA Charter mentions the protection of the rights and legitimate interests of medical personnel with secondary special and higher education specializing in nursing among its goals, there is no established practice of applying to public associations for protection of employees' rights in Russia. The development and discussion of professional standards is the main area related to the support of labor rights of medical personnel by professional associations. Our respondents noted that they were not aware of the cases when their colleagues applied to a professional organization for legal assistance or protection.

In its 2017 report, the RNA indicated the following areas of work: accreditation and development of continuing medical education; scientific and practical activities; public activities to improve public health literacy; development of professional standards; protection of professional interests and international cooperation. Protection of interests is described the following way: In 2017, The Russian Nurses Association conducted a continuous dialogue with the heads of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation and the Central Committee of the Trade Union of Health Workers of the Russian Federation concerning nurses and junior personnel salaries (Russian Nurses Association [RNA], 2017). We believe, however, that the legal protection of nurses' interests provided by this professional association is limited to counselling on certain legal aspects of labor activity. This situation is quite different from the practices of professional organizations in other countries, where members are provided with comprehensive legal protection, including representation in court.

The factors determining the decision of nurses concerning their membership in a professional association include objective and subjective factors; the latter correspond to respondents' active or passive attitude towards the activities of professional associations, regardless of their membership (subgroup of members and subgroup of non-members). Members of professional associations that demonstrate a passive attitude tend to view their membership as an opportunity to confirm their qualifications or as related to their job responsibilities (obligatory participation). Non-members demonstrating a passive attitude usually lack interest in public associations (personal indifference). Members of professional associations with an active attitude generally seek to acquire new knowledge and to improve their status (voluntary participation). Non-members demonstrating an active attitude are quite skeptical about the efficiency of professional associations (professional agnosticism).

The awareness of nurses of the functions and nature of work conducted by professional associations in Russia is of great importance. According to our study, nurses' degree of awareness ranges from the complete lack of knowledge to sufficient "insider" knowledge about the activities of such associations.

Based on the answers of some respondents, it can be concluded that the professional associations exist only formally in the territories of certain regions, and they fail to fulfill the stated promises and functions mandatory for self-regulatory organizations.

Limitations

In this paper, the method of qualitative content analysis is used for interpreting the interview data. However, unlike the data used for quantitative content analysis, such content cannot always be clearly interpreted and the research results may be difficult to reproduce.

References

Alotaibi, M. (2007). Factors Affecting Nurses' Decisions to Join Their Professional Association. *International Nursing Review*, *54*(2), 160–165. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1466-7657.2007.00555.x</u>

American Nurses Association. (2016). *ANA Mission Statement*. Retrieved from https://www.nursingworld.org/ana/about-ana/

Bailey, P.A. (1987). Factors in Academia and Service That Influence Baccalaureate Graduates' Membership in the American Nurses' Association. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *26*(1), 25–29. DOI: <u>10.3928/0148-4834-19870101-07</u>

Bruhn, J.G. (2001). Being Good and Doing Good: The Culture of Professionalism in the Health Professions. *Health Care Manager*, *19*(4), 47–58. DOI: <u>10.1097/00126450-200119040-00008</u>

DeLeskey, K. (2003). Factors Affecting Nurses' Decisions to Join and Maintain Membership in Professional Associations. *Journal of PeriAnesthesia Nursing*, *18*(1), 8–17. DOI: <u>10.1053/jpan.2003.18030008</u>

Dollinger, M.L. (2000). Professional Associations: Ethics, Duty, and Power. *Journal of the New York State Nurses Association*, *31*(2), 28–30. Retrieved from http://76.12.69.209/images/pdfs/communications/journal/fl_wntr00.pdf#page=28

Elo, S., & Kyngäs, H. (2008). The Qualitative Content Analysis Process. *The Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 62(1), 107–115. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04569.x</u>

Esmaeili, M., Dehghan-Nayeri, N., & Negarandeh, R. (2013). Factors Impacting Membership and Non-Membership in Nursing Associations: A Qualitative Study. *Nursing & Health Science*, *15*(3), 265–272. DOI: <u>10.1111/nhs.12012</u>

Goolsby, M.J., & DuBois, J.C. (2017). Professional Organization Membership: Advancing the Nurse Practitioner Role. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, *29*(8), 434–440. DOI: <u>10.1002/2327-6924.12483</u>

Greggs-McQuilkin, D. (2005). Why Join a Professional Nursing Organization? *Nursing*, 35, 19. DOI: <u>10.1097/00152193-200509001-00006</u>

Haley-Andrews, S., & Winch, A. (2001). Mentoring, Membership in Professional Organizations, and the Pursuit of Excellence of Nursing. *Journal for Specialists in Pediatric Nursing*, *6*(3), 147–148. DOI: <u>10.1111/j.1744-6155.2001.tb00137.x</u>

Hall, R. H. (1982). The Professions, Employed Professionals, and the Professional Association. In *Professionalism and the Empowerment of Nursing: Papers presented at the 53rd convention* (pp. 1–15). Kansas City, MO: American Nurses Association Publications.

Ivanova, E. (2013). Rossiyskiye professionalnyye obyedineniya: statisty, strazhi stabilnosti ili provodniki obshchestvennogo razvitiya? [Russian Professional Associations: Sleeping Beauties, Guardians of Stability or Facilitators of Societal Development?]. *Voprosy Ekonomiki*, 11, 112–128. DOI: <u>10.32609/0042-8736-2013-11-112-128</u>

Kung, Y.M., & Lugo, N.R. (2015). Political Advocacy and Practice Barriers: A Survey of Florida APRNs. *Journal of the American Association of Nurse Practitioners*, *27*(3), 145–151. DOI: <u>10.1002/2327-6924.12142</u>

Matthews, J. H. (2012). Role of Professional Organizations in Advocating for the Nursing Profession. *The Online Journal of Issues in Nursing*, 17(1), manuscript 3. Retrieved from https://ojin.nursingworld.org/MainMenuCategories/ANAMarketplace/ ANAPeriodicals/OJIN/TableofContents/Vol-17-2012/No1-Jan-2012/Professional-Organizations-and-Advocating.html

O samoreguliruemyh organizacijah [On Self-Regulatory Organizations]. Federal Law of the Russian Federation No. 315-FZ (December 01, 2007, rev. on August 03, 2018). Retrieved from https://www.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?from=72967-0®=doc&base=LAW&n=304238&REFDOC=72967&REFBASE=LAW

O poryadke i srokah prohozhdeniya medicinskimi rabotnikami i farmacevticheskimi rabotnikami attestacii dlya polucheniya kvalifikacionnoj kategorii [On the Procedure and Dates of Certification for Medical and Pharmaceutical Workers for a Qualification Category]. The Order of the Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation No. 240n (April 23, 2013). Retrieved from https://www.consultant.ru/cons/cgi/online.cgi?req=doc&base=LAW&n=330496&fld=134

Pashinyan, I.A. (2012). Kontent-analiz kak metod issledovaniya: dostoinstva i ogranicheniya [Content Analysis as a Research Method: Advantages and Limitations]. *Nauchnaya periodika: problemy i resheniya*, *3*(9), 13–18. Retrieved from https://nppir.ru/PDF/02NP312.pdf

Rapp, L.A., & Collins, P.A. (1999). Reasons Why Nurses Do or Do Not Join Their Professional Organizations: A Research Study Done in New Hampshire. *Nursing News*, *49*(5), 1–8.

Russian Nurses Association. (2008). *Ustav* [Organization charter]. Retrieved from <u>https://medsestre.ru/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/ustav-rams.pdf</u>

Russian Nurses Association. (2017). *RNA report.* Retrieved from <u>http://</u> medsestre34.ru/assets/files/files/itog2017.pdf

Walton, K. R. (2017). *Barriers to Membership in a Professional Organization for Advanced Practice Nurses* (Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection). Minneapolis, MI: Walden University. Retrieved from <u>https://scholarworks.waldenu.</u> edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5287&context=dissertations

White, M.J., & Olson, R.S. (2004). Factors Affecting Membership in Specialty Nursing Organizations. *Rehabilitation Nursing*, *29*(4), 131–137. DOI: <u>10.1002/j.2048-7940.2004.tb00331.x</u>

Wynd, Ch. A. (2003). Current Factors Contributing to Professionalism in Nursing. *Journal of Professional Nursing*, 19(5), 251–261. DOI: <u>10.1016/s8755-7223(03)00104-2</u>

Yeager, S. J., & Kline, M. (1983). Professional Association Membership of Nurses: Factors Affecting Membership and the Decision to Join an Association. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 6(2), 45–52. DOI: <u>10.1002/nur.4770060203</u>

Appendix 1

Guide to the semi-structured interview (for respondents who are members of professional associations).

- 1. Are you a member of a professional association?
- 2. What professional medical association do you belong to?
- 3. How long have you been a member of a professional association?
- 4. What were your reasons for joining a professional association?
- 5. What were your expectations when joining a professional association?
- 6. What role does a professional association play in your life?

7. Have there been cases when a professional association managed to protect your rights or the rights of your colleagues?

8. Do professional associations help to enhance the prestige of nursing as a profession?

9. Have you participated in any events organized by a professional association?

10. Do you plan to renew your membership in a professional association in the future? Why or why not?

Changing Societies & Personalities, 2020 Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 205–219 http://dx.doi.org/10.15826/csp.2020.4.2.098



ARTICLE

Review of International Research on Ethical and Psychological Barriers to Reproductive Donation

Elvira E. Symaniuk Ural Federal University, Yekaterinburg, Russia

Irina G. Polyakova Ural Federal University, Yekaterinburg, Russia

Elena V. Kvashnina "Centre IVF-Partus", Yekaterinburg, Russia

ABSTRACT

This review examines the international research literature discussing the barriers for those considering the possibility of becoming donating sperm, eggs, or embryos or becoming surrogate mothers. While there is a significant body of research on donors' motivations, less attention is given to the reasons why potential donors decide not to donate or withdraw from donation procedures. Nevertheless, we have collected about 70 studies, including journal articles, book chapters and reports. Contemporary findings show that as much as there is no single motivation for reproductive donation, there is also no single barrier to it. The studies we considered deal with two salient themes. First, barriers to reproductive donation serve as a space for negotiation of a donor's beliefs, fears and perceived consequences of donation to themselves, the recipients and resulting offspring. Second, these barriers are a complex web of intersecting factors, influenced by secondary factors. This review reveals the limited nature of our current knowledge of barriers to reproductive donation. Indeed, research on this problem needs to catch up with research on motivation because obstacles to reproductive donation are no less important than the stimuli.

KEYWORDS

assisted reproductive technologies (ART); motivation of reproductive donation; motivational barriers; legal regulation of assisted reproduction

Received 24 January 2020 Accepted 19 June 2020 Published online 9 July 2020 © 2020 Elvira E. Symaniuk, Irina G. Polyakova, Elena V. Kvashnina e.e.symaniuk@urfu.ru, irinapolykova@yandex.ru doctor.kvashnina@gmail.com

Introduction

In the light of the rising number of infertility cases across the globe, reproductive donation has been the subject of extensive international interest in the past decade. This interest has been propelled by two main developments. First is the availability of technology for different types of donation such as sperm, eggs, and embryo donation, and surrogacy. Second is the growing need for ethical frameworks of legislation and medical practices in assisted reproductive technology (ART). Studies on reproductive donation have predominantly been aimed to identify the ways in which donors are motivated to donate; but less attention has been given to the reasons why potential donors may decide against it. To our knowledge, no systematic review of the literature on this topic has been done yet, especially the studies of the factors that hinder certain types of donation more than others.

This review focuses on the current body of knowledge on ethical and psychological barriers in reproductive donation. It is also aimed to provide insight into the specific differences in the barriers' characteristic of each type of reproductive donation. In our analysis, reproductive donation refers to donation of sperm, eggs, embryos and surrogate motherhood. Barriers are understood here as the factors that impede the initiation or continuation of the process of reproductive donation. These aspects are crucial because even though significant efforts have been made to improve the quality of reproductive donation, there are still potential donors who opt out of donation, which calls for a more in-depth consideration of decisionmaking in reproductive donation. This review can also be beneficial for professional ART organizations, in particular those engaged in recruitment of new donors. The results of this review are meant to provide useful information for medical and legal professionals as well as policy makers on reproductive health.

To this end, we collected materials written in English such as academic articles, book chapters and reports dealing with factors that deter potential donors from participating in reproductive donation. The reference search was conducted in 7 databases (EBSCOHost¹, ScienceDirect², Sage Journals³, PubMed Central⁴,ProQuest Central⁵, Scopus⁶, and JSTOR⁷), using the following terms alone and in combination: "motivation", "reproductive donation", "reproductive donors", "sperm donors", "sperm donation", "egg donors", "egg donors", "oocyte donors", "surrogates", "surrogacy", and "ethical aspects".

¹ https://www.ebsco.com/

² https://www.sciencedirect.com/

³ https://journals.sagepub.com/

⁴ <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/advanced/</u>

⁵ https://about.proquest.com/products-services/ProQuest_Central.html

⁶ https://www.scopus.com/home.uri

⁷ https://www.jstor.org/

The search was limited to articles published in scientific journals in English between years 1992 and 2018. To be included in the sample, materials had to include a description of ethical and psychological reasons why donors may be hesitant about participating in reproductive donation. Criteria used for exclusion include: date range, data on reproductive recipients alone, clinical research on gamete donation. However, articles containing information on donors' perception on reproductive donation were not excluded because data on why they did not donate can be considered as barriers to reproductive donation. After the materials were screened and checked for eligibility and all duplicates were removed, about 70 references were identified as fitting the inclusion criteria. These were quite diverse in focus and method, with some works covering reproductive donation in general rather than dealing exclusively with the barriers to reproductive gamete donation. This systematic review has some important limitations. First, it provides a comprehensive overview only of the research on ethical and psychological barriers to reproductive donation published in English; this implies that there may be also non-English publications describing other barriers. Second, we recognize that the references reviewed in this work do not comprise all information about donation barriers, and thus the information used in the discussion may not have been fully comprehensive. These limitations, however, are opportunities for further research.

Sperm Donation

Barriers to sperm donation provoke a lot of discussions as different countries face a number of ethical and psychological challenges in dealing with this sphere, such as donor recruitment, donor compensation, donor anonymity, contact with donorconceived offspring, etc. Psychological matters are usually related to donors' altruistic motives and their concerns about the well-being of the resulting children while ethical issues, to donors' anonymity, compensation, and contact with the resulting offspring (van den Broeck et al., 2013).

Ethical Barriers to Sperm Donation

Since matters of privacy are crucial for sperm donors, anonymity is an important consideration in donating. Some donors are ready to participate in the process only if they remain anonymous because this way they can avoid conflicts or tensions in their own families (Mohr, 2014). This becomes more relevant because of the global changes in regulations of anonymous donorship. For instance, Denmark allows anonymous sperm donation (Mohr & Koch, 2016), but there is an increasing number of countries that mandate the removal of donor anonymity and urge fertility banks to register all potential donors with necessary information (van den Broeck et al., 2013). Donors might consider this as a threat to their privacy since donor-conceived offspring will be able to trace and find their donors as well as half-siblings through these registries. There are also cases with courts mandating sperm banks to turn over a donor's medical records when there is a need to check his or her medical history to resolve some health issues of the offspring (Andrews & Elster,

1998). Therefore, it can be difficult both for donors and sperm banks to have control over anonymity, which can lead to the scarcity of sperm donors (Pennings, 2005). However, it is not much of a hindrance to donors if the release of information only includes non-identifying information, such as physical characteristics and the level of education (Godman et al., 2006). As such, in countries where anonymous donation is prohibited by law, donor anonymity is ensured through the informal settings, in which this procedure is carried out (Bossema et al., 2014).

There are also barriers related to the moral side of reproductive donation itself or to how it is practiced. Some potential donors hesitate to donate because of religious considerations about the unnaturalness of ART, which can be seen as a form of discreet eugenics (van den Broeck et al., 2013). Meanwhile, there is also a moral concern about ART disturbing the traditional bilineal kinship (Mohr, 2018). For instance, potential donors may not be willing to share their sperm with single/lesbian women and lesbian couples because they believe that a child should be raised by parents of both sexes (Ekerhovd & Faurskov, 2008).

Psychological Barriers to Sperm Donation

Donors may experience feelings of anxiety, insecurity and disgust concerning the process of donation. They may feel uneasy about having masturbatory ejaculation of semen in a sperm bank on moral grounds, which constitutes a "possible transgression of these boundaries for sperm donors" (Mohr, 2018, p. 139). Some may see the secretion of bodily fluids in plastic cups as inappropriate because this action is beyond their normative boundary (Mohr, 2016). Muslim men, in particular, experience conflicting attitudes to delivering semen samples in sperm clinics since masturbation promotes "guilty pleasures", especially when pornographic materials are offered in clinics (Inhorn, 2007). Interestingly, donors may also be anxious about the possibility of discovering a fertility problem of their own (Cook & Golombok, 1995).

Sperm donors may also feel anxious lest others should find out about their donorship (Schover et al., 1992; Shepherd et al., 2018). Anonymity may be particularly important when family issues are involved, which can serve as secondary barriers. While in some countries sperm donation between brothers is considered to be an acceptable intra-family situation (American Society for Reproductive Medicine [ASRM], 2017), anonymity is crucial for other forms of donation (brother-sister, father-daughter) because it can be classified as incest. This may prove to be a relevant dealbreaker for married heterosexual men since it can cause frictions in their relationships with their spouses and children (Riggs & Russell, 2011). The donor's partner and family members can react differently to the situation of donation. Therefore, in some cases, donors prefer not to inform their partners about their participation in the donor program while in other cases, donors, on the contrary, seek their partners' explicit approval (Lalos et al., 2003; Thorn et al., 2008). Thus, donors tend to be serious about the consequences of their donation both for themselves (van den Broeck et al., 2013), for their families, and for the future children. Each of these considerations can act as a barrier to donating (Bossema et al., 2012).

Egg Donation

An important theme in research literature on egg donation is donors' motivation to donate only for a specific segment of the population, which restricts the act of donation. In egg donation, barriers are mainly related to the process of donation and concerns about the welfare of the resulting offspring. Yet donors may also have other ethical and psychological reasons to opt out of the donation process.

Ethical Barriers to Egg Donation

There are two main ethical obligations that egg donors feel: towards the recipient women and towards the resulting children. First, while women might feel a moral obligation to share their eggs with infertile women (Blyth et al., 2011), this obligation can be restricted. Some donors would only donate if they are personally acquainted with the prospective recipients (Winter & Daniluk, 2004; Yee et al., 2011), which means that they may have reservations concerning donation to other recipients in need. Moreover, as much as some donors would be delighted to meet the resulting offspring, some might not be at ease about it. Second, donors might also feel morally obliged to ensure that the resulting offspring will be in good hands. Some donors feel that they are responsible to ensure the resulting child's emotional stability by being identified as his or her biological mother (Bracewell-Milnes et al., 2016). Therefore, they express the desire to obtain information about the recipients before donating in order to evaluate the kind of life the resulting offspring will have (Yee et al, 2011).

Interestingly, financial compensation is related to egg donors' perception of fairness (Partrick et al., 2001). Some donors would be unwilling to donate unless monetary compensation was provided (Ibid.), which can be corroborated by the fact that there are fewer egg donors from countries that prohibit commercial egg donation (Gezinski et al., 2016). There are statutory restrictions such as legal measures that limit donation of oocytes due to the risk of possible kinship in the future (ASRM, 2017). For instance, in Canada it is prohibited to share one's eggs and to engage in any commercial transactions of selling or buying oocytes (ASRM, 2017). Aside from ethical issues, religion also plays a part in potential donors' decision not to donate. For example, the dominance of Catholicism in Italy and Costa Rica currently makes their context very restrictive for reproductive donation. Likewise, Muslim countries are very strict in regulating gamete donation (Inhorn & Patrizio, 2012). Another factor that may be off-putting for potential egg donors is the mandatory lower age limit for those who want to be a donor with the goal of "ensuring donor maturity sufficient to understand the conditions of the procedure and make an informed decision" (ASRM, 2017, p. 5).

Psychological Barriers to Egg Donation

Fear and anxiety are crucial barriers to egg donation (Shepherd et al., 2018). Women may feel uncomfortable in the process of egg donation because of such medical procedures as injections and penetrations (Ibid.). Fear of the physical and psychological risks associated with oocyte donation also plays a role in potential donors' decision-making, especially when they are considering the implications of the procedure for their own reproductive health in the future (Kenney & McGowan, 2010; Yee et al., 2011). Furthermore, donors might have the fear of regret. For example, when the previous donation did not result in pregnancy, the donor may experience a feeling of disappointment that may deter her from donating again (Winter & Daniluk, 2004). Donors may also feel uncomfortable with the idea of having "unknown" offspring (Blyth et al., 2011). Some donors would only donate if their anonymity is guaranteed (Gürtin et al., 2012).

Embryo Donation

Unlike gametes, which are the biological sources of human reproduction, an embryo is not a raw resource but rather an outcome from an assisted union between gametes. As such, embryo donation is a multi-party decision, which can be a battle between donors themselves or donors against time. There are two purposes of embryo donation: for reproduction or research. Yet some couples choose to have their embryos destroyed. The general practice in embryo donation involves giving a written consent to freezing the embryos resulting from the IVF treatment. Couples are also expected to communicate their desire to donate or discard their frozen embryos before the expiration of the storage period (Svanberg et al., 2001).

Ethical Barriers to Embryo Donation

Ethical principles, such as perceiving embryo donation as "child relinquishment", play a part in donors' decision-making (de Lacey, 2005, p. 1661). In these cases, couples would choose to discard their embryos rather than donate them for research when the storage time has ended (Svanberg et al., 2001). Some donors view an embryo as a person/child and see the situation as an ethical dilemma. Donors who eventually became parents through successful IVF brood over the idea that their embryos-turn-child would be mistreated and decide that it is better to terminate their embryos than to open the likelihood of these embryos having a life different from what their genetic parents want them to have (de Lacey 2005). In another work of de Lacey (2007, p. 1757), it is shown that provisional donors and discarders differ in terms of their interpretation of embryos, that is, embryo donors relate more to the "metaphor of pregnancy termination" while those who discard embryos emphasize the adoption metaphor.

Couples may choose to discard an embryo even after they have given their initial agreement to donate it, at the final stage of agreement and after passing all the necessary procedures (Bangsbøll et al., 2004; Laruelle & Englert, 1995). Nachtigall et al. (2005) report that as many as 88 percent of the couples who had initially decided to donate their embryos to research reconsidered their decision later. When they decided to donate, they might have "supported ED in principle, but only a small subgroup would actively consider donation" (Newton et al., 2003, p. 27). This finding is consistent with the earlier studies that showed that more than a half of couples change their initial

intention to donate embryos to research (see Brinsden et al., 1995; Cooper, 1996; Hounshell & Chetkowski, 1996; Klock et al., 2001; Saunders et al., 1995).

Psychological Barriers to Embryo Donation

The option to delay the decision to donate serves as a psychological barrier to embryo donation because this option reinforces the "behavior in which individuals seek to avoid the responsibility of making a decision" (Anderson, 2003, p. 139). McMahon et al. (2003) report that 70 percent of participants intended to delay their decision on what to do with their embryos for as long as possible. In some cases, partners failed to reach a joint decision or forgot about the request (Provoost et al., 2001). Decision avoidance results in many embryos remaining in storage unclaimed or "lost to follow-up" (e.g. case in Canada, See Royal Commission on New Reproductive Technologies, 1993 cited in Cattapan & Baylis, 2016).

Decision avoidance (Anderson, 2003) intersects with the dual nature of embryo donors: a sperm donor and an egg donor. Deciding with another person is much more complicated than making an individual decision, and usially state regulations in clinics require the consent of the two donors. For instance, the Iranian Parliament passed a law stating that infertility centers can donate embryos to the infertile only after the permission is obtained from the donor couples (Alizadeh & Samani, 2014). Decision avoidance happens when some donor couples struggle with decision-making and find it difficult to reach a joint decision (Provoost et al., 2011), especially whether to donate or to discard their frozen embryos. Davis (2012, p. 386) observed that the possibility of a dispute within a couple led clinics "to require couples undergoing IVF to sign a cryopreservation consent or agreement to address the disposition of embryos in the case of divorce, death, or abandonment". In the US, for example, in the event of death or divorce, which prevents donor couples from using their embryos for conception, courts can decide which donor's interests must prevail (Sheinbach, 1999). For many couples, however, financial reasons meddle with their decision-making as keeping embryos in storage will inevitably incur more expenses (Davis, 2012). For example, the Advanced Fertility Center of Chicago charges \$800 for embryos to be cryogenically frozen and stored for one year, and a certain amount for each subsequent year⁸.

Surrogate Motherhood

Surrogacy is the most service-oriented type of reproductive donation. Compared to the transactions of sperm, oocyte or egg donors, the duration of the surrogate's involvement in the reproductive process is substantially greater and longer. Barriers to surrogacy are related to donors' trust in the recipients and fear of risks.

Ethical Barriers to Surrogate Motherhood

Most ethical concerns about surrogate motherhood are related to donors' religious views. For instance, in Islam, surrogacy is ethically problematic because a woman

⁸ http://www.advancedfertility.com/ivfprice.htm

becomes "impure" when she receives sperm from a man to whom she is not married (Inhorn, 2006). Muslim women believe that surrogacy can presumably be connected to ethical issues because it meddles with the sacredness of the husband-wife relationship (Lasker, 2015). While the idea of surrogate motherhood is gradually gaining acceptance among the Shiite population in Iran and a part of Iraq, Lebanon, Bahrain, Syria, Saudi Arabia, Afghanistan, Pakistan, and India (Abbasi-Shavazi et al., 2008), many might still not be comfortable with being a surrogate mother. Moreover, for some Christians, surrogacy may confuse the child's identity; obstruct the naturalness of procreation and child rearing (Lones, 2016).

In some cases, surrogates would only enter in a surrogacy arrangement with close relatives. Some may involve sister-sister (Kirkman & Kirkman, 2002) and mother-daughter (Brazier et al., 1997). Some potential surrogates fear that they will eventually develop affection for the gestated offspring (Agnafors, 2014; Larkey, 2003) and this may complicate the separation later on. However, if the surrogate knows the recipients, it will be easier to compartmentalize her feelings because her duty as a surrogate is clear.

Psychological Barriers to Surrogate Motherhood

Potential surrogate mothers have a common fear of having to regret their decision over time (Teman, 2008). Since potential surrogates need to feel sure of the people they are going to deal with, an initial negotiation is set (van den Akker, 2000). Agreements are based on trust arrangements (Edelmann, 2004). An important factor is whether a surrogate mother has already experienced a positive relationship with the trusted couple or not. Depending on this factor, she would want to make subsequent surrogacy arrangements in the future or not (Imrie & Jadva, 2014). However, in cases of mediated surrogacy, "surrogacy agencies choreograph the entire process, from matching of the surrogate and intended parents to administration and enforcement of contractual matters" (Holcomb & Byrn, 2010, p. 651). In this case, potential surrogates agree if they trust the agency involved.

Potential surrogates are also affected by the fear of hostility and humiliation from their families or friends (Jadva et al., 2003; Shenfield et al., 2005). The approval of their spouses may indirectly affect their decision to become a surrogate mother because a surrogate's husband must agree to abstain from sexual intercourse during the given period (Sama, 2012).

Conclusions

It is now evident that in so far as there is no single motivation for reproductive donation, there is also no single barrier to it. As the studies covered by this review have shown, there may be multiple barriers to reproductive donation related to each other. Barriers may overlap and can be influenced by secondary factors, which inform the donor's decision. Thus, a more comprehensive approach is necessary to the study of the psychological and ethical aspects of reproductive donation (Sandberg & Conner, 2008). The decision not to donate may be even more significant for donors

than the decision to do so. More importantly, the decision not to donate does not necessarily mean that potential donors are against reproductive donation as such. Donors' selectivity is based on what they think is best for themselves, the recipients and the resulting offspring. Moreover, as shown in this review, barriers to reproductive donation vary depending on the type of donation (reproductive material). For instance, some donors might be very picky regarding the sexuality of the recipient couple, their socio-economic status or even personality. Of particular interest in this review are instances when donors would rather not donate for the fear that their donation's costs will outweigh the benefits.

Barriers are often indicative of the fact that non-donation is not inaction. First, barriers remind donors of their expectations of themselves and the ways their bodies should be handled. Second, non-personal barriers show that potential donors are not isolated individuals and interact with other stakeholders in the field of reproductive donation. Barriers serve as a space for negotiation of a donor's beliefs, fears and perceived consequences of their donation to themselves, the recipients and resulting offspring.

This review has shown that research on the barriers to reproductive donation needs to catch up with the research on motivation because hindrances to reproductive donation are not less important than what motivates donors to participate in reproductive donation. One aspect to focus on is the population included in research. While reproductive donation is practiced globally, there seems to be an imbalance in terms of what segment participate in research for each type of donation. For instance, there is a lack of comparison between what could be a barrier for sperm donors and what prevents non-donors from donating (Daniels et al., 2005; Frith et al., 2007). While there were reports on non-donors' attitudes towards sperm donation (Cook & Golombok, 1995; Lui & Weaver, 1996), it still remains unclear if these attitudes were actual barriers. Moreover, the research on sperm donation has been conducted predominantly in Western countries, with an emphasis on actual sperm donor population (Del Valle et al., 2008; Ernst et al., 2007), which means that some research findings should be interpreted with caution as there may be biases influencing their generalizability.

As for the practical implications of the contemporary studies described above, they demonstrate the need for clear guidelines for reproductive donors. A more nuanced evaluation of informed consent should be discussed: if informed consent is measured only in terms of signed papers this concept can have hidden exploitative practices. Donation contracts also often lack clarity regarding donors' rights and obligations at different stages of the donation process. The majority of donors face a range of psychological and ethical problems concerning the reaction of their partners/ spouses, their immediate family members and friends to this situation, as well as diverse anxieties about the future of their own families, on the one hand, and the future of their potential offspring, on the other. We hope that the findings discussed in this review will allow researchers, medical practitioners, policy makers and reproductive donors alike to formulate recommendations on how to ensure more ethical practices of reproductive donation.

References

Abbasi-Shavazi, M.J., Inhorn, M.C., Razeghi-Nasrabad, H.B., & Toloo, G. (2008). The Iranian ART Revolution: Infertility, Assisted Reproductive Technology, and Third-Party Donation in the Islamic Republic of Iran. *Journal of Middle East Women's Studies*, *4*(2), 1–28. DOI: 10.2979/MEW.2008.4.2.1

Agnafors, M. (2014). The Harm Argument Against Surrogacy Revisited. Two Versions Not to Forget. *Medicine, Health Care and Philosophy*, 17, 357–363. DOI: 10.1007/s11019-014-9557-x

van den Akker, O. (2000). The Importance of a Genetic Link in Mothers Commissioning a Surrogate Baby in the UK. *Human Reproduction, 15*(8), 1849–1855. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/15.8.1849</u>

Alizadeh, L., & Samani, R. O. (2014). Using Fertile Couples as Embryo Donors: An Ethical Dilemma. *Iranian Journal of Reproductive Medicine*, *12*(3), 169–174. Retrieved from <u>https://europepmc.org/article/med/24799876</u>

American Society for Reproductive Medicine (2017). *Third-Party Reproduction Sperm, Egg, and Embryo Donation and Surrogacy. A Guide for Patients.* Birmingham, AL: The American Society for Reproductive Medicine, Patient Education Committee and the Publications Committee. Retrieved from <u>https://www.reproductivefacts.org/</u> globalassets/rf/news-and-publications/bookletsfact-sheets/english-fact-sheets-andinfo-booklets/third-party_reproduction_booklet_web.pdf

Anderson, C.J. (2003). The Psychology of Doing Nothing: Forms of Decision Avoidance Result from Reason and Emotion. *Psychological Bulletin, 129*(1), 139-167. DOI: <u>10.1037/0033-2909.129.1.139</u>

Andrews, B., Elster, N. (1998). Adoption, Reproductive Technologies, and Genetic Information. *Health Matrix*, 8, 125–151. Retrieved from <u>https://scholarlycommons.law.case.edu/healthmatrix/vol8/iss2/5</u>

Bangsbøll, S., Pinborg, A., Yding Andersen, C., & Nyboe Andersen, A. (2004). Patients' Attitudes towards Donation of Surplus Cryopreserved Embryos for Treatment or Research. *Human Reproduction, 19*(10), 2415–2419. DOI: <u>10.1093/</u> humrep/deh441

Blyth, E., Yee, S., & Tsang, A.K.T. (2011). "They Were My Eggs; They Were Her Babies": Known Oocyte Donors' Conceptualizations of Their Reproductive Material. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology Canada, 33*(11), 1134–1140. DOI: <u>10.1016/</u><u>S1701-2163(16)35081-2</u>

Bossema, E. R., Janssens, P. M. W., Landwehr, F., Treucker, R. G. L., van Duinen, K., Nap, A. W., & Geenen, R. (2012). A Taxonomy of Possible Reasons for and Against Sperm Donation. *Acta Obstetrica et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, *92*(6), 679–685. DOI: 10.1111/aogs.12059

Bossema, E. R., Janssens, P. M. W., Landwehr, F., Treucker, R. G. L., van Duinen, K., Nap, A. W., & Geenen, R. (2014). An Inventory of Reasons for Sperm

Donation in Formal Versus Informal Settings. *Human Fertility*, *17*(1), 21–27. DOI: 10.3109/14647273.2014.881561

Bracewell-Milnes, T., Saso, S., Bora, S., Ismail, A., Al-Memar, M., Hamed, A. H., Abdalla, H., & Thum, M. (2016). Investigating Psychosocial Attitudes, Motivations and Experiences of Oocyte Donors, Recipients and Egg Sharers: A Systematic Review. *Human Reproduction Update, 22*(4), 450–465. DOI: <u>10.1093/humupd/dmw006</u>

Brazier, M., Campbell, A., & Golombok, S. (1997). Surrogacy: Review for the UK Health Ministers of Current Arrangements for Payment and Regulation. *Human Reproduction Update*, *3*(6), 623–628. DOI: <u>10.1093/humupd/3.6.623</u>

van den Broeck, U., Vandermeeren, M., Vanderschueren, D., Enzlin, P., Demyttenaere, K., & D'Hooghe, T. (2013). A Systematic Review of Sperm Donors: Demographic Characteristics, Attitudes, Motives and Experience of the Process of Sperm Donation. *Human Reproduction Update, 19*(1), 37–51. DOI: <u>10.1093/humupd/</u> <u>dms039</u>

Brinsden, P.R., Avery, S.M., Marcus, S.F., & MacNamee, M.C. (1995). Frozen Embryos: Decision Time in the UK. *Human Reproduction, 10*(12), 3083–3084. DOI: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a135861

Cattapan, A., & Baylis, F. (2016). Frozen in Perpetuity: 'Abandoned Embryos' in Canada. *Reproductive BioMedicine and Society Online,* 1(2), 104–112. DOI: 10.1016/j.rbms.2016.04.002

Cook, R., & Golombok, S. (1995). A Survey of Semen Donation: Phase II – The View of the Donors. *Human Reproduction, 10*(4), 951–959. DOI: <u>10.1093/oxfordjournals.</u> <u>humrep.a136069</u>

Cooper, S. (1996). The Destiny of Supernumerary Embryos? *Fertility and Sterility,* 65(1), 205–206. DOI: <u>10.1016/S0015-0282(16)58055-8</u>

Daniels, K., Blyth, E., Crawshaw, M., & Curson, R. (2005). Short Communication: Previous Semen Donors and Their Views Regarding the Sharing Of Information with Offspring. *Human Reproduction*, 20(6), 1670–1675. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/deh839</u>

Davis, M. (2012). Indefinite Freeze?: The Obligations a Cryopreservation Bank has to Abandoned Frozen Embryos in the Wake of the Maryland Stem Cell Research Act of 2006. *Journal of Health Care Law and Policy, 15*(2), 379–400. Retrieved from https://digitalcommons.law.umaryland.edu/jhclp/vol15/iss2/6/

Del Valle, A. P., Bradley, L., & Said, T. (2008). Anonymous Semen Donor Recruitment without Reimbursement in Canada. *Reproductive Biomedicine Online*, *17*(1), 15–20. DOI: <u>10.1016/s1472-6483(10)60185-x</u>

Edelmann, R. J. (2004). Surrogacy: The Psychological Issues. Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 22(2), 123–136. DOI: 10.1080/0264683042000205981 Ekerhovd, E., & Faurskov, A. (2008). Swedish Sperm Donors are Driven by Altruism, but Shortage of Sperm Donors Leads to Reproductive Travelling. *Uppsala Journal of Medical Science*, *113*(5), 305–314. DOI: <u>10.3109/2000-1967-241</u>

Ernst, E., Ingerslev, H. J., Schou, O., & Stoltenberg, M. (2007). Attitudes among Sperm Donors in 1992 and 2002: A Danish Questionnaire Survey. *Acta Obstetricia et Gynecologica Scandinavica*, *86*(3), 327–333. DOI: <u>10.1080/00016340601133913</u>

Frith, L., Blyth, E., & Farrand, A. (2007). UK Gamete Donors' Reflection on the Removal of Anonymity: Implications for Recruitment. *Human Reproduction, 22*(6), 1675–1680. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/dem061</u>

Gezinski, L. B., Karandikar, S., Carter, J., & White, M. (2016). Exploring Motivations, Awareness of Side Effects, and Attitudes among Potential Egg Donors. *Health & Social Work, 41*(2), 75–83. DOI: <u>10.1093/hsw/hlw005</u>

Godman, K. M., Sanders, K., Rosenberg, M., & Burton, P. (2006). Potential Sperm Donors', Recipients' and Their Partners' Opinions towards the Release of Identifying Information in Western Australia. *Human Reproduction, 22*(11), 3022–3026. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/del274</u>

Gürtin, Z. B., Golombok, S., & Ahuja, K. (2012). Egg-Share Donors' and Recipients' Knowledge, Motivations and Concerns: Clinical and Policy Implications. *Clinical Ethics*, *7*(4), 183–192. DOI: <u>10.1258/ce.2012.012024</u>

Holcomb, M., & Byrn, M. P. (2010). When Your Body is Your Business. *Washington Law Review*, *85*(4), 647–686. Retrieved from <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=1594348</u>

Hounshell, C., & Chetkowski, R. (1996). Donation of Frozen Embryos after in Vitro Fertilization Is Uncommon. *Fertility and Sterility, 66*(5), 837–838. Retrieved from <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/8893696/</u>

Imrie, S., & Jadva, V. (2014). The Long-Term Experiences of Surrogates: Relationships and Contact with Surrogacy Families in Genetic and Gestational Surrogacy Arrangements. *Reproductive BioMedicine Online, 29*(4), 424–435. DOI: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2014.06.004

Inhorn, M. C. (2006). Making Muslim Babies: IVF and Gamete Donation in Sunni versus Shi'a Islam. *Culture, Medicine and Psychiatry,* 30, 427–450. DOI: <u>10.1007/</u><u>s11013-006-9027-x</u>

Inhorn, M.C. (2007). Masturbation, Semen Collection and Men's IVF Experiences: Anxieties in the Muslim World. *Body & Society, 13*(3), 37–53. DOI: 10.1177/1357034X07082251

Inhorn, M.C., & Patrizio, P. (2012). The Global Landscape of Cross-Border Reproductive Care: Twenty Key Findings for the New Millennium. *Current Opinion in Obstetrics & Gynecology*, *24*(3), 158–163. DOI: <u>10.1097/gco.0b013e328352140a</u>

Jadva, V., Murray, C., Lycett, E., MacCallum, F., & Golombok, S. (2003). Surrogacy: The Experiences of Surrogate Mother. *Human Reproduction, 18*(10), 2196–2204. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/deg397</u> Kenney, N.J., & McGowan, M.L. (2010). Looking Back: Egg Donors' Retrospective Evaluations of Their Motivations, Expectations, and Experiences During Their First Donation Cycle. *Fertility and Sterility*, *93*(2), 455–466. DOI: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.09.081

Kirkman, M., & Kirkman, A. (2002). Sister-to-Sister Gestational "Surrogacy" 13 Years On: A Narrative of Parenthood. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology*, *20*(3), 135–147. DOI: <u>10.1080/026468302760270791</u>

Klock, S.C., Sheinin, S., & Kazer, R.R. (2001). The Disposition of Unused Frozen Embryos. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, *345*(1), 69–70. DOI: 10.1056/nejm200107053450118

de Lacey, S. (2005). Parent Identity and 'Virtual' Children: Why Patients Discard rather than Donate Unused Embryos. *Human Reproduction, 20*(6), 1661–1669. DOI: 10.1093/humrep/deh831

de Lacey, S. (2007). Decisions for the Fate of Frozen Embryos: Fresh Insights into Patients' Thinking and Their Rationales for Donating or Discarding Embryos. *Human Reproduction, 22*(6), 1751–1758. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/dem056</u>

Lalos, A., Daniels, K., Gottlieb, C., & Lalos, O. (2003). Recruitment and Motivation of Semen Providers in Sweden. *Human Reproduction, 18*(1), 212–216. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/deg026</u>

Larkey, A. M. (2003). Note, Redefining Motherhood: Determining Legal Maternity in Gestational Surrogacy Agreements. *Drake Law Review*, *51*(3), 605–632. Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/10822/522347

Laruelle, C., & Englert, Y. (1995). Psychological Study of in Vitro Fertilization – Embryo Transfer Participants' Attitudes toward the Destiny of Their Supernumerary Embryos. *Fertility and Sterility, 63*(5), 1047–1050. DOI: <u>10.1016/s0015-0282(16)57546-3</u>

Lasker, S.P. (2015). Surrogacy. In ten Have, H. (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of Global Bioethics*. Cham: Springer International. DOI: <u>10.1007/978-3-319-05544-2_409-1</u>

Lones, M.E. (2016). A Christian Ethical Perspective on Surrogacy. *Bioethics in Faith and Practice*, *2*(1), 23-33. DOI: <u>10.15385/jbfp.2016.2.1.5</u>

Lui, S. C., & Weaver, S. M. (1996). Attitudes and Motives of Semen Donors and Non-Donors. *Human Reproduction, 11*(9), 2061–2066. DOI: <u>10.1093/oxfordjournals.</u> <u>humrep.a019544</u>

McMahon, C. A., Gibson, F., Leslie, G., Cohen, J., & Tennant, C. (2003). Parents of 5-Year-Old in Vitro Fertilization Children: Psychological Adjustment, Parenting Stress and the Influence of Subsequent in Vitro Fertilization Treatment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *17*(3), 361–369. DOI: <u>10.1037/0893-3200.17.3.361</u>

Mohr, S. (2014). Beyond Motivation: On What It Means to Be a Sperm Donor in Denmark. *Anthropology & Medicine, 21*(2), 162–173. DOI: 10.1080/13648470.2014.914806

Mohr, S. (2016). Containing Sperm – Managing Legitimacy: Lust, Disgust, and Hybridity at Danish Sperm Banks. *Journal of Contemporary Ethnography, 45*(3), 319–342. DOI: <u>10.1177/0891241614558517</u>

Mohr, S. (2018). *Being a Sperm Donor: Masculinity, Sexuality, and Biosociality in Denmark.* New York and Oxford: Berghahn Books. DOI: <u>10.2307/j.ctvw04dkf</u>

Mohr, S., & Koch, L. (2016). Transforming Social Contracts: The Social and Cultural History of IVF in Denmark. *Reproductive Biomedicine & Society Online*, 2, 88–96. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.rbms.2016.09.001</u>

Nachtigall, R. D., Becker, G., Friese, C., Butler, A., & MacDougall, K. (2005). Parents' Conceptualization of Their Frozen Embryos Complicates the Disposition Decision. *Fertility and Sterility*, *84*(2), 431–434. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.</u> <u>fertnstert.2005.01.134</u>

Newton, C. R., McDermid, A., Tekpetey, F., & Tummon, I.S. (2003). Embryo Donation: Attitudes toward Donation Procedures and Factors Predicting Willingness to Donate. *Human Reproduction, 18*(4), 878–884. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/deg169</u>

Partrick, M., Smith, A. L., Meyer, W. R., & Bashford, R. A. (2001). Anonymous Oocyte Donation: A Follow-Up Questionnaire. *Fertility Sterility*, *75*(5), 1034–1036. DOI: <u>10.1016/S0015-0282(01)01690-9</u>

Pennings, G. (2005). Commentary on Craft and Thornhill: New Ethical Strategies to Recruit Gamete Donors. *Reproductive Biomedicine Online, 10*(3), 307–309. DOI: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)61788-9

Provoost, V., Pennings, G., De Sutter, P., & Dhont, M. (2011). The Frozen Embryo and Its Nonresponding Parents. *Fertility and Sterility*, *95*(6), 1980–1984. DOI: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.02.033

Riggs, D. W., & Russell, L. (2010). Characteristics of Men Willing to Act as Sperm Donors in the Context of Identity-Release Legislation. *Human Reproduction, 26*(1), 266–272. DOI: 10.1093/humrep/deg314

Royal Commission on New Reproductive Technologies (1993). *Proceed with Care: Final Report of the Royal Commission on New Reproductive Technologies*. Ottawa: Minister of Government Services Canada.

Sama (2012). *Birthing A Market: A Study on Commercial Surrogacy.* New Delhi: Sama–Resource Group for Women and Health.

Sandberg, T., & Conner, M. (2008). Anticipated Regret as an Additional Predictor in the Theory of Planned Behaviour: A Meta-Analysis. *British Journal of Social Psychology*, *47*(4), 589–606. DOI: <u>10.1348/014466607X258704</u>

Saunders, D., Bowman, M., Grierson, A., & Garner, F. (1995). Frozen Embryos: Too Cold to Touch?: The Dilemma Ten Years On. *Human Reproduction, 10*(12), 3081–3082. DOI: <u>10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a135858</u> Shenfield, F., Pennings, G., Cohen, J., Devroey, P., de Wert, G., & Tarlatzis, B. (2005). ESHRE Task Force on Ethics and Law 10: Surrogacy. *Human Reproduction, 20*(10), 2705–2707. DOI: <u>10.1093/humrep/dei147</u>

Shepherd, L., Kardzhieva, D., Bussey, L., & Lovell, B. (2018). The Role of Emotions in Predicting Sperm and Egg Donation. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, *48*(4), 217–226. DOI: <u>10.1111/jasp.12504</u>

Sheinbach, D. (1999). Examining Disputes Over Ownership Rights to Frozen Embryos: Will Prior Consent Documents Survive if Challenged by State Law and/or Constitutional Principles? *Catholic University Law Review*, *48*(3), 989–1027. Retrieved from https://scholarship.law.edu/lawreview/vol48/iss3/9

Schover, L. R., Rothman, S. A., & Collins, R. L. (1992). The Personality and Motivation of Semen Donors: A Comparison with Oocyte Donors. *Human Reproduction*, 7, 575–579. DOI: <u>10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137694</u>

Svanberg, A.S., Boivin, J., & Bergh, T. (2001). Factors Influencing the Decision to Use or Discard Cryopreserved Embryos. *Acta obstetricia et gynecologica Scandinavica*, *80*(9), 849–855. DOI: <u>10.1034/j.1600-0412.2001.080009849.x</u>

Teman, E. (2008). The Social Construction of Surrogacy Research: An Anthropological Critique of the Psychosocial Scholarship on Surrogate Motherhood. *Social Science & Medicine*, *67*(7), 1104–1112. DOI: <u>10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.05.026</u>

Thorn, P., Katzorke, T., Daniels, K. (2008). Semen Donors in Germany: A Study Exploring Motivations and Attitudes. *Human Reproduction, 23*(11), 2415–2420. DOI: 10.1093/humrep/den279

Winter, A., & Daniluk, J.C. (2004). A Gift From the Heart: The Experiences of Women Whose Egg Donation Helped Their Sisters Become Mothers. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, *82*(4), 483–495. DOI: <u>10.1002/j.1556-6678.2004</u>. tb00337.x

Yee, S., Blyth, E., & Tsang, A.K.T. (2011). Oocyte Donors' Experiences of Altruistic Known Donation: A Qualitative Study. *Journal of Reproductive and Infant Psychology, 29*(4), 404–415. DOI: <u>10.1080/02646838.2011.611938</u>



OPENING THE DEBATE

The Crisis of Humanism and Emerging Post-Anthropocentric Epoch: A Personalistic View

Dmitriy A. Davydov

Institute for Philosophy and Law, Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences, Yekaterinburg, Russia

ABSTRACT

The present article is devoted to a discussion of the crisis of humanism and prospects for a post-anthropocentric society. The evolution of humanism is traced as a broad cultural phenomenon that affects all spheres of society. The author sets out to show that the crisis of humanism is associated not only with philosophical criticism from the perspectives of trans- and post-humanism, but also with the prospects for a society in which humanistic ideas about a person as a bodily- and mentally-autonomous being continue to predominate. In this regard, various ethical and philosophical concepts are considered that seemingly point to the inevitability of going beyond the limits of anthropocentrism. However, one particular problem that emerges is either ignored by many authors or remains to be properly resolved. This problem is associated with the prospect of losing the capability of "metamorphosis" due to the latest human technologies for universal communication (empathy and understanding) along with the destruction of the fragile global "lifeworld". The destruction of this lifeworld is fraught with alienation and the multiplication of planetary risks. The author proposes that the problem of unpredictability and the danger of manmade interventions in human nature can best be approached by considering the hypothetical posthuman in close relationship with the social whole. This philosophical "optics" can be borrowed from the philosophy of personalism, understood here as the set of philosophical attitudes that affirm the highest value of a personality as a transcending being, involved in a timeless dialogue with other personalities.

KEYWORDS

humanism, posthumanism, transhumanism, personalism, philosophical anthropology, human nature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The present article was completed as part of the project MK-2621.2019.6 of the grants of the President of the Russian Federation for state support of young Russian scientists – candidates of science (Tender – MK-2019). The author expresses his deep gratitude to Thomas A. Beavitt for a thoughtful translation and careful revision of the work, without which this publication would have been impossible.

Introduction

In this article, I address the theme of the crisis of humanism. Although this topic has been relevant since Nietzsche, today the prospect of a posthuman society (in the broad sense) is becoming quite real. Humanism has suffered a double blow: on the one hand, as anthropocentrism comes under increasing criticism; on the other hand, as a set of value attitudes that emphasise the unique and exceptional nature of man, which may be radically transformed in the not-too-distant future. In this context, corresponding ethical discourses arise, which state both the inevitability and the desirability of the post-anthropocentric era. Nevertheless, in what follows, I aim to show that discussions about a post-anthropocentric future are far from being concluded. Rather, in stating the problem, the unsatisfactory nature of the available solutions only becomes more glaringly apparent. This problem involves the imminent destruction of the fragile planetary "lifeworld" (or intersubjective space) as a result of chaotic "improvements" carried out by people to their bodies and consciousness. As I will try to show, the destruction of this intersubjective space is fraught with alienation and the multiplication of global risks. Thus, in order to address the problem of increasing unpredictability and mitigate the danger of manmade interventions in human nature, it will be necessary to consider the hypothetical posthuman in close interrelation with the social whole. The necessary "optics" for such an approach is provided by the philosophy of personalism, which can be understood in a broad sense as giving the central role to personality, considered as a transcending being in timeless dialogue with other personalities. The main thesis of the article is that, unlike other "post-anthropocentric" philosophical concepts, the personalistic way of understanding reality is more "sensitive" to the issues of maintaining unity, integrity - and, accordingly, the vitality of society.

Humanism: From "Dawn" to "Dusk"?

To begin with, due to ambiguities inherent in the term "humanism" stemming from its use in a variety of contexts, it will be necessary to try to create some conceptual clarity. In a broad sense, humanism can be used to describe any orientation towards human beings in terms of their happiness, material or spiritual well-being, etc. Thus,

for example, one can sometimes find such usages as "Christian humanism". In what follows, however, the term "humanism" is understood in its narrowest sense as comprising the set of common ideological attitudes within which a human being is considered as a free, unique, autonomous and terrestrial - or "earthly"- creature, Humanism, therefore, proceeds: (1) from the immanence of human existence, the humanity of man; (2) from the fact that the ultimate source of higher values, forming a kind of "ethical measuring stick" is man himself, his "interests"; (3) consequently, the consideration of everything else only through the conceptual prism of a person understood only in this way (i.e. anthropocentrism). Here I would like to once again emphasise that, in what follows, humanism is not considered as an ideology in its own right and should therefore not be exclusively associated with e.g. liberalism, since it can also be present in varying philosophical or ideological trends (for example, in sometimes absurd and contradictory combinations in the ideologies of national socialism or communism). Subsequently, we will not additionally distinguish between the various varieties of humanism (e.g. Renaissance, Enlightenment, modern secular humanism, etc.). It is undoubtedly worth pausing to consider the very significant differences between the different varieties of humanism, since these involve the most diverse understandings of man in terms of his nature and essence. At the same time, we will note not so much the specifics as those elements of continuity that allow us to draw conclusions about humanism (and its crisis) as a kind of integral cultural phenomenon or at least an interconnected set of those traits in philosophical thought and everyday thinking that originated in the Renaissance era and which, albeit gradually changing, have survived to this day.

In order to show that "humanistic civilisation" has entered its sunset period, it will be first necessary to clarify what are the constituent elements forming the backbone of humanism itself. Here it will be necessary to take cognisance of the inseparability of humanism from those processes that gradually led to the formation of bourgeois society (some historians attribute these changes to the so-called Commercial Revolution, which took place from around the end of the 13th to the 18th century¹). The rise of bourgeois society was accompanied by a disenchantment (Weber, 1905-1910/2002) of the world. As Solomon Stam notes, the advent of humanism (here we are talking about its earliest form during the Renaissance) became possible because at first in the most developed cities of Italy of the 14th-15th centuries, and then in other Western European countries, a capitalist system arose, an early bourgeoisie, adversarial dominant feudalism and its powerful servant - the church (see: Stam, 1984, p. 4). Humanism would not have been possible without first creating a basis for the direct growth of material well-being, providing giving hope for a joyful life together, for incremental progress - in short, the possibility of realising Heaven on Earth. Stam continues that after a millennium that saw the domination of Christian-ascetic ideology proceeding from the dogma of "original sin", it was as if comprising an inevitable gravitational force over people, concerning the depravity and insignificance of a

¹ This was facilitated by the rapid growth of cities, the emergence of banks, joint-stock companies, the growth of money circulation, the gradual technological progress in navigation, cartography, the discovery of America, etc. (see Spufford, 1989).

person (Innocent III equated a person with a worm, even placing him lower than the worm); and it should have been, first of all, moral to rehabilitate a person, justify his high dignity, his limitless possibilities for improvement and creativity, to which Giannozzo Manetti would refer as "the greatest and immeasurable glory of our humanity" (see: Stam, 1984, p. 6).

Accordingly, in justifying the desire for "earthly" well-being, humanism as "immanent" anthropocentrism rehabilitates what was earlier considered in terms of vice: ambition, the desire to receive earthly pleasures (including "earthly" love) – even, in some cases, greed. The sacralisation of *earthly man* along with his own *earthly aspirations* (not transcendental essences) was expressed in the praise of all the "earthly" ones, from the ubiquitous eroticism and satire of the Decameron (Boccaccio, 1353/2003), the erotic love stories of the Heptameron (Marguerite of Navarre, 1558/1984), Bracciolini's earthy scatological humour (Bracciolini, 1470/1984), the vulgar jokes and relentless satire of Gargantua and Pantagruel (Rabelais, 1532–1564/2016), Erasmus' Praise of Folly to the thoroughgoing (not to say humorous) disparagement of all Christianity of Bonaventure Des Périers' (Des Périers, 1537/1965) in Cymbalum Mundi. In his Utopia, Thomas More depicts a hedonist society for whom the highest happiness is to have all material wealth in abundance and a "pleasant life":

The Utopians therefore regard the enjoyment of life – that is, pleasure – as the natural object of all human efforts; and the natural, as they define it, is synonymous with virtuous. However, Nature also wants us to help one another to enjoy life, for the very good reason that no human being has a monopoly of her affections (More, 1516/2003, p. 92).

Moreover, the philosophy of Renaissance humanism is already characterised by an internal antinomy associated with the understanding of "liberation" from the transcendental. The labours of many early humanists are characterised by a duality of evaluations of the "immanent"². It would seem that this dichotomy had already encompassed "in itself" the embryo of the subsequent long (still ongoing) philosophical discussion concerning the shortcomings of "immanent" anthropocentrism, within which framework the philosophy of posthumanism would arise. As noted by R. Chen-Morris, H. Yoran, and G. Zak,

Optimism and doubt are different sides of the same coin as they are minted from the same presupposition of humanist discourse, namely, the undermining of the metaphysical mooring of human reality. Humanist discourse rejects – usually implicitly – the fundamental assumption of the Western philosophical tradition that behind phenomenal reality there is an intelligible and unchangeable substance. Instead, humanists often assume that human reality is an artifact that can be fashioned by human efforts: hence humanism's sense of liberation, creative

² Even in Petrarch's "contempt for the world", we see precisely the internal struggle of striving for the active affirmation of the ambitious contemporaneous "earthly man" with an ascetic worldview (Petrarch, 1343/2011).

cultural energies, and anthropological optimism; and hence the novel historical, ethical, and political theories elaborated by the humanists. But the undermining of the traditional metaphysical order of things necessarily threatens basic beliefs and convictions and creates a sense of cultural dislocation and psychological anxiety. In the intellectual sphere, this shift gave rise to fundamental questions concerning the ultimate foundation of ethics and the legitimation of the political order. It is this ambiguity that characterises the humanist discourse and establishes it as the foundation of modernity itself (Chen-Morris, Yoran, & Zak, 2015, p. 430).

The further evolution of humanism took place mainly in the direction of an "excision" of its former theistic "birthmarks"³. In its mature, completed ("pure") form, humanism is precisely *secular ("exclusive") humanism*, characterised by the primacy of reason, ethics based on critical thinking – and, of course, the ideal of freedom (Kurtz, 2007).

The Crisis of Humanism: "External" or "Internal"?

The emergence of the critique of humanism may be dated to around the same period as criticism of the Christian worldview started to become a feature of the philosophical thought of the Modern era. Although the isolated "I" of the modern individual subject would give rise to a sense of strength, power, invulnerability to spirits, along with pride and dignity, at the time, it was confronted with a disenchanted world that was typically experienced as flat and empty (Taylor, 2007, p. 593). All of this not infrequently resulted in an urge to overcome the "immanent order" of modern reason, to go beyond the present dimension of a disciplined economic or reproductive activity. Charles Taylor, for example, views some manifestations of romanticism as an attempt to revolutionise the "immanent order". He writes:

The depth and fullness of ordinary life has been articulated for us in an art which constantly seems to transgress the limits of the natural-human domain. The Romantic sense of nature, for instance, is hard to separate from images of a larger force, or a current of life sweeping through all things. These images, central for instance to Wordsworth's poetry [...] break the carefully erected boundaries of the buffered identity, which neatly divide mind from nature (Taylor, 2007, p. 701).

The Romantic search for inspiration and "depth" in the boundless forces of nature can be seen as a kind of attempt to break out of the "immanent" order.

To a certain extent, a "anti-humanistic" attitude was characterised by heroic ethics centred around aristocratic military virtues that resisted the humanistic affirmation of the highest value of human life (Taylor, 2007, p. 320). In terms of being impregnated with references to heroic ethics, Nietzsche's philosophy can also be *conditionally* referred to as anti-humanistic. Nietzsche's Superman is a being who, in standing *over* the "ordinary" man and his present being, affirms his self-over-others.

³ Here we must emphasise the word "old", inasmuch as we are talking about medieval theology. Here it is worth noting that Christianity itself also subsequently absorbed the influence of humanism.

Nietzsche considers the lives of individuals to be below the values that the Superman creates ("creating *values* is the true right of masters" (Nietzsche, 1886/2017)). Many of Nietzsche's ideas were anticipated by Max Stirner, who contraposed humanistic "faith in man" with the egoism of *the Unique*. Stirner's interpretations of the overwhelming and exclusive "religion of humanism" turned out to be prophetic (we recall, for example, the totalitarian USSR, in which masses of people were destroyed in the name of the abstract "man" of the communist future). As Stirner writes,

If as in the revolution, "the human being" is understood as the "good citizen", then from this concept of "the human being" come the well-known political offenses and crimes. In all this, the individual, the individual human being, is regarded as scum, and contrarily, the universal human being, "the human being", is honoured (Stirner, 1845/2017).

Nevertheless, humanism should not be considered solely as a belief in an abstract "person" (the so-called "metaphysical" humanism – see Heidegger, 1946/1978). The fact that such a faith has appeared and still exists only implies that humanism as an "immanent" anthropocentrism has become the source of various corresponding ideological trends connected with the construction of abstractions – or, as Stirner would say, "spooks". Like Nietzsche, however, Stirner can also be seen in partially humanistic terms. For both thinkers, there is no "higher" reality. There is only the "I" (Superman / The Unique), confronted both by a hostile material world and the "others". Their philosophy is imbued with love for man as a terrestrial creature, the only difference being that the humanism in question is not misanthropic, but egocentric. One can even say that this is the "purest" anthropocentrism, because the human being itself is taken here not as some kind of abstract whole, but as directly existing. Therefore, we should not be too surprised when Jean-Paul Sartre, in his famous essay "Existentialism is a Humanism", sets forth ideas that have much in common with Stirner's ideas. Here, true humanism is to be found in the freedom of choice of an "abandoned" person. Sartre writes:

This is humanism because we remind man that there is no legislator but himself; that he himself, thus abandoned, must decide for himself; also, because we show that it is not by turning back upon himself, but always by seeking, beyond himself, an aim which is one of liberation or of some particular realisation, that man can realise himself as truly human (Sartre, 1956/1989).

Nevertheless, humanism gradually "accumulated" contradictions. In the first place, the internal contradiction of humanism inherited from the Renaissance, consisting in an ambiguous combination of the "costs" and "benefits" of rejecting the transcendental, never disappeared. Therefore, strictly speaking, humanism has never been able to achieve absolute dominance or completely push out the transcendent from social life – which today, although in a somewhat individualised form, has maintained its position in the search for religious meaning (Taylor, 2007). Secondly, the "immanent order" of modern societies accumulated its own set of contradictions. Belief in reason, freedom

and human dignity did not end up saving humanity from destructive wars, exploitation, violence and injustice. Serious damage to humanism was inflicted by Sigmund Freud with his criticism of man as a rational autonomous being (see, e.g., Freud, 1927/1949). In the end, this accumulation of contradictions led to serious philosophical criticism of the "predominating" position of humanism. Posthumanism thus emerges as a kind of development and deepening of postmodernism (the term "posthumanism" in the modern sense appears in 1977 (Hassan, 1977)⁴. The philosophy of posthumanism is gradually being formed and developed in the field of literary criticism (Hayles, 1999), as well as in philosophical studies on the deconstruction of "the human". Today, it is widely represented in feminist discourses (Donna Haraway, Rosi Braidotti, Karen Barad, Stacy Alaimo, F. Ferrando [Alaimo, 2016; Barad, 2003; Braidotti, 2013; Ferrando, 2019; Haraway, 1991] and others).

In general, posthumanism is characterised by a scepticism towards any idealisation of human subjectivity. Thus, the idea of the Cartesian subject was first deconstructed within the framework of the "linguistic turn", when it was shown that man comprises a location where discourses intersect, something hidden by the veil of the unconscious; that the free subject is an illusion, and that, in general, as Michel Foucault observes, "man is a recent invention". Subsequently, however, the conceptual focus has shifted somewhat, with proponents of the "new materialisms" trying to overcome the dualism of matter and culture that resisted the efforts of postmodernists. "The death of the subject" means that, in the material sense, a person is not a "centred" monad point in space. Moreover, between matter and culture there is an "intra-action" – that is, an instantaneous two-way relationship. From this perspective, a person can only be seen as part of a very complex material and cultural "context". In other words, it is not man, but matter itself that turns out to be "agential" (agential matter – "agent", acting matter). As Mónica Cano Abadía explains,

This critical posthumanism, indebted with French antihumanism, feminist anti-universalism and anti-colonialism, tries to disconnect the definition of the human of its universalist position. The human within humanism is a "systematised standard of recognisability – of Sameness – by which all others can be assessed, regulated and allotted to a designated social location" (Cano Abadía, 2018, p. 173).

To abandon this regulatory notion of the human means to embrace a more complex and a less discriminatory vision of the subject. Thus, a posthuman vision of the subject could lead toward more respectful, anti-universalist, materialist and post-anthropocentric ways of analysing our world (Ibid.). In essence, the posthumanist position entails an abandonment of ethics based on anthropocentrism. "Posthumanism", writes Francesca Ferrando, "can be seen as a post-exclusivism: an empirical philosophy of mediation, which offers a reconciliation of existence in

⁴ Foucault's Death of the Subject (Foucault, 1966/1994), Derrida's grammatology (Derrida, 1967/1977), the collapse of metanarratives in J.-F. Lyotard (Lyotard, 1979/1984), schizoanalysis by Gilles Deleuze and Félix Guattari (Deleuze & Guattari, 1972/1977) and many more.

its broadest significations. Posthumanism does not employ any frontal dualism or antithesis, demystifying any ontological polarisation through the postmodern practice of deconstruction" (Ferrando, 2013, p. 29).

Nevertheless, there is reason to believe that post-humanism, though dangerous. is not fatal to humanism. In the end, posthumanist criticism focuses mainly on a very specific ideological form of humanism. The direct association with humanism of such phenomena as colonialism, racism and male domination by some posthumanist philosophers⁵ seems at least dubious. Here we are again talking about criticism of the humanistic "spooks" (or rather, constructed ideas about the abstract "human"). At the same time, it is possible to doubt the sequence of posthumanistic anti-anthropocentrism. In this form, posthumanism continues to take the form of the self-reflection of the modern "isolated self". However, ultimately, this "isolated I" cannot offer anything more than a particular recognition of "myself" that emerges from the process (assembly/relational entity, etc.) consisting in the general cosmic order of things. Thus, although a different "spook" is being constructed, a different idea of the abstract "man", it is already striving for a peaceful life-coexistence within the framework of an infinite variety of different forms of subjectivity, as well as "reconciliation" with "matter" itself (for example, planet Earth and biological processes occurring on it). Here it becomes apparent that we are talking about a new humanistic "spook". However, if previously the criterion of non-human could be applied to one who did not meet European norms of rationality/subjectivity, today a non-human becomes one who does not agree with the "new" values of tolerance, multiculturalism, etc., towards which posthumanism is ostensibly oriented. While this may no longer be aggressive anthropocentrism (although it is necessary to consider in relation to whom this aggression is considered), from the very fact that a "person" recognises his responsibility for aggression or violence against any other and from free choice in favour of moving to the "ontological equality" of various forms of being, it is still possible to make out the outlines of anthropocentrism. Rather, it consists in an act of self-reflection, a kind of "goodwill", but not a consistent and direct departure from the limits of humanism (in fact, in some cases there are no intentions to build any kind of neo-humanism (Braidotti, 2019, p. xiii)6.

⁵ R. Braidotti: "The human is a normative convention, which does not make it inherently negative, just highly regulatory and hence instrumental to practices of exclusion and discrimination. The human norm stands for normality, normalcy and normativity. It functions by transposing a specific mode of being human into a generalised standard, which acquires transcendent values as the human: from male to masculine and onto human as the universalised format of humanity. This standard is posited as categorically and qualitatively distinct from the sexualised, racialised, naturalised others and also in opposition to the technological artefact. The human is a historical construct that became a social convention about 'human nature'" (Braidotti, 2013, p. 26).

⁶ Consistent posthumanism would completely deny the anthropocentric view. This would mean, for example, the struggle for recognition of the "right" of SARS-Cov-2 and all other bacteria and viruses to equal existence as forms of vitality/materiality/agency and so on. It would also imply the denial ("deconstruction") of all elementary "human" categories of thinking (like "tolerance", the desire for equality, the maintenance of life, etc.). To consistently avoid anthropocentrism, posthumanists should author their writings on the "behalf" of assemblies/relationalities, avoiding all human "proper names" that imply centring on a particular person. However, it turns out to be based on the same anthropocentrism, but with a conscientious (often hypocritical) overlay expressing concern for non-human others.

Far more dangerous to humanism is humanism itself, with the real threat consisting not in "external" criticism, but rather in terms of an "internal" transformation into something hostile to it. And here it is necessary to look not so much at the various ethical positions, not at the sphere of philosophical discussions, but at humanism as a cultural fact of social life, as an "immanent" anthropocentrism permeating the consciousness of a modern person. This "immanent" anthropocentrism implies the consideration of man as one of the "objects" of the material world that can undergo a radical transformation. Technological development itself warrants the relatively rapid disappearance of the human, i.e. the very species Homo Sapiens. A number of philosophers and researchers argue that sooner or later technologies will allow the creation of superhumans (immortals with "improved" brains and physical abilities). that people will change genes, integrate into the technological environment (i.e. become cyborgs) - and that artificial intelligence technologies will develop giving rise to superconsciousness or super-beings endowed with such a consciousness (or there will be a union of all beings into one super-being, etc.). Here we are talking about the philosophy of transhumanism as espoused by Julian Huxley (Huxley, 1958), Robert Ettinger (Ettinger, 1972), F.M. Esfandiary (Esfandiary, 1989), Nick Bostrom (Bostrom, 2016), Ray Kurzweil (Kurzweil, 2005), and many others. Transhumanist philosophers emphasise the inevitability of overcoming humanity's limitations by means of technology. "Backward" humans will continue to occupy a place either in some kind of zoo reservation or on the fringes of the future civilisation, while the initiative passes to a new race (or races) of intelligent artificially-derived superhuman humanoids (or completely artificial robotic creatures). At the same time as adhering to liberal or libertarian beliefs that advocate the freedom of everyone to control their bodies, most transhumanist authors somewhat paradoxically assert the futility of attempts to prevent the appearance of the transhuman⁷.

However, the prospect of a radical technological transformation of human nature does not in itself imply a crisis of humanism. After all, as has been repeatedly noted by various theorists (see Ferrando, 2019), transhumanist discourses remain primarily anthropocentric in their basic orientation. A genuine crisis of humanism is rather associated with those *dangers* that logically arise from the attempts of human beings to intervene in their own biological natures. This perspective has spawned a whole branch of ethical debate – for example, as seen in polemics between bio-conservatives and techno-liberals (see Bailey, 2005; Fukuyama, 2003; Habermas, 2003, etc.). At the same time, it should be emphasised that the prospect of a radical transformation of human nature is not something that has been "invented" by ideologists or ethics. Rather, it is the reality of a *society* in which the principles of "immanent" anthropocentrism come to prevail. In such a society, the introduction of technologies for changing the nature of man is indeed *inevitable*. In a disconnected and alienated world, in which there is no single organising and controlling centre (after all, the "highest value" of

⁷ As clarified by Y. N. Harari, "This will not happen in a day, or a year. Indeed, it is already happening right now, through innumerable mundane actions. Every day millions of people decide to grant their smartphone a bit more control over their lives or try a new and more effective antidepressant drug. In pursuit of health, happiness and power, humans will gradually change first one of their features and then another, and another, until they will no longer be human" (Harari, 2017, p. 60).

bourgeois society continues to be a certain "isolated" entity, considered in terms of its essential *separateness*), it is impossible to completely ban certain experiments aimed at the transformation of the human body and consciousness. Even if such bans were to be applied in some countries, there would still continue to be numerous "dead zones" that do not fall under the purview of ethical regulation.

What dangers are we talking about here? In most cases, we are talking about potentially unpredictable health risks for those whose bodies will be "improved", be it genetic engineering (using CRISPR genome editing mechanisms, etc.) or cyborgisation (implantation of mind-changing chips in the brain, etc.). There are also risks associated with the insecurity of human nature transformation technologies themselves (for example, scenarios of uncontrolled self-replication of nanorobots – the so-called "grey goo"). Finally, we can mention potential "social" risks: e.g. unequal access to human improvement technologies, which may result in a further increase in social inequality.

Nevertheless, I consider that these are not the principal problems associated with technologies for changing the nature of a human being. Much more serious, yet rarely-considered despite being the potential source of an infinite number of additional misfortunes, is the very *real prospect of the destruction of human "lifeworld" as a result of an infinite number of "modifications" that make the achievement of global unity unrealistic*: the destruction of the "organic" basis for an empathic commonality of experience due to prevailing practices that radically alter the body and mind. Such a destruction of the "community of experience" is fraught with alienation, the disintegration of humanity into "(post-)humanity" lacking mutual comprehension and the total chaos of untrammelled technological progress. All this can lead to the destruction of the ability to reach consensus, which is fraught with the most adverse consequences imaginable. Therefore, *what is important concerns not so much how we look at various technologies today, but whether we will be able to enter into any constructive dialogue* about them in the future?

We shall not assert that this problem has been completely ignored in modern discourses concerning technologies for changing the nature of man. However, the available responses are not altogether convincing. In briefly considering them, we will also try to outline one of the possible approaches to solving this problem, which can be formulated based on the philosophical optics of personalism.

The End of Dialogue?

From a personalistic perspective, the main problem facing "changing" humanity today can be seen to consist in the "disappearance" of *dialogue* (as a moment of intersubjective unity). There is no philosophical consensus about what constitutes the *essence* of a person: despite many scientific and technological advances, we still do not *know* what a human being is. However, it is difficult to argue with the proposition that all representatives of the species *Homo Sapiens* have something in common. No matter how cultures, languages, social idealities, etc. may vary, there is something that allows all people to at least partially understand the experience of other people,

even those who lived in previous times. Nearly everyone is able to admire the heroic exploits of the characters of the *lliad* or appreciate the rousing signification of Beethoven's Ninth Symphony. Although this experience can be perceived by us in a "distorted" sense, i.e. not in the same way it would be perceived by our contemporaries, nevertheless, it still will not be something completely alien for us or inaccessible to our *understanding*. At the genetic level, changes taking place in a human being over thousands of years have been insignificant; therefore, a certain set of common biological processes preserved in the human body and brain still determine repetitive patterns of behaviour conferring the capability of empathic experience (for example, the activity of mirror neurons).

Needless to say, today we live in a world of alienation, full of injustice, cruelty and indifference. Nevertheless, remaining common "species" traits inspire the hope that someday it will be possible to arrive at a more solidary state (the hope for a post-capitalist society, in which the alienating principle of the pursuit of profit is replaced by the principle of solidarity on a global scale is still very much alive (see, e.g., Mason, 2017; Srnicek & Williams, 2015, etc.)). The main obstacle to this is, as already noted, that technologies used to change human nature can destroy that *generality*, which supports – however tenuous and barely noticeable – a unity between people (what can be referred to as a "universal human identity"). How do the proponents of various ethical and philosophical movements respond to this challenge?

As we have already seen, the crisis of humanism is experienced not so much in ideological terms as at a social level. Therefore, it becomes necessary to focus not on the ideological component of humanism per se, but rather at how it affects society (or reflects this structure) and what risks connected with further technological development can be mitigated or obviated by this social structure. Since humanism is "genetically" associated with the bourgeois economy (Gorfunkel, 2017), the modern capitalist world-system (see, e.g., Wallerstein, 2004) - along with its inherently competitive struggle and individualism - is also largely a product of humanism (although, of course, we are talking here about an interdependent relationship, expressed in Marxist terms concerning the dialectic of the "basis" and "superstructure"). Along with "improvements" connected with increasing individualisation, such social conditions are likely to lead to an increasing descent into chaos. Thus, it follows from humanism and the forms of transhumanism ensuing from it that people should have the freedom to change their own organism. As Gilbert Hottois notes, the vast majority of transhumanists are agnostics or atheists, secularists and free-thinkers. The values and intentions they proclaim are close to modern secular humanism (see Hottois, 2014, p. 48). Liberal and libertarian transhumanists assert that, if an "earthly man", on the basis of his own "earthly" moral principles or preferences, receives technological capabilities allowing him to cease to be a representative of the species Homo Sapiens, then such is his choice, which should only be supported. Moreover, all liberal and libertarian transhumanists do is to take this same "earthly man" and unfold the old anthropocentric ethics of the "supremacy of a higher being" over the rest of the world in a new way. Hence, the main problem, for this is the direct path to a chaotic collapse of the processes of transformation of human nature, leading to the destruction of what

can be conditionally designated as the "lifeworld"⁸. As Spanish scholars Armesilla Conde and Santiago Javier point out, transhumanism will give rise to a minority of creatures for an indefinitely long time, economically and politically influential, proud of their way of life, separated from the rest of humanity that experiences less improvement, which will be developed only to maintain the appropriation of capitalist property, of the capitalist division of labour, of capital as the primary element of industrial relationship (see Conde & Javier, 2018, p. 66)⁹.

Since the individualised and atomised society is already characterised by a mass of contradictions, the ultimate diversification of human corporeality will only deepen these contradictions, destroying the already fragile organic "props" of universal solidarity.

Of course, not all forms of transhumanism are blind to issues connected with maintaining the integrity of the social organism. In this connection, so-called *democratic* (social democratic?) transhumanism deserves special attention. For example, James Hughes focuses on problems related to the provision of equal access to "human improvement" technologies, as well as on issues of reaching consensus on the control of technological risks associated with the use of these technologies. However, the main thrust of Hughes's "social" discourse emphasises the exclusive right of people to something he refers to as "bodily sovereignty". Hughes writes:

We not only need to radicalise our understanding of citizens, the bearers of rights, but also of the rights we have to control our bodies and minds, and the structures we need to make those freedoms real. The right to control our bodies and minds should include the right of sane adults to change and enhance their own minds and bodies, to own our own genetic code, to take recreational drugs, to control our own deaths, and to have ourselves frozen. Procreative liberty, an extension of the right to control our body and life, should include the right to use germinal choice technologies to ensure the best possible life for our children. Strong democratic government is required not only to protect these rights, but to ensure that the technologies are tested for safety so that consumers understand their risks and benefits. We also need strong social democracies to ensure all citizens have access to these options, not just the affluent (Hughes, 2002; see also Hughes, 2004).

⁸ The understanding of "lifeworld" here is close to that expressed in the work of Jurgen Habermas. According to Habermas, "the lifeworld is, so to speak, the transcendental site where speaker and hearer meet, where they can reciprocally raise claims that their utterances fit the world (objective, social, or subjective), and where they can criticise and confirm those validity claims, settle their disagreements, and arrive at agreements. In a sentence: participants cannot assume *in actu* the same distance in relation to language and culture as in relation to the totality of facts, norms, or experiences concerning which mutual understanding is possible" (Habermas, 1987, p. 126).

⁹ Accordingly, "liberal-libertarian" transhumanism turns the old idea of perfecting man inside out, reducing him to a purely technological problem. As Nicolas le Dévédec remarks, "in its journey from the Enlightenment to transhumanism, the notion of perfectibility has been particularly distorted. Though it refers to a political project and an improvement of human beings in and by society in the Enlightenment (proposed in particular by Jean-Jacques Rousseau), it is simplified in transhumanist rhetoric to the technoscientific adaptation of the human being and of life itself. For transhumanism, politically changing the world is no longer the question" (le Dévédec, 2018, p. 3).

Admittedly, a "democratic" approach may help to mitigate "direct" risks, but it will not solve the problem of maintaining a "communicative whole". Sooner or later, "improved" (post-)people will lose their ability to sympathise with everyone else and, as a consequence, will cease to share a common human identity (I would label such a hypothetical situation with the term "great misunderstanding").

Here we can assume that the problem consists in the "immanent" order of modernity. At the same time, any appeal to the transcendental is likely to lead to even greater risks of destruction of the already tenuous layer of the universal human "lifeworld". There have been many recent attempts to include the idea of technological "improvement" of a person in various religious discourses (see, e.g., Cole-Turner, 2008; Donaldson & Cole-Turner, 2018; Maher & Mercer, 2009; Maher & Mercer, 2014, and other). In other words, although an appeal to the transcendent can function as a source of basic values and life guidelines (for example, God the Father as something that binds all that exists into a single whole, etc.), a transcendental *a priori* cannot form the basis of social unity – at least, not on a global scale. However, in adhering to the positions of humanistic naturalism, we can at least – as Francis Fukuyama does – appeal to "natural equality" (Fukuyama, 2003).

As we already noted, human nature provides the vast majority of people with a basic set of behaviour patterns, including the universal capacity for empathy. Since, by its very nature, what is transcendent is fundamentally unknowable, anyone may have their own ideas about it – or, for that matter, may choose not to acknowledge its existence in any way. As history clearly shows, all attempts to universalise the transcendent have led to aggression, wars, extremism, the destruction of trusting relationships, etc. When it comes to factors of estrangement, it is clear that religious disputes can only "add fuel to the fire". However, we can say that mainstream religious worldviews predominating in contemporary society have either been supplanted by "immanent" humanism and have, as a consequence, become highly individualised (Taylor, 2007).

From here, it is possible to progress to a "posthumanistic" position, in which the emphasis is shifted from the person to agency *per se* and whose claims to universality repudiate all hierarchical forms of organisation. If all forms of being are fundamentally equal, then social unity is feasible precisely in such a denial of all totality. Thus, the idea of de-universalisation (deconstruction) can itself become universal and unifying. If there is no longer such a thing as a universal Truth, then there remains only the universal *enjoyment of diversity and the freedom to play with various significations*. Here we see something akin to the Christian idea of unconditional love. The postmodern philosopher Gianni Vattimo aptly notes that in the era of the collapse of metanarratives, the Christian doctrine of universal love experiences a second birth along with the decline of metaphysics as a systematic philosophy (or the possibility of such philosophies), capable of offering a coherent, unified, strictly justified picture of the unchanging structures of being, having itself exhausted the possibility of a philosophical refutation of the existence of God (see Vattimo, 2007, p. 22).

This also means that it is possible to take another look at the idea of Christian love through a distinctive kind of "weakening of being". Every life, writes Vattimo, is

nothing but a perfect enjoyment of the meanings and spiritual forms produced by the history of mankind and constituting the "kingdom of immortality" (see Vattimo, 2007, p. 65). Under the pretext of combatting humanistic myths and affirming true diversity, posthumanism actually leads to a blurring (as it were, "comparing") of differences (as, for example, occurs in the desire to blur gender differences in the future cyborg society imagined by Donna Haraway (Haraway, 1985)). As the posthumanist philosopher Francesca Ferrando writes, "posthumanism challenges biocentrism, sentiocentrism, vitalism, and the concept of life itself, blurring the boundaries between the animate and the inanimate, in a quantum approach to the physics of existence" (Ferrando, 2019, p. 5). Within this approach, the human "dissolves" into matter, breaking up into atoms ("waves", "assemblies", "relativities", "vibrations") to reach a state in which everything is intertwined with everything else. Although this might sound attractive in theory, it is not at all clear how it can be put into practice. Here posthumanistic discourses can be seen to possess a certain critical energy, which nevertheless starts to flag whenever its creative potential is called into question. In this case, there is nothing with which to replace humanism, due to the tendency of posthumanism to establish a "negative" agenda (i.e. to deny some points of mastery and dominance), while little attention is paid to maintaining social unity. Posthumanistic discourses can thus be seen as focusing on *distancing*¹⁰ rather than on unity and transformation. Finally, many controversial contemporary social phenomena can be described in terms of a movement toward posthumanism: the erasing of cultural differences, the emergence of human-gadget, human-product and product-human blends, the hybridisation of person and machine, as well as the prospect of disposing of people considered "superfluous" to the contemporaneous economy into the virtual space (Fishman & Davydov, 2015). In the Manifesto of Metahumanism (metahumanism compromises a movement within which a philosophical synthesis of posthumanism and transhumanism is attempted), authored by Jaime Del Val and Stefan Lorenz Sorgner, we find the following:

It deepens the view of the body as field of relational forces in motion and of reality as immanent realised process of becoming which does not necessarily end up in defined forms or identities, but may unfold into endless amorphogenesis. Monsters are promising strategies for performing this development away from humanism (Del Val & Sorgner, 2011).

However, it is hard to understand how "monsters" resulting from unrestrained and chaotic self-transformations can even share common experience or emotions, let alone agree on socially significant problems having a global scope.

Thus, as we have discussed, the crisis of humanism is not *in the first place* an ideological crisis. Rather, it is a crisis of "immanent" anthropocentrism as a broad

¹⁰ R. Braidotti: "We have to realise that, contrary to the Marxist-Leninist idea of a global revolution, the changes that we can achieve are collective, but step by step, by distancing ourselves. Look at how feminism has shown us how to distance ourselves from male violence. Or how anti-racism has shown us how to distance ourselves from white supremacism. The point is to distance ourselves. It is like an exercise in detoxification. We have to detoxify our bad habits, in our way of consuming, of thinking, and of relating with others" (Andrés, 2019).

cultural phenomenon, serving to legitimise, in particular, the modern capitalist worldsystem. The essence of this crisis lies in the destructive potential of the activities of the "immanent man". Moreover, the main problem here is not so much that the modern order is capable of creating global problems that could potentially lead to the destruction of life on Earth, but rather that the "immanent man", as a result of interventions in his body and consciousness, risks breaking the last strings that connect him with other people in common *humanity*. In the latter case, the mechanisms of empathy and collective reflexivity are destroyed, which is a direct path to an ultra-alienated society. In order to solve this problem to overcome such a crisis, a shift in ethical optics is necessary. Accordingly, the focus of our consideration should shift from the human as "being present" (*Dasein*) to *personality forming an organic part of the social organism*. Such optics can be provided by the philosophy of personalism.

A Personalistic Perspective?

We should start by noting that the term "personalism" has many possible meanings. We can take "personalism" to refer to that idealistic philosophy, which asserts that the real is the personal. Within the framework of this approach, it is assumed that personality is substantial, i.e., comprising the primary form of being. However, here personality is not only substantial, but forms the primary category, within which any explanation of reality may be proposed on the basis of personal "attributes": consciousness, thinking, self-awareness, individuality, goal-setting, progress towards an established goal, modes of development, etc. Accordingly, it is asserted that God, comprising *personality per se*, is real. This understanding is most closely related to Christian tradition, being rooted in the doctrine of the Trinity. According to Niels Gregersen, the doctrine of the Trinity was truly revolutionary in relation to pre-Christian thought due to the fact that the very existence of God began to be seen as consisting in acts of communication. Divine personalities (prosopa = hypostaseis) are defined as existing in relationships, in communication. Thus, the Father is the Father only in relation to the Son, the Son is the Son only in relation to the Father, the Spirit is the Spirit only in relation to the Father from whom it emanates. It is only in the mutual surrender and perichoresis of divine personalities that God exists as God (see Gregersen, 2013, p. 11).

Modern forms of personalism arose as a kind of reaction to the depersonalising elements in the rationalism of the Enlightenment, including pantheism, Hegelian absolute idealism, individualism, as well as political collectivism informed by materialistic, psychological and evolutionary determinism.

Although personalism is very closely associated with Christian theology, there are also aspects of personalism that not only go beyond the Christian philosophical picture of the world, but also beyond religion itself. Personalism affirms the supreme reality and value of personality, i.e. both divine superpersonality and a human person in dialogue with it (in the image and likeness of God). The personalistic approach emphasises the significance, uniqueness and integrity of personality, as well as its fundamentally relational (dialogic) or social dimension (Williams & Bengtsson, 2018).

Since we cannot consider all possible personalistic philosophical currents here (not least on account of their diversity and abundance), instead we will try to state the position that seems most relevant to the context of philosophical discussions about technologies for changing the nature of man. The personalism to which we now turn is not represented by a specific philosophical school or movement. Rather, it consists in an attitude, a way of thinking that can be present in certain people, regardless of whether they consider themselves to be personalist philosophers or not. Moreover, it makes no difference whether a particular discourse is defined as "religious" or not. Here we will agree with Jean Lacroix, according to whom personalism is not a philosophy in the proper sense of the word. Or, seen another way, it is possible that not one, but several philosophical concepts of personalism exist, feeding on the same inspiration, but deriving from it various, largely dissimilar teachings: there are, for example, atheistic and Christian concepts of personalism, not to mention many others (see Lacroix, 2004, pp. 15-16). Accordingly, we refer here to personalism as consisting in a particular view of the world, in which the focus is on the being of personality as an organic part of the social whole (here we must separately emphasise the word "organic" - see below).

At this point, we will pause to make a necessary distinction, since the term "personality" has its own special meaning in the personalistic "tradition". This does not refer to the same thing as each and every individual or individuality. In the context of personalism, personality exceeds the set of "social qualities" of an individual human being. The philosophers Nikolay Berdyaev (Berdyaev, 2010; 2018), E. Mounier (Mounier, 1999), Jean Lacroix (Lacroix, 2004), and many others understood personality as an ecclesial being constituted as such by mode of existence and independence of being; this existence is supported through the adoption of a hierarchy of freely applicable and internally experienced values, through responsible inclusion in activity and a constant process of conversion; thus, it carries out its activities in freedom and, moreover, develops its vocation in all its originality through creative acts (see Mounier, 1999, p. 301).

In other words, a personality is a *spiritual being involved in creative activity* who actively *asserts him- or herself through an intersubjective individuality.* Here it is necessary to once again emphasise that personalism implies a fundamental distinction between the terms "personality" and "individual" or "individuality". This difference could not be more perfectly expressed by Nikolay Berdyaev. According to him, the concept of personality should not be confused with the concept of the individual, as frequently occurred in the thought of the 19th and 20th centuries. Since the individual implies a naturalistic category, i.e. biological and sociological, the concept appertains to the natural world. If, from a biological point of view, an individual forms part of a genus, then from a sociological perspective it functions in terms of forming part of society. That is to say, it comprises an atom – indivisible, without internal life, anonymous. Thus, an individual cannot be said to have an existence independent of genus or society. In itself, the individual is an inherently generic and social being, only an element or part defined by its interrelationship with the whole. Personality, on the other hand, has a completely contrasting meaning, which derives from spiritual and religious categories.

Personality speaks of a person's belonging not only to the natural and social order, but also to another dimension of being, to the spiritual world. Therefore, personality invokes a higher order of being than the natural and social. We will see that it cannot be part of anything whatsoever.

Society tends to consider personality in terms of an individual subordinate, as something that it owns due to having created it. From a sociological point of view, personality indeed forms a part of society - and a very small part at that. Thus, if society comprises a big circle, personality represents a small circle inserted into it. On a sociological basis, personality lacks the ability to oppose itself to society and cannot fight for its own interests. However, from the point of view of existential philosophy, the opposite is true: society is a small part of personality, merely its social aspect; even the world is only a part of personality. It is not society nor nature that form an existential centre but personality, which cannot be reduced to object but is always an existential subject. Of course, personality realises itself through social and cosmic existence, but it can only do this due to a principle that is independent both of nature and of human society forming within it. Personality is not defined as a part in relation to any whole (by "part of the whole" here Berdyaev means precisely a mechanical, instrumental unit as part of the whole. In what follows, I will use the more appropriate term "organic part of the whole" - D.D.). Personality is itself a totality, integrating the universal in itself and refusing to be part of any generality, world or society, universal or even Divine Being. Since personality is not in any way natural, it does not belong to an objective natural hierarchy and cannot be inserted into any natural series. Rooted in the spiritual world, the existence of personality presupposes a dualism of spirit and nature, freedom and determinism, individual and general, the kingdom of God and the kingdom of Caesar. The existence of human personality in the world suggests that the world is not self-sufficient, that the transcendence of the world is inevitable, its completion being found not in itself, but in God, the supermundane being. The freedom of the human personality is freedom not only in society and in the state, but also from society and from the state, determined by the fact of forming an exception to the world, an exception to nature and society, an exception to the kingdom of Caesar (see Berdyaev, 1999).

Here, we should not be confused by the appeal to the term "existential". In the sense that personalism is the philosophical attitude of a "sufferer" confronted with the abyss of its own subjective non-existence, the personalistic attitude is very close to the existentialist position. Nevertheless, the personalist philosophers *tend to avoid all individualism*. In experiencing its finiteness and mortality, as well as the emptiness of the modern "immanent order", the personalistic "personality" experiences something like "existential suffering". However, it is not by reflective "withdrawal into oneself" (as, for example, in Sartre), but by transcending *or going beyond one's own limits – i.e. by becoming an involved, social being –* that it is possible to escape from this condition. Thus, we may also consider personalism as a distinctive philosophy of acquiring the *sense of life* by means of an "active" appeal to the eternal. Such an appeal is possible either by means of *creative dialogue* with the divine superpersonality, or through *involved* being in this world. A man struggles with his finiteness and mortality, with all

"dissolving" tendencies; in so doing, he is *included* in what can be designated as *eternal*. This "inclusion" or involvement occurs without loss of individuality, as a face portrays the uniqueness of *countenance*. On the other hand, it is exactly in creative activity that true individuality can be exercised, which receives its meaningful content in *dialogical relationship with others*. Personalism, therefore, invokes the space of *intersubjectivity*. At the same time, we understand intersubjectivity specifically in terms of *sincere understanding of the other, i.e. compassion or "sympathy" for his or her experience*. Here, personality is subjectivity (*including inherent subjectivity*), *which transcends the biological matter of its medium, in the intersubjective space of culture*.

It may be objected that, if considering personalism as a certain tendency or the aggregate of some characteristic premises of thinking, then the features of personalism can be found in many philosophical trends. Thus, a personalistic way of thinking (although often not in its entirety!) can be seen in Teilhard de Chardin's concept of the noosphere (the noospheric planetary unity of mankind here functioning as an analogue of the personalistic "superpersonality") (Teilhard de Chardin, 1955/2008), the personalistic *spirit* of Russian religious philosophy (from Vladimir Soloviev and Fedor Dostoevsky to Aleksei Losev [see Kolesnichenko, 2018]), the philosophy of cosmism of Nikolai Fedorov, Konstantin Tsiolkovsky, Vladimir Vernadsky and others, as well as the communist *god-building* project of Anatoly Lunacharsky (Lunacharsky, 1925), and others.

Nevertheless, special attention should also be paid to Marxism, which in many of its variations is very close to the personalist worldview (for example, some works of Freudo-Marxist Erich Fromm are conceptually very similar to the works of the personalist philosopher Emmanuel Mounier (see, e.g., Fromm, 1955/1990, 2013). The proximity of personalism and Marxism has been repeatedly noted by the classic personalist writers themselves (see Lacroix, 2004, pp. 290-535). Such proximity should not be surprising, since in both philosophical traditions people are no longer considered as isolated beings, but rather as located between the immediate bodily, biological being and the social organism. There can be no such thing as an isolated "personality", any more than personality can be located in the faceless, mechanical part of the collective whole. Karl Marx himself showed a particular sensitivity to this question, describing man as an "ensemble of social relations" (Marx, 1969). In his exploration of Marx' philosophical and anthropological ideas, Pyotr N. Kondrashov cites the following features of the author's personalistic understanding of man: a person is both originally built into the object-external world (nature, culture, society, the world of symbols, social consciousness) as well as being in a dialectical relationship with it, forming and revealing itself in the intersubjectivity of social relations, experiencing its being-in-the-world as a suffering person in the form of partial, existential relations-to-the-world and to-oneself (see Kondrashov, 2019, pp. 154-165). Therefore, for Marx, more important than all other questions was the achievement of a social condition that would eliminate alienation between people. The movement towards such a state could also be described as humanism (i.e. "genuine", "real" humanism, etc.). However, from the point of view of semantics, it would be preferable to consider this in terms of *personalism*, since it is assumed

that there can be no autonomous, free, truly "personal" being as long as the social organism is loaded with contradictions. If, strictly speaking, there is no dialogue (but there is monological "imposition", "violence", "coercion", "deception", "repression", "insincerity", etc.); if there is an alienation of individual public "bodies" (or even "cells") with respect to the organic whole, then the human "I" is not free (i.e. it does not seem to belong to itself), because it is (and is being formed!) in the discursive chaos of hostile forces. This point should be emphasised due to its relevance in the context of attempts to change human nature: "personality", according to this approach, cannot have any kind of independent existence or be confined to an isolated *natural* container such as the individual human brain. Thus, personality consists in a set of relationships converging in a certain *relatively* autonomous whole. This statement recognises the posthumanistic approach discussed above. However, for Marx, along with many other personalist philosophers, a person cannot be liberated from the "fetters" that confuse and oppress him unless or until the social organism itself is freed from its internal contradictions as an intersubjective *whole*¹¹.

In this sense, Marxism is essentially personalistic. However, here we by no means assert that Marxism is the same thing as personalism. Although we have seen that personalistic intuitions are present in many Marxist schools, we should also consider some elements of Marxism that would appear to be hostile to personalism. For example, personalistic philosophers have repeatedly criticised depersonalising interpretations of Marx's philosophy, which reduce the being of personality to class categories in a kind of "tilt" towards collectivism (Berdyaev, 1999). It would also seem that historical relativism and anthropological praxis involving essentialist doctrines concerning humanity (see Kondrashov, 2019, pp. 91-153) are somewhat contrary to the personalistic way of thinking. In reducing the essence of humanity to a revolutionary change in the person and his/her environment, a consideration of subjectivity is constrained to the context of the present set of social relations, thus denying the essential personalistic idea of eternal dialogue. In this case, a public organism (the "totality" of social relations) is considered only in the context of a certain temporal discreteness, within which elements of the "new" are extrinsic (alien) to the elements of the "old". In this regard, a real dialogue of personalities (and, therefore, a truly inalienable personal being) becomes impossible as a consequence of the denial of intersubjective continuity. Here we will draw attention once again to the

¹¹ Karl Marx: "Let us suppose that we had carried out production as human beings. Each of us would have, in two ways, affirmed himself, and the other person. (1) In my production I would have objectified my individuality, its specific character, and, therefore, enjoyed not only an individual manifestation of my life during the activity, but also, when looking at the object, I would have the individual pleasure of knowing my personality to be objective, visible to the senses, and, hence, a power beyond all doubt. (2) In your enjoyment, or use, of my product I would have the direct enjoyment both of being conscious of having statisfied a human need by my work, that is, of having objectified man's essential nature, and of having thus created an object corresponding to the need of another man's essential nature. (3) I would have been for you the mediator between you and the species, and therefore would become recognised and felt by you yourself as a completion of your own essential nature and as a necessary part of yourself, and consequently would know myself to be confirmed both in your thought and your love. (4) In the individual expression of my life I would have directly created your expression of your life, and therefore in my individual activity I would have directly confirmed and realised my true nature, my human nature, my communal nature. Our products would be so many mirrors in which we saw reflected our essential nature." (Marx, 1966, pp. 126–127).

"existential" component of personalism: an inalienable personality can only find life to be meaningful through engagement in eternal or *timeless* dialogue. In this context, a personalist is any person who strives to ensure that his or her activity involves some kind of *meaning*, comprising a kind of *being for the sake* of descendants. Accordingly, if the intersubjective space of culture is subjected to rupture, then any meaning appertaining to the personal existence of living people is lost. For this reason, personalism implies a rather negative attitude towards the transhumanistic rhetoric of a "rupture" leading to the transition to a new, "postsingularity" level of consciousness (for example, Ray Kurzweil's computron (Kurzweil, 2012)). According to personalist ethics, any creation of "monsters" with which it is impossible engage in sincere dialogue starts to look something like collective suicide. Even if the "monsters" themselves do not pose an immediate danger, this scenario would rupture the relatively fragile strands that bind humanity into a single intersubjective whole.

It should have already have become clear that personalistic optics implies an appeal to social holism - here it is emphasised once again that we refer to an "organic", not a mechanical (!) whole. Relatively speaking, the crisis of humanism pertains to the *humanistic society* in which the individual and his or her "earthly being" forms the "centre" of the universe (and worldview). Conversely, a personalistic society (as a normative ideal) is first and foremost one comprised of those who strive to become part of a bigger picture, taken in the timeless (absorbed into eternity) dimension of the intersubjective space of culture (history, memory, etc.). This is neither consumerism nor hedonism, neither thrillseeker nor everyman, but rather encompasses those who go beyond the narrow framework of material existence, striving for an active creative statement in the world. However, such an ideal can only be constructive if the person is striving for mutual love and the unity of the intersubjective space itself. One of the most significant axiological shortcomings of both post- and transhumanism is their focus on the destruction of all intersubjective unity. Posthumanism, as we have seen, entails risks leading to value chaos, while transhumanism leads to chaotic technological transformations of the human species, which can lead to the complete disappearance of that which serves as the basis for possible commonality of experience, as well as affection and feelings. Post- and trans-humanism can thus be seen as two essentially different paths to the destruction of a common mental space, to total alienation and the destruction of commonality. Conversely, the ideal of personalism implies that the larger (wider, deeper, longer up to eternity) the intersubjective space, the stronger the unity of the person with the entire world (for example, through creativity aimed at the benefit of all of Humanity).

We will try to concretise the foregoing regarding its prospects for technological transformations of human nature.

1. First of all, it is worth noting that the personalist perspective – at least in the version that we are considering here – implies its own "ethical perspective", in which the focus is placed not on the individual, but on the personality forming an organic part of the social whole (here, the social whole should be understood as the *human social whole whose formation takes place on a planetary scale*). Thus, it is meaningless to consider ethical problems associated with trying to change human

nature if the ethical problems of a changing society are ignored. This position finds agreement with Habermas' position that irreversible interventions in the genes of unborn children should not be allowed, since this implies a "predetermination from the outside" (Habermas, 2003) involving a kind of "ontological lack of freedom". However, no less unfree is the one whose "I" is formed in a monological (alienated) framework of social relations. It should be borne in mind that the biological "substrate" of innate physicality serves as a kind of "barrier" that protects against manipulative external interventions in subjectivity (for example, while advertising can encourage a person to buy sparkling water, it does not in itself generate thirst). However, the technological "erosion" of this biological "barrier" has the potential to make people more vulnerable to such "transforming" power. Here, it is irrelevant if the changes are reversible or not. or whether they are the subject of formal consent. In an alienated world, overcoming such "natural" boundaries is the path to absolutely asymmetric relationships (for example, when a person ceases to understand whether he or she really is the person as whom he or she identifies or whether he or she (or some other gender identification) has been completely "constructed" by someone else).

2. Accordingly, truly symmetrical, dialogical relations are possible only if the main social contradictions are "resolved": socio-economic inequality on a global scale, the division of humanity into hostile nations, poverty and indigence, aggression and exploitation, etc. Only in such a case is it possible to predict the advent of personal freedom. This is also a kind of "posthumanistic" perspective, since the "authenticity" of a person's personality is then considered in terms of the transparency of the communicative space. A personality does not belong to itself until it participates on an equal footing in a collective, (self-)identification as an equally-valued and equallyparticipating member of a social organism (there is no paradox here since "immersion" in a social whole and dependency on it are inevitable: the only question is whether this "whole" is hostile or friendly, whether it is partly "mine" too). Therefore, the ethical priority in this case is expressed in the desire for at least an approximate achievement of a "disengaged" state, i.e. the struggle for a post-capitalist future (see, e.g., Davydov, 2020), direct e-democracy (see, e.g., Fuller, 2015), world citizenship¹², etc., and only then - balanced and gradual technological interventions in the human body. Such a perspective is certainly no more utopian than transhumanistic anticipations of technological singularity, universal cyborgisation, or, say, the construction of the above-mentioned computron.

3. The main danger associated with technologies for changing human nature is associated with the potential chaos of bodily and mental transformations, which can lead to the destruction of the universal human intersubjective space (lifeworld). The only obvious means by which this can be countered consists in collective reflexivity. At the same time, it is clear that simple democratic declarations or appeals to the existing mechanisms of nation states or international organisations will not be sufficient. What is needed is not more formal prohibitions or permits, but a genuine *rapprochement* of people on a global scale: a movement towards understanding and the possibility of sincerity. In this connection, the "noospheric" optics of Teilhard de

¹² World standardisation: https://www.mundialization.ca/about-hmc/history-of-mundialization/

Chardin might seem to offer the best fit. A growth in global consciousness (collective self-awareness) becomes necessary due to a constant increase in complexity of the human social organism itself. Conversely, a lack of connectivity, "centring" and "nervous" (communicational) sensitivity or coordination of the social whole can lead to a systemic inability of mankind to prevent global catastrophes. In demonstrating to what extent the human organisation is "ungathered" or "mismatched" on a global scale, the COVID-19 pandemic recalls the postmodern "body without organs": humanity is not able to recognise itself in its entirety (totality) or make timely, reflective decisions. Under such conditions, endless (and unprecedented!) interventions in the human body and consciousness are likely to lead to the destruction of what unites people into a single unified species (without "bodily" understanding, the possibility of achieving mutual understanding of the "social" becomes extremely doubtful). In addition, the technologies for changing human nature, as already noted above, are freighted with all kinds of inherent risks.

4. A personalistic perspective does not exclude the possibility of carrying out technological "improvements" to the human body. Rather, such improvements should be dialogical and transparent. In this context, we may simply remark that personalistic ethical optics is free of many of the essentialist features of anthropocentrism. A person is someone with whom I, also a person, can enter into sincere relationships, one whom I can try to understand and towards whom I can experience empathic feelings. Finally, a person is someone who is in the same dialogical and symmetrical relationship with the social whole in which I also participate. Therefore, a purely biological personality can be non-human in the "natural" sense. But if someone "drops out" or "withdraws into the shadows", losing the ability to engage in dialogue, sincerity, love, then, for the public organism, such an element may turn out to be something like a cancerous tumour, representing a mortal danger. Accordingly, the personalistic approach suggests that all kinds of transformations of the human body should flow out of social dialogue itself, collectively and excluding any intersubjective asymmetry.

5. Finally, the desire for unity of the intersubjective space of culture, affirmed by personalism, implies a special, "existential" view. The state of personalistic unity and integrity ("collectedness") is possible only within the framework of continuity. "Novelty" is to be celebrated not as something that breaks intersubjective space, but in its *enrichment or transformation* of this space. Otherwise, we are merely discussing the existence of what is *alien*. Such activities are, therefore, only meaningful to the extent that they are addressed to eternity. The person finds him- or herself not only in being present in the here and now, but also in the social whole, which goes beyond the boundaries of *the present*. Thus, personality does not exist here and now, but rather in the timeless dialogue of everyone with everyone else. Only in and through such a dialogue does personality acquire ontological status. Therefore, technological "improvements" to human beings can be directed not only to the future, but also to the past, i.e. towards an understanding of past experience including aesthetic enjoyment of what has already been. Maintaining the reflective unity of the social organism involves a *consolidation* of past and future.

Conclusion

In the foregoing, I have tried to show that the historical phenomenon of humanism (as "imminent" anthropocentrism) is in deep crisis. Moreover, this crisis is not limited to strictly ideological considerations. In essence, it is a crisis of humanistic anthropocentrism itself, which provides the impulse towards mechanisms of technological changes in the biological nature of individuals. Such "improvements" in the conditions of existing alienated social relations are likely to lead to the destruction of the universal human "lifeworld", a further increase in disunity and to general misunderstanding (up to the complete loss of the ability to empathise). In the long run, we are talking about the disintegration of a relatively unified humanity into many (at best, autonomous; at worst, mutually hostile) humanities. In this article, I have tried to show that many of the concepts of a post-anthropocentric future that are available today do not offer any reasonable solution to this problem. In response to this lacuna, a personalistic alternative is presented, which places personality - considered as an organic part of the global social whole - at the centre of the consideration. Here it is important to emphasise the risk that humanity may presently be approaching a situation where further centrifugal forces applied to an already atomised society (consisting of *people* considered as self-identical) threaten an "ideal storm" in terms of an outsurge of accumulated problems. Such a "storm" will quickly overwhelm a fragmented "posthumanity", which is at best incapable of mutual understanding; at worst, comprising a society of monsters. As we have seen, only a humanity unified by a timeless dialogue between personalities can hope to emerge from such a maelstrom unscathed. Nevertheless, personalism does not exclude the possibility of changing human nature. On the other hand, would not it be necessary to first address much more important problems associated with alienation and disconnection, creating an atmosphere, in which any "improvement" is fraught with "superiority" and the destruction of the "lifeworld"? Therefore, in taking a personalistic approach, people should first understand each other and the world around them, multiply sincere and warm relationships many times, and only then seriously think about "improving" the human body and consciousness.

References

Alaimo, S. (2016). *Exposed: Environmental Politics and Pleasures in Posthuman Times*. Minneapolis, MI: University of Minnesota Press.

Andrés, I. (2019, April 02). Rosi Braidotti: "What is necessary is a radical transformation, following the bases of feminism, anti-racism and anti-fascism". *CCCBLAB*. Retrieved from http://lab.cccb.org/en/rosi-braidotti-what-is-necessary-is-a-radical-transformation-following-the-bases-of-feminism-anti-racism-and-anti-fascism/

Bailey, R. (2005). *Liberation Biology: The Scientific and Moral Case for the Biotech Revolution*. Amherst, NY: Prometheus Books.

Barad, K. (2003). Posthumanist Performativity: Toward an Understanding of How Matter Comes to Matter. *Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society*, *28*(3), 801–831. DOI: <u>10.1086/345321</u>

Berdyaev, N.A. (1999). *Personalism and Marxism* (Fr. Stephen Janos, Trans.). Retrieved from <u>http://www.berdyaev.com/berdiaev/berd_lib/1935_400.html</u>

Berdyaev, N.A. (2010). *O rabstve i svobode cheloveka* [Slavery and Freedom]. Moscow: AST, Astrel', Poligrafizdat.

Berdyaev, N.A. (2018). *Smysl tvorchestva* [The Meaning of the Creative Act]. Moscow: AST.

Boccaccio, G. (2003). *The Decameron* (G. H. McWilliam, Trans.). London, UK: Penguin Classics. (Original work published 1353)

Bostrom, N. (2016). *Superintelligence: Paths, Dangers, Strategies*. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Bracciolini, G.F.P. (1984). *Fatsetsii* [Facetiae] (A. Dzhivelegov, Trans.). Moscow: Khudozhestvennaia Literatura. (Original work published 1470)

Braidotti, R. (2013). The Posthuman. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.

Braidotti, R. (2019). [Preface] The Posthuman as Exuberant Excess. In F. Ferrando, *Philosophical Posthumanism* (pp. xi–xvi). London, UK: Bloomsbury Academic.

Cano Abadía, M. (2018). New Materialisms: Re-Thinking Humanity within an Interdisciplinary Framework. *InterCultural Philosophy*, 1, 168–183. DOI: <u>10.11588/</u> icp.2018.1.48071

Chen-Morris, R., Yoran, H., & Zak, G. (2015). Renaissance Humanism and the Ambiguities of Modernity: Introduction. *The European Legacy*, *20*(5), 427–434. DOI: 10.1080/10848770.2015.1041819

Cole-Turner, R. (Ed.). (2008). *Design and Destiny: Jewish and Christian Perspectives on Human Germline Modification*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Conde, A., & Javier, S. (2018). ¿Esposibleun Transhumanismo Marxista? [Is transhumanist Marxism possible]. *Eikasía – Revista de Filosofía*, 82, 47–86. Retrieved from https://eprints.ucm.es/48441/

Davydov, D. A. (2020). *Lichnost' i gosudarstvo v terniiakh postkapitalizma: na puti k novoi antagonisticheskoi obshchestvennoi formatsii* [Personality and State in the Thorns of Post-Capitalism: toward a New Antagonistic Formation]. Moscow: LENAND.

Del Val, J., & Sorgner, S. L. (2011). A Metahumanist Manifesto. *The Agonist*, 4(2). New York, NY: Nietzsche Circle. Retrieved from https://metabody.eu/metahumanism/

Deleuze, G., & Guattari, F. (1977). *Anti Oedipus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia* (R. Hurley, M. Seem, & H. Lane, Trans.). New York, NY: Penguin Books. (Originally published in French 1972)

Derrida, J. (1977). *Of Grammatology* (corrected edition; G. C. Spivak, Trans.). Baltimore, MD: The Johns Hopkins University Press. (Originally published in French 1967)

Des Périers, B. (1965). *Cymbalum Mundi* (B.L. Knapp, Trans.). New York, NY: Bookman Associates. (Original work published 1537)

le Dévédec, N. (2018). Unfit for the Future? The Depoliticization of Human Perfectibility, From the Enlightenment to Transhumanism. *European Journal of Social Theory*, *21*(4), 488–507. DOI: <u>10.1177/1368431017750974</u>

Donaldson, S., & Cole-Turner, R. (Eds.). (2018). *Christian Perspectives on Transhumanism and the Church. Chips in the Brain, Immortality, and the World of Tomorrow.* London, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.

Esfandiary, F. M. (1989). *Are You a Transhuman? Monitoring and Stimulating Your Personal Rate of Growth in a Rapidly Changing World*. New York, NY: Warner Books.

Ettinger, R.C.W. (1972). *Man into Superman: The Startling Potential of Human Evolution and How to be Part of It*. New York, NY: St. Martin's Press.

Ferrando, F. (2013). Posthumanism, Transhumanism, Antihumanism, Metahumanism and New Materialisms: Differents and Relations. *Existenz*, *8*(2), 26–32. Retrieved from <u>https://existenz.us/volumes/Vol.8-2Ferrando.pdf</u>

Ferrando, F. (2019). *Philosophical Posthumanism*. London, UK: Bloomsbury Academic.

Fishman, L.G., & Davydov, D.A. (2015). Budushhee kapitalizma: ot litRPG k futurologii [The Future of Capitalism: from litRPG to Futurology]. *Svobodnaja mysl'*, 3, 139–150.

Foucault, M. (1994). *The Order of Things: An Archaeology of the Human Sciences*. New York, NY: Vintage Books. (Originally published in French 1966)

Freud, S. (1949). *The Ego and the Id*. London, UK: The Hogarth Press. (Original work published 1927)

Fromm, E. (1990). *The Sane Society*. New York, NY: Holt Paperbacks. (Original work published 1955)

Fromm, E. (2013). *To Have or To Be?* London, UK: Bloomsbury Academic. (Original work published 1976).

Fukuyama, F. (2003). *Our Posthuman Future: Consequences of the Biotechnology Revolution*. New York, NY: Picador.

Fuller, R. (2015). *Beasts and Gods: How Democracy Changed Its Meaning and Lost Its Purpose*. London, UK: Zed Books.

Gorfunkel, A. Kh. (2017). *Filosofiia epokhi vozrozhdeniia* [Renaissance Philosophy] (3rd ed.). Moscow: LENAND.

Gregersen, N. (2013). Imago Imaginis: Chelovecheskaja lichnosť s bogoslovskoj tochki zrenija [Imago Imaginis: A Human Person From a Theological Point of View] (S. Pavlov, Trans.). In A. Bodrov & M. Tolstoluzhenko (Eds.), *Bogoslovie lichnosti* [Theology of the Person] (pp. 1–27). Moscow: BBI Publ.

Habermas, J. (1987). *The Theory of Communicative Action: Vol. 2. Lifeworld and System: A Critique of Functionalist Reason* (Th. A. McCarthy, Trans.). Boston, MA: Beacon Press.

Habermas, J. (2003). The Future of Human Nature. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.

Harari, Y.N. (2017). *Homo Deus: A Brief History of Tomorrow Homo Deus*. New York, NY: Harper.

Haraway, D. (1985). Manifesto for Cyborgs: Science, Technology, and Socialist-Feminism in the 1980s. *Socialist Review*, 80, 65–107.

Haraway, D. (1991). *Simians, Cyborgs and Women: The Reinvention of Nature*. New York, NY: Routledge.

Hassan, I. (1977). Prometheus as Performer: Toward a Posthumanist Culture? *Georgia Review*, 31, 830–850.

Hayles, N.K. (1999). *How We Became Posthuman: Virtual Bodies in Cybernetics, Literature, and Informatics.* Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Heidegger, M. (1978). Letter on Humanism. In D. F. Krell (Ed.), *Heidegger: Basic Writings* (F. A. Capuzzi & J. G. Gray, Trans.; pp. 193–242). London, UK: Routledge & Kegan Paul. (Original work published 1946)

Hottois, G. (2014). Transgumanizm – eto gumanizm? [Is Transhumanism a Humanism?]. *Chelovek*, 6, 46–53.

Hughes, J. (2002). *Democratic Transhumanism 2.0*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.changesurfer.com/Acad/DemocraticTranshumanism.htm</u>

Hughes, J. (2004). *Citizen Cyborg: Why Democratic Societies Must Respond to the Redesigned Human of the Future*. New York, NY: Basic Books.

Huxley, J. (1958). Religion without Revelation. New York, NY: Mentor.

Kolesnichenko, I.V. (2018). *Lichnost' v russkoi filosofii 1920–1930-kh godov: biografiia idei* [Person in Russian Philosophy of the 1920–1930s: Biography of an Idea]. Moscow: Entsiklopedist-Maksimum.

Kondrashov, P.N. (2019). *Filosofiia Karla Marksa. Ekzistentsial'noantropologicheskie aspekty* [Karl Marx's Philosophy: Existential and Anthropological Aspects]. Moscow: URSS.

Kurtz, P. (2007). What Is Secular Humanism? Amherst, NY: Prometheus Books.

Kurzweil, R. (2005). The Singularity is Near. New York, NY: Viking Books.

Kurzweil, R. (2012). *How to Create a Mind: The Secret of Human Thought Revealed*. New York, NY: Viking Books.

Lacroix, J. (2004). *Izbrannoe: Personalizm* (I.I. Blauberg, I.S. Vdovina, & V.M. Volodin, Trans.) [Personalism: Selected Works]. Moscow: ROSSPEN.

Lunacharsky, A.V. (1925). *Ot Spinozy do Marksa* [From Spinoza to Marx]. Moscow: Novaia Moskva. Retrieved from <u>http://lunacharsky.newgod.su/lib/ot-spinozy-do-marksa/naucnyj-socializm/#%D0%BC%D0%B0%D1%80%D0%BA%D1%81</u>

Lyotard, J.-F. (1984). *The Postmodern Condition: A Report on Knowledge*. (G. Bennington & B. Massumi, Trans.). Minneapolis, MI: University of Minnesota Press. (Originally published in French 1979)

Maher, D. F., & Mercer, C. (Eds.). (2009). *Religion and the Implications of Radical Life Extension*. London, UK: Palgrave Macmillan. DOI: <u>10.1057/9780230100725</u>

Maher, D. F., & Mercer, C. (Eds.). (2014). *Transhumanism and the Body. The World Religions Speak*. New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan US. DOI: <u>10.1057/9781137342768</u>

Marguerite of Navarre (1984). *The Heptaméron* (P.A. Chilton, Trans.). London, UK: Penguin Classics. (Original work published 1558)

Marx, K. (1966). Zametki po povodu knigi Dzhemsa Millja [Notes on James Mill] (n.d., Trans.). *Voprosy filosofii*, 2, 113–127.

Marx, K. (1969). Theses on Feuerbach. In K. Marx & F. Engels (Eds.), *Selected Works* (W. Lough, Trans.; Vol. 1; pp. 13–15). Retrieved from <u>https://www.marxists.org/</u> archive/marx/works/1845/theses/theses.htm

Mason, P. (2017). *Postcapitalism: A Guide to Our Future*. New York, NY: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.

More, T. (2003). *Utopia*. London, UK: Penguin Classics. (Original work published 1516)

Mounier, E. (1999). *Manifest personalizma* [The Personalist Manifesto] (I.S. Vdovina & V.M. Volodina, Trans.). Moscow: Respublika.

Nietzsche, F. (2017). *Po tu storonu dobra i zla. Preliudija k filosofii budushchego* (N.N. Polilov, Trans.). [Beyond Good and Evil]. Moscow: Eksmo Press. Retrieved from http://nietzsche.ru/works/main-works/side/ (Originally published in German 1886)

Petrarch, F. (2011). *Moja tajna, ili Kniga besed o prezrenii k miru* [My Secret Book]. (M. Gershenzon, Trans.). Moscow: URSS. (Original work published 1343)

Rabelais, F. (2016). *Gargantiua i Pantagriuel'* [The Life of Gargantua and of Pantagruel] (V. Piast, Trans.). Moscow: Azbuka Attikus. (Original work published 1532–1564)

Sartre, J.-P. (1989). Existentialism Is a Humanism (Ph. Mairet, Trans.). In W. Kaufman (Ed.), *Existentialism from Dostoyevsky to Sartre* (pp. 345–368). New

York, NY: Meridian Publishing. Retrieved from <u>https://www.marxists.org/reference/</u> archive/sartre/works/exist/sartre.htm (Original work published 1956)

Spufford, P. (1989). *Money and Its Use in Medieval Europe*. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

Srnicek N., & Williams, A. (2015). *Inventing the Future: Postcapitalism and a World without Work*. New York, NY: Verso.

Stam, S.M. (1984). Vedushchie idei ital'ianskogo gumanizma [Leading Ideas of Italian Humanism]. In S.M. Stam (Ed.), *Ital'ianskii gumanizm epokhi Vozrozhdeniia. Sbornik tekstov. Chast' 1*. [Italian Renaissance Humanism. Collection of Texts. Part 1.] (N.V. Reviakina, N.I. Deviataikina, & L.M. Luk'ianova, Trans.). Saratov: Izdatel'stvo Saratovskogo universiteta.

Stirner, M. (2017). *The Unique and Its Property* (A. Ludd, Trans.). Underworld Amusements. Retrieved from <u>https://theanarchistlibrary.org/library/max-stirner-the-unique-and-its-property</u> (Originally published in German 1845)

Taylor, Ch. M. (2007). A Secular Age. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Teilhard de Chardin, P. (2008). *The Phenomenon of Man* (B. Wall, Trans.). New York, NY: Harper Perennial Modern Classics. (Originally published in French 1955)

Vattimo, G. (2007). *Posle khristianstva* [After Christianity]. (D. V. Novikov, Trans.). Moscow: Tri Kvadrata.

Wallerstein, I. (2004). *World-Systems Analysis: An Introduction*. Durham, NC: Duke University Press.

Weber, M. (2002). *The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism: and Other Writing* (P. Baehr & G.C. Wells, Trans.). London, UK: Penguin Classics. (Originally published in German 1905–1910)

Williams, T.D., & Bengtsson, J.O. (2018). Personalism. In *Stanford Encyclopedia* of *Philosophy*. Retrieved from <u>https://plato.stanford.edu/entries/personalism/</u>



BOOK REVIEW

Germaine R. Halegoua (2019). *The Digital City: Media and the Social Production of Place*. New York: New York University Press.

Elena G. Trubina Ural Federal University, Yekaterinburg, Russia

Techno-capitalist urban redevelopment is marked by an increased popularity of digital urban governance and various intersections between platforms and urbanity. These exacerbate the existing socio-spatial inequalities while depolitisizing dataisation and digitalization, which now are widely considered the popular ways of general advancement of city life, particularly by authorities of all levels and corporations. While research into so-called "smart" or "digital" cities has mushroomed over the two last decades there remain some considerable gaps in our understanding of the links among the tangible, physical urban spaces, and the changes that the digital age brings, namely and most elementary, that participating in city life is impossible without being plugged.

Two of the most pressing gaps form the focus of this book that seeks to elucidate: first, how citizens daily engage in the digital placemaking practices; second, diversity of ways in which various populations employ navigation technologies and media platforms. While the attempts to make sense of the growing digitization and datafication of cities are timely and much-needed, a key limitation is that these often tend to locate governance strategies and processes of data circulation almost wholly in the digital realm. Digitization, further, is often described as the top-down strategy increasingly used by the governments, municipalities and corporate players. This fails to make sense of numerous and intricate intersections of digital and physical spaces. It underestimates the material transmission of digital content in offline surroundings, as well as the digital remediation of urban places. However, since the uses of information and communication technology in the city are promoted by firms and governments, it is important to consider the tensions among citizen-oriented digital tools and "steering" of digitization by powerful urban and national players. In this vein, Halegoua critically juxtaposes the visions and practices of digital urban professionals, the authorities, and the urban residents in five chapters.

Received 10 June 2020 Published online 9 July 2020 © 2020 Elena G. Trubina elena.trubina@gmail.com

Chapter 1 "Smart City: Strategic Placemaking and the Internet of Things" looks at the image-making processes as envisioned by the corporations and authorities in "smart-from-the-start" showcase projects in three countries, namely, Songdo International Business District in South Korea, Masdar City in Abu Dhabi in the United Arab Emirates and PlanIT Valley near Porto in Portugal. United by their artificiality, these cities, the author shows, have difficulties attracting residents because they lack vibe, vibrancy, and history – traits that cities build for centuries. Strategic placemaking and imagination are reductive in a sense that citizens are understood here as "points of data collection" and community as "quantified" (p. 53).

In the next chapter, the one on digital infrastructure and urban transformation, Halegoua focuses on the controversies stemming from the ambitious project undertaken by Google corporation – Google Fiber in Kansas City. Google chose Kansas City and surroundings in 2011 as the first city to launch a citywide network of fiber cables: a cheap super-fast Internet and TV was made available. There, the corporate ideas about efficient services clashed with the values of citizens and their ways of understanding community and home. The author reflects on the contrasts between the rhetoric of "broadband optimism" and "ameliorating the digital divide" and things on the ground and claims that many efforts, which were progressively framed to be "sold" to municipal authorities did not materialize (p. 75). Joining the growing group of scholars investigating the tactics of non-use, media refusal, and opting out and drawing on an extensive fieldwork, Halegoua shows that the Kansas City residents quickly realized that it is not their sense of place and identities that Google had in mind. In other words, "Google Fiber was perceived as service that didn't imagine them as potential users in realistic and meaningful ways" (pp. 87–88).

Reaching beyond the substantial social, technical, psychological and practical issues raised by the implementation of the top-down digital projects, the book also examines anthropological and other theoretical underpinnings of the digitalized everyday practices of navigating cities in chapters 3 (on navigating space as place) and 4 (on the spatial self). Drawing on the mix of questionnaire use and interviews conducted in Madison and Lawrence, as well as the studies of spatial cognition, the author shows the changes in mental mapping of a city caused by the use of GPS and other navigation devices. If in classic Lynch's study, it is the city's legibility, that is its capacity to generate its image as a whole that is continuously emphasized, today the citizens not only are not concerned with "wholeness" but they delegated wayfinding tasks to their devices and are quite comfortable about it (p. 123). Visualizing of routes and paths affords citizens' "agency in placemaking" (p. 144).

Devices are also of great importance for broadcasting visited places that the users knowingly perform. In the strongest, in my view, chapter 4, the author traces the genealogy of the ways of registering and demonstrating one's presence in place and their importance for constructing identities and building a sense of belonging. "Geocoded self-presentation", as well as selfie-making become parts of the spatial self which is interestingly discussed in this chapter. Halegoua embeds her analysis of the connections between who urban dwellers are and places they want to be and seen in the account of the changed sense of the world, and asks a highly relevant

question: "When the world is presented as an expansively locatable series of places where a person can perpetually belong, does this alter individual or collective agency to intervene in the social production of place?" (p. 149). Lefebvre's perspective on the production of space in the current digital context is used by the author to problematize a number of skeptical and critical assessments of the impact that the digitalization has on a sense of place.

Rather than mourning the alleged fragmentation of places caused by digital navigation, etc., she powerfully shows how the very practices of constructing the cities are changing and how productive tensions between people, technologies, subjective connective and place-related agency, and embodied practices emerge. One of the subchapters of the book, I believe, will particularly resonate with readers: there, the author talks about self-quantification as the popular strategy of placemaking. The datafication of people's bodies and practices is implemented through monitoring apps and wearable devices. The amount of attention directed at variously measuring a number of one's steps, heartrate, distances covered, minutes spent without web surfing, etc. is indeed remarkable. Equally remarkable is enthusiasm with which people entrust their privacy and autonomy in hands of global platforms, producers of smartphones and applications like Fitbit, Samsung Health, Getupp and many, many others. Intense global tracking, processing and selling of personal data would be impossible without voluntary self-tracking and it is exactly its voluntariness that interests the author. Halegoua charts ambivalences characteristic for those "new algorithmic identities", for instance, the reduction of a sense of surprise and strangeness, which are historically important for exploring a city (p. 176). Ambivalent is also the process of making sense of data since it is, as a rule, easier to gather data than to interpreted it and, as a result, location itself becomes context: "In the datafication of location, paradoxically, a sense of place is often the context that is both lost and sought through data collection and analysis" (p. 177).

The final chapter of the book is devoted to the uses of digital media in creative place and the author completes a sort of the circle: having started from rendering the top down approaches to placemaking facilitated by professionals, the book in the end again returns to the practices of those who professionally implement placemaking activities (p. 183). Continuing with capturing ambivalences of the urban digital era, the author admits to the vagueness of the very goals of creative placemaking (p. 185). Indeed, for starters, what exactly differentiate creative placemaking from "simple" placemaking, particularly given that in the preceding chapters of the book Halegoua impressively demonstrated richness and diversity of the everyday spatial-digital practices of lay citizens. It is natural then that creative placemaking is met with a great deal of skepticism, and the images of Trojan horse covered with the blanket saying "Art place grant" are used in the posters depicting what seem to be self-serving agendas of the boosters, which promise to bring vibrancy back to cities.

Summarizing the activities of three American funds for creative placemaking, Halegoua posits a few contradictions marking the use of digital media to promote and indeed make spaces. Deemed drivers of economic development, creative industries contribute to decrease of local business and physical sense of place. One of the conclusions she comes to in this chapter is that "a shift in perspective and the incorporation of digital media as creative rather than commercial could help recognize experiences of place attachment and place identity that are emerging alongside digital media use in everyday life" (p. 213). This strikes me as not particularly realistic hope: first, the very juxtaposition of "commercial" and "creative" seems at odds with the predominant understanding of everything creative these days, namely, the commodification, mediatisation, and instrumentalization of creativity; second, however different the practices of users are, they obviously lack cultural or aesthetic novelty, which is commonly associated with creativity. Similarly, I failed to fully grasp the force of the author's juxtaposition of "the space of humanistic use and the space of top-down exchange process" (p. 222).

The possibility of gaining "right to the city" through digital media and related placemaking – which is one of the main arguments of the book – seems to me very modest. I think that the book insufficiently takes into account an extent to which datafication is linked to dataveillance and more generally, the immense internalization by citizens of strategies of digital capitalism. Whether their digital practices present the case of everyday creativity, as the author claims, or the case of puzzling compliance with the norms of big data epoch, is an open question. The book ends with generous suggestions for future research, and I am confident that it will acts as a stimulus to further research into digital cities. While you may not agree with all Halegoua's arguments, this is a useful book, which should be read widely by all those interested in the connections between digitality, cultural politics, and everyday life.



ETHICAL CODE

FOR JOURNAL EDITORS

We ask all journal editors to make every reasonable effort to adhere to the following ethical code for *Changing Societies & Personalities* journal articles that are worthy of peer review:

- Journal editors should be accountable for everything published in their journals meaning that they should strive to meet the needs of readers and authors; strive to constantly improve their journal; have processes in place to assure the quality of the material they publish; champion freedom of expression; maintain the integrity of the academic record; preclude business needs from compromising intellectual and ethical standards; always be willing to publish corrections, clarifications, retractions and apologies when needed.
- Journal editors should give unbiased consideration to each manuscript submitted for consideration for publication, and should judge each on its merits, without regard to race, religion, nationality, sex, seniority, or institutional affiliation of the author(s).
- Journal editors' decisions to accept or reject a paper for publication should be based on the paper's importance, originality and clarity, and the study's validity and its relevance to the remit of the journal. Editors should not reverse decisions to accept submissions unless serious problems are identified with the submission.
- Journal editors must ensure that all published reports and reviews of research have been reviewed by suitably qualified reviewers (including statistical review where appropriate), and ensure that non-peer-reviewed sections of their journal are clearly identified.
- Journal editors must keep the peer-review process confidential. The editor and any editorial staff of the journal must not disclose any information about a submitted manuscript to anyone other than the corresponding author, reviewers, potential reviewers, other editorial advisers, and the publisher, as appropriate.
- If a journal editor receives a claim that a submitted article is under consideration elsewhere or has already been published, then he or she has a duty to investigate the matter with CS&P Editorial Board.

Changing Societies & Personalities, 2020, Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 252–256

- An editor should take reasonably responsive measures when ethical complaints have been presented concerning a submitted manuscript or published paper. Such measures will generally include contacting the author of the manuscript or paper and giving due consideration of the respective complaint or claims made.
- Journal editors may reject a submitted manuscript without resort to formal peer review if they consider the manuscript to be inappropriate for the journal and outside its scope.
- Journal editors should make all reasonable effort to process submitted manuscripts in an efficient and timely manner.
- Journal editors should arrange for responsibility of the peer review of any original research article authored by themselves to be delegated to a member of the CS&P Editorial Board as appropriate.
- If a journal editor is presented with convincing evidence that the main substance or conclusions of an article published in the journal are erroneous, then, in consultation with CS&P Editorial Board, the journal editor should facilitate publication of an appropriate corrigendum or erratum.
- Editor should refrain herself (himself) (i.e. should ask a co-editor, associate editor or other member of the editorial board instead to review and consider) from considering manuscripts, in which they have conflicts of interest resulting from competitive, collaborative, or other relationships or connections with any of the authors, companies, or (possibly) institutions connected to the papers.
- Any data or analysis presented in a submitted manuscript should not be used in a journal editor's own research except with the consent of the author. Privileged information or ideas obtained through peer review must be kept confidential and not used for personal advantage.
- Editors should be alert to intellectual property issues and work with their publisher to handle potential breaches of intellectual property laws and conventions.
- Journal editors should make decisions on which articles to publish based on quality and suitability for the journal and without interference from the journal owner/publisher.

FOR AUTHORS

We expect all authors submitting to *Changing Societies & Personalities* journal to adhere to the following ethical code:

- All authors must warrant that their article is their own original work, which does not infringe the intellectual property rights of any other person or entity, and cannot be construed as plagiarizing any other published work, including their own previously published work. Plagiarism takes many forms, from 'passing off' another's paper as the author's own paper, to copying or paraphrasing substantial parts of another's paper (without attribution), to claiming results from research conducted by others. Plagiarism in all its forms constitutes unethical publishing behavior and is unacceptable.
- All authors named on the paper are equally held accountable for the content of a submitted manuscript or published paper. All persons who have made significant scientific or literary contributions to the work reported should be named as co-authors. The corresponding author must ensure all named co-authors consent to publication and to being named as a co-author. Where there are others who have participated in certain substantive aspects of the research project, they should be acknowledged or listed as contributors.
- Authors must not submit a manuscript to more than one journal simultaneously. An author should not in general publish manuscripts describing essentially the same research in more than one journal of primary publication. Authors should not submit previously published work, nor work, which is based in substance on previously published work, either in part or whole.
- Authors must appropriately cite all relevant publications. The authors should ensure that they have written entirely original works, and if the authors have used.
- the work and/or words of others, this has been appropriately cited or quoted. Information obtained privately, as in conversation, correspondence, or discussion with third parties, should not be used or reported in the author's work unless fully cited, and with the permission of that third party.
- If required, authors must facilitate access to data sets described in the article. a paper should contain sufficient detail and references to permit others to replicate the work.
- Authors must declare any potential conflict of interest be it professional or financial – which could be held to arise with respect to the article. All authors should disclose in their manuscript any financial or other substantive conflict of interest that might be construed to influence the results or interpretation of their manuscript.
- Authors must avoid making defamatory statements in submitted articles, which could be construed as impugning any person's reputation.

FOR PEER REVIEWERS

We ask all peer reviewers to make every reasonable effort to adhere to the following ethical code for *Changing Societies & Personalities* journal articles they have agreed to review:

- Reviewers must give unbiased consideration to each manuscript submitted for consideration for publication, and should judge each on its merits, without regard to race, religion, nationality, sex, seniority, or institutional affiliation of the author(s).
- Reviewers should declare any potential conflict of interest interests (which may, for example, be personal, financial, intellectual, professional, political or religious) prior to agreeing to review a manuscript including any relationship with the author that may potentially bias their review.
- Reviewers must keep the peer review process confidential; information or correspondence about a manuscript should not be shared with anyone outside of the peer review process.
- Reviewers should provide a constructive, comprehensive, evidenced, and appropriately substantial peer review report, and provide feedback that will help the authors to improve their manuscript. Reviewers should express their views clearly with supporting arguments and make clear, which suggested additional investigations are essential to support claims made in the manuscript under consideration, and which will just strengthen or extend the work. Reviewers must ensure that their comments and recommendations for the editor are consistent with their report for the authors.
- Reviewers must be objective in their reviews, refraining from being hostile or inflammatory. Reviewers must avoid making statements in their report, which might be construed as impugning any person's reputation. Personal criticism of the author is inappropriate.
- Reviewers must be aware of the sensitivities surrounding language issues that are due to the authors writing in a language that is not their own, and phrase the feedback appropriately and with due respect.
- Reviewer must not suggest that authors include citations to the reviewer's (or their associates') work merely to increase the reviewer's (or their associates') citation count or to enhance the visibility of their or their associates' work; suggestions must be based on valid academic or technological reasons.
- Any selected reviewer who feels unqualified to review the research reported in a manuscript should notify the editor and excuse himself from the review process.

- Reviewers should make all reasonable effort to submit their report and recommendation in a timely manner, informing the editor if this is not possible.
- Reviewers should identify relevant published work that has not been cited by the authors. Any statement that an observation, derivation, or argument had been previously reported should be accompanied by the relevant citation. Reviewers should call to the journal editor's attention any significant similarity between the manuscript under consideration and any published paper or submitted manuscripts, of which they are aware.
- Unpublished materials disclosed in a submitted manuscript must not be used in a reviewer's own research without the express written consent of the author. Privileged information or ideas obtained through peer review must be kept confidential and not used for personal advantage.

Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 257–268



INSTRUCTION FOR AUTHORS

Thank you for choosing to submit your paper to us. These instructions will ensure we have everything required so your paper can move through peer review, production and publication smoothly. Please take the time to read and follow them as closely as possible, as doing so will ensure your paper matches the journal's requirements.

Use these instructions if you are preparing a manuscript to submit to *Changing Societies & Personalities*. To explore our journal portfolio, visit https://changing-sp.com

Changing Societies & Personalities considers all manuscripts on the strict condition that:

1. the manuscript is your own original work, and does not duplicate any other previously published work, including your own previously published work;

2. the manuscript has been submitted only to *Changing Societies & Personalities*; it is not under consideration or peer review or accepted for publication or in press or published elsewhere;

3. the manuscript contains nothing that is abusive, defamatory, libelous, obscene, fraudulent, or illegal.

By submitting your manuscript to *Changing Societies & Personalities* you are agreeing to any necessary originality checks your manuscript may have to undergo during the peer-review and production processes.

Manuscript preparation

1. General guidelines

Description of the journal's reference style

All authors must submit articles written in good English using correct grammar, punctuation and vocabulary. If authors are non-native English speakers or writers, may, if possible to have their submissions proofread by a native English speaker before submitting their article for consideration.

Please use double quotation marks, except where "a quotation is 'within' a quotation". Long quotations of words or more should be indented with quotation marks.

A typical manuscript is from 6000 to 8000 words including tables, references, captions, footnotes and endnotes. Review articles will not exceed

4000 words, and book reviews – 1500 words. Manuscripts that greatly exceed this will be critically reviewed with respect to length.

Manuscripts should be compiled in the following order: title page (including Acknowledgements as well as Funding and grant-awarding bodies); abstract; keywords; main text; acknowledgements; references; appendices (as appropriate); table(s) with caption(s) (on individual pages); figure caption(s) (as a list).

Abstracts of 150–200 words are required for all manuscripts submitted.

Each manuscript should have 5 to 10 keywords.

Section headings should be concise.

All authors of a manuscript should include their full names, affiliations, postal addresses, telephone numbers and email addresses on the cover page of the manuscript. One author should be identified as the corresponding author. Please give the affiliation where the research was conducted. If any of the named co-authors moves affiliation during the peer review process, the new affiliation can be given as a footnote. Please note that no changes to affiliation can be made after the manuscript is accepted. Please note that the email address of the corresponding author will normally be displayed in the published article and the online version.

All persons who have a reasonable claim to authorship must be named in the manuscript as co-authors; the corresponding author must be authorized by all coauthors to act as an agent on their behalf in all matters pertaining to publication of the manuscript, and the order of names should be agreed by all authors.

Please supply a short biographical note for each author.

Please supply all details required by any funding and grant-awarding bodies as an Acknowledgement on the title page of the manuscript, in a separate paragraph, as follows:

For single agency grants: "This work was supported by the [Funding Agency] under Grant [number xxxx]."

For multiple agency grants: "This work was supported by the [Funding Agency 1] under Grant [number xxxx]; [Funding Agency 2] under Grant [number xxxx]; and [Funding Agency 3] under Grant [number xxxx]."

For all manuscripts non-discriminatory language is mandatory. Sexist or racist terms must not be used.

2. Style guidelines

| Font: | Helvetica, "Helvetica Neue" or Calibri, Sans-Serif, |
|-----------------|---|
| | 12 point. Use margins of at least 2.5 cm (1 inch). |
| Title: | Use bold for your article title, with an initial capital letter |
| | for any proper nouns. |
| Authors' names: | Give the names of all contributing authors on the |
| | title page exactly as you wish them to appear in the |
| | published article. |

Changing Societies & Personalities, 2020, Vol. 4, No. 2, pp. 257–268

| Affiliations: | List the affiliation of each author (department, university, city, country). |
|----------------------------|--|
| Correspondence details: | Please provide an institutional email address for the corresponding author. Full postal details are also needed by the publisher, but will not necessarily be published. |
| Anonymity for peer review: | Ensure your identity and that of your co-authors is not revealed in the text of your article or in your manuscript files when submitting the manuscript for review. |
| Abstract: | Indicate the abstract paragraph with a heading or by reducing the font size. |
| Keywords: | Please provide five to ten keywords to help readers find your article. |
| Headings: | Please indicate the level of the section headings in your article: First-level headings (e.g. Introduction, Conclusion) should be in bold, with an initial capital letter for any proper nouns. Second-level headings should be in bold italics, with an initial capital letter for any proper nouns. Third-level headings should be in italics, with an initial capital letter for any proper nouns. Fourth-level headings should also be in italics, at the beginning of a paragraph. The text follows immediately after a full stop (full point) or other punctuation mark. |
| Tables and figures: | Indicate in the text where the tables and figures should appear, or example by inserting [Table 1 near here]. The actual tables and figures should be supplied either at the end of the text or in a separate file as requested by the Editor. |

If your article is accepted for publication, it will be copy-edited and typeset in the correct style for the journal.

Foreign words and all titles of books or plays appearing within the text should be italicized. Non-Anglophone or transliterated words should also appear with translations provided in square brackets the first time they appear (e.g. weltanschauung [world-view]).

If acronyms are employed (e.g. the BUF), the full name should also be given the first time they appear.

If you have any queries, please contact us at <u>https://changing-sp.com/ojs/</u> index.php/csp/about/contact

Description of the journal's reference style

<u>CHANGING SOCIETIES & PERSONALITIES</u> <u>STANDARD REFERENCE STYLE: **APA**</u>

APA (American Psychological Association) references are widely used in the social sciences, education, engineering and business. For detailed information, please see the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association*, 6th edition, <u>http://www.apastyle.org/</u> and <u>http://blog.apastyle.org/</u>

| In the text: | |
|---------------------------------------|---|
| Placement | References are cited in the text by the author's surname, the publication date of the work cited, and a page number if necessary. Full details are given in the reference list. Place them at the appropriate point in the text. If they appear within parenthetical material, put the year within commas: (see Table 3 of National Institute of Mental Health, 2012, for more details) |
| Within the same Parentheses | Order alphabetically and then by year for repeated authors, with in-press citations last. Separate references by different authors with a semi- colon. |
| Repeat mentions in the same paragraph | If name and year are in parentheses, include the year in subsequent citations. |
| With a quotation | This is the text, and Smith (2012) says "quoted text" (p. 1), which supports my argument. This is the text, and this is supported by "quoted text" (Smith, 2012, p. 1). This is a displayed quotation. (Smith, 2012, p. 1) |
| Page number | (Smith, 2012, p. 6) |
| One author | Smith (2012) or (Smith, 2012) |
| Two authors | Smith and Jones (2012) or (Smith & Jones, 2012) |
| Three to five authors | At first mention: Smith, Jones, Khan, Patel, and Chen (2012) or (Smith, Jones, Khan, Patel, & Chen, 2012) At subsequent mentions: Smith et al. (2012) or (Smith et al., 2012) In cases where two or more references would shorten to the same form, retain all three names. |
| Six or more authors | Smith et al. (2012) (Smith et al., 2012) |
| Authors with same surname | G. Smith (2012) and F. Smith (2008) G. Smith (2012) and F. Smith (2012) |

| No author | Cite first few words of title (in quotation marks or italics depending on journal style for that type of work), plus the year: ("Study Finds", 2007) If anonymous, put (Anonymous, 2012). |
|---|---|
| Groups of authors that would shorten to the same form | Cite the surnames of the first author and as many others as necessary to distinguish the two references, followed by comma and et al. |
| Organization as author | The name of an organization can be spelled out each time it appears in the text or you can spell it out only the first time and abbreviate it after that. The guiding rule is that the reader should be able to find it in the reference list easily. National Institute of Mental Health (NIMH, 2012) or (National Institute of Mental Health [NIMH], 2012) University of Oxford (2012) or (University of Oxford, 2012) |
| Author with two works in the same year | Put a, b, c after the year (Chen, 2011a, 2011b, in press-a) |
| Secondary source | When it is not possible to see an original document, cite the source of your information on it; do not cite the original assuming that the secondary source is correct. Smith's diary (as cited in Khan, 2012) |
| Classical work | References to classical works such as the Bible and the Qur'an are cited only in the text. Reference list entry is not required. Cite year of translation (Aristotle, trans. 1931) or the version you read: Bible (King James Version). |
| Personal communication | References to personal communications are cited only in the text: A. Colleague (personal communication, April 12, 2011) |
| Unknown date | (Author, n.d.) |
| Two dates | (Author, 1959–1963) Author (1890/1983) |
| Notes | Endnotes should be kept to a minimum. Any references cited in notes should be included in the reference list. |
| Tables and figures | Put reference in the footnote or legend |

| Reference list | |
|---------------------|--|
| Order | Your reference list should appear at the end of your paper. It provides the information necessary for a reader to locate and retrieve any source you cite in the body of the paper. Each source you cite in the paper must appear in your reference list; likewise, each entry in the reference list must be cited in your text. Alphabetical letter by letter, by surname of first author followed by initials. References by the same single author are ordered by date, from oldest to most recent. References by more than one author with the same first author are ordered after all references by the first author alone, by surname of second author, or if they are the same, the third author, and so on. References by the same author with the same date are arranged alphabetically by title excluding 'A' or 'The', unless they are parts of a series, in which case order them by part number. Put a lower-case letter after the year: Smith, J. (2012a). Smith, J. (2012b). For organizations or groups, alphabetize by the first significant word of their name. If there is no author, put the title in the author position and alphabetize by the first significant word. |
| Form of author name | Use the authors' surnames and initials unless you have two authors with the same surname and initial, in which case the full name can be given: Smith, J. [Jane]. (2012). Smith, J. [Joel]. (2012). If a first name includes a hyphen, add a full stop (period) after each letter: Jones, JP. |
| Book | |
| One author | Author, A. A. (2012). <i>This is a Book Title: and Subtitle</i> . Abingdon: Routledge. |
| Two authors | Author, A. A., & Author, B. B. (2012). <i>This is a Book Title: and Subtitle</i> . Abingdon: Routledge |
| Three authors | Author, A. A., Author, B. B., & Author, C. C. (2012). <i>This is a Book Title: and Subtitle</i> . Abingdon: Routledge. |

| More authors | Include all names up to seven. If there are more than seven authors, list the first six with an ellipsis before the last. Author, M., Author, B., Author, E., Author, G., Author, D., Author, R., Author, P. (2001). |
|------------------------|--|
| Organization as author | American Psychological Association. (2003). <i>Book</i> <i>Title: and Subtitle</i> . Abingdon: Routledge. |
| No author | <i>Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary</i> (10 th ed.). (1993). Springfield, MA: Merriam-Webster. |
| Chapter | Author, A. A. (2012). This is a chapter. In J. J. Editor (Ed.), <i>Book Title: And Subtitle</i> (pp. 300–316). Abingdon: Routledge. Author, A. A. (2012). This is a chapter. In J. J. Editor & B. B. Editor (Eds.), <i>Book Title: and Subtitle</i> (pp. 300–316). Abingdon: Routledge. Author, A. A. (2012). This is a chapter. In J. J. Editor, P. P. Editor, & B. B. Editor (Eds.), <i>Book Title: And Subtitle</i> (pp. 300–316). Abingdon: Routledge. |
| Edited | Editor, J. J. (Ed.). (2012). <i>Book Title: And Subtitle</i> . Abingdon: Routledge. Editor, J. J., Editor, A. A., & Editor, P. P. (Eds.). (2012). <i>Book Title: And Subtitle</i> . Abingdon: Routledge. Editor, J. J., & Editor, P. P. (Eds.). (2012). <i>Edited</i> <i>Online Book: And Subtitle</i> . Retrieved from <u>https://</u> www.w3.org |
| Edition | Author, A. A. (2012). <i>Book Title: And Subtitle</i> (4 th ed.). Abingdon: Routledge. |
| Translated | Author, J. J. (2012). <i>Book Title: And Subtitle</i> . (L. Khan, Trans.). Abingdon: Routledge. |
| Not in English | Piaget, J., & Inhelder, B. (1951). <i>La Genèse de L'idée de</i> <i>Hasard Chez L'enfant</i> [The origin of the idea of chance in the child]. Paris: Presses Universitaires de France. For transliteration of Cyrillic letters please use the links: ALA-LC Romanization Tables at the web-site of The Library of Congress <u>http://www.loc.gov/catdir/cpso/</u> <u>roman.html</u> |
| Online | Author, A. A. (2012). <i>Title of Work: Subtitle</i> [Adobe Digital Editions version]. Retrieved from <u>https://www.w3.org</u> |

| Place of publication | Always list the city, and include the two-letter state abbreviation for US publishers. There is no need to include the country name: New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Washington, DC: Author Newbury Park, CA: Sage Pretoria: Unisa Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press Abingdon: Routledge If the publisher is a university and the name of the state is included in the name of the university, do not repeat the state in the publisher location: Santa Cruz: University of California Press Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press |
|---|---|
| Publisher | Give the name in as brief a form as possible. Omit terms such as 'Publishers', 'Co.', 'Inc.', but retain the words 'Books' and 'Press'. If two or more publishers are given, give the location listed first or the location of the publisher's home office. When the author and publisher are identical, use the word Author as the name of the publisher. |
| Multivolume works | |
| Multiple volumes from a multivolume work | Levison, D., & Ember, M. (Eds). (1996). <i>Encyclopedia of Cultural Anthropology</i> (Vols. 1–4). New York, NY: Henry Holt. Use Vol. for a single volume and Vols. for multiple volumes. In text, use (Levison & Ember, 1996). |
| A single volume from a multivolume work | Nash, M. (1993). Malay. In P. Hockings (Ed.), <i>Encyclopedia of World Cultures</i> (Vol. 5, pp. 174–176). New York, NY: G.K. Hall. In text, use (Nash, 1993). |
| Journal | |
| One author | Author, A. A. (2011). Title of Article. <i>Title of Journal</i> , 22, 123–231. doi:xx.xxxxxxxx Provide the issue number ONLY if each issue of the journal begins on page 1. In such cases it goes in parentheses: Journal, 8(1), pp–pp. Page numbers should always be provided. |

| | If there is no DOI and the reference was retrieved from an online database, give the database name and accession number or the database URL (no retrieval date is needed): Author, A. A. (2011). Title of Article. <i>Title of Journal</i> , 22, 123–231. Retrieved from <u>https://www.w3.org</u> If there is no DOI and the reference was retrieved from a journal homepage, give the full URL or site's homepage URL: Author, A. A. (2011). Title of Article. <i>Title of Journal</i> , 22, 123–231. Retrieved from <u>https://www.w3.org</u> |
|------------------------|--|
| Two authors | Author, A. A., & Author, B. B. (2004). Title of Article. <i>Title</i> of <i>Journal</i> , 22, 123–231. doi:xx.xxxxxxxxx |
| Three authors | Author, A. A., Author, B. B., & Author, C. C. (1987). Title of Article. <i>Title of Journal</i> , 22, 123–231. doi:xx. xxxxxxxxx |
| More authors | Include all names up to seven. If there are more than seven authors, list the first six with an ellipsis before the last. Author, M., Author, B., Author, E., Author, G., Author, D., Author, R.,, Author, P. (2001). |
| Organization as author | American Psychological Association. (2003). Title of Article: and subtitle. <i>Title of Journal</i> , 2, 12–23. doi:xx. xxxxxxxxxx |
| No author | Editorial: Title of editorial. [Editorial]. (2012). <i>Journal Title</i> , 14, 1–2. |
| Not in English | If the original version is used as the source, cite the original version. Use diacritical marks and capital letters for the original language if needed. If the English translation is used as the source, cite the English translation. Give the English title without brackets. Titles not in English must be translated into English and put in square brackets. Author, M. (2000). Title in German: Subtitle of Article [Title in English: Subtitle of Article]. <i>Journal in German</i> , 21, 208–217. doi:xx.xxxxxxxx Author, P. (2000). Title in French [Title in English: Subtitle of Article]. <i>Journal in German</i> , 21, 208–217. doi:xx.xxxxxxx For transliteration of Cyrillic letters please use the links: ALA-LC Romanization Tables at the web-site of The Library of Congress <u>http://www.loc.gov/catdir/cpso/</u> roman.html |

| Dear reviewed article | Author A A & Author B B (2012) Article title Title of |
|-------------------------------------|--|
| Peer-reviewed article | Author, A. A., & Author, B. B. (2012). Article title. <i>Title of</i> |
| published online ahead of the issue | <i>Journal</i> . Advance online publication. doi:xx.xxxxxxxx If you can update the reference before publication, do so. |
| | |
| Supplemental material | If you are citing supplemental material, which is only available online, include a description of the contents in |
| | |
| | brackets following the title. |
| Other exticle types | [Audio podcast] [Letter to the editor] |
| Other article types | Editorial: Title of editorial. [Editorial]. (2012). <i>Title of Journal</i> , 14, 1–2. |
| | Author, A. A. (2010). Title of review. [Review of the book |
| | Title of book, by B. Book Author]. <i>Title of Journal</i> , 22, 123–231. doi:xx.xxxxxxxxx |
| Article in journal | Author, A. A. (2004). Article title. Title of Journal, |
| supplement | 42(Suppl. 2), xx-xx. doi:xx.xxxxxxxxx |
| Conference | |
| Proceedings | To cite published proceedings from a book, use book |
| | format or chapter format. To cite regularly published |
| | proceedings, use journal format. |
| Paper | Presenter, A. A. (2012, February). Title of paper. Paper |
| | Presented at the Meeting of Organization Name, |
| | Location. |
| Poster | Presenter, A. A. (2012, February). Title of poster. Poster |
| | Session Presented at the Meeting of Organization |
| | Name, Location |
| Thesis | Author, A. A. (2012). Title of Thesis (Unpublished |
| | doctoral dissertation or master's thesis). Name of |
| | Institution, Location. |
| Unpublished work | |
| Manuscript | Author, A. A., Author, B. B., & Author, C. C. (2008). Title |
| | of Manuscript. Unpublished manuscript. |
| | Author, A. A., Author, B. B., & Author, C. C. (2012). Title |
| | of Manuscript. Manuscript submitted for publication. |
| Forthcoming article | Author, A. A., Author, B. B., & Author, C. C. (in press). |
| | Title of article. <i>Title of Journal</i> . doi:xx.xxxxxxxx |
| Forthcoming book | Author, A. A. (in press). Book Title: Subtitle. |
| Internet | |
| Website | When citing an entire website, it is sufficient just to give |
| | the address of the site in the text. |
| | The BBC (https://www.bbc.co.uk). |
| Web page | If the format is out of the ordinary (e.g. lecture notes), |
| | add a description in brackets. |
| | Author, A. (2011). Title of document [Format description]. |
| 1 | Retrieved from http://URL |

| Newspaper or magazine | Author, A. (2012, January 12). Title of Article. <i>The</i> <i>Sunday Times</i> , p. 1. Author, A. (2012, January 12). Title of Article. <i>The Sunday</i> <i>Times</i> . Retrieved from <u>http://www.sundaytimes.com</u> Title of Article. (2012, January 12). <i>The Sunday Times</i> . Retrieved from <u>http://www.sundaytimes.com/xxxx.html</u> |
|---|---|
| Reports | |
| May or may not be peer- reviewed; may or may not be published. Format as a book reference. | Author, A. A. (2012). <i>Title of work</i> (Report No. 123). Location: Publisher. Author, A. A. (2012). Title of work (Report No. 123). Retrieved from <i>Name website</i> : <u>https://www.w3.org</u> |
| Working paper | Author, A. A. (2012). <i>Title of work</i> (Working Paper No. 123). Location: Publisher. Author, A. A. (2012). Title of work (Working Paper No. 123). Retrieved from <i>Name website</i> : https://www.w3.org |
| Discussion paper | Author, A. A. (2012). <i>Title of work</i> (Discussion Paper No. 123). Location: Publisher. Author, A. A. (2012). Title of work (Discussion Paper No. 123). Retrieved from <i>Name website</i> : https://www.w3.org |
| Personal communication | Personal communication includes letters, emails, memos, messages from discussion groups and electronic bulletin boards, personal interviews. Cite these only in the text. Include references for archived material only. |
| Other reference types | |
| Patent | Cho, S. T. (2005). U.S. Patent No. 6,980,855. Washington, DC: U.S. Patent and Trademark Office. |
| Мар | London Mapping Co. (Cartographer). (1960). Street map. [Map]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.</u> londonmapping.co.uk/maps/xxxxx.pdf |
| Act | Mental Health Systems Act, 41 U.S.C. § 9403 (1988). |
| Audio and visual media | Taupin, B. (1975). Someone saved my life tonight [Recorded by Elton John]. On Captain fantastic and the brown dirt cowboy [CD]. London: Big Pig Music Limited. Author, A. (Producer). (2009, December 2). <i>Title of Podcast</i> [Audio podcast]. Retrieved from <i>Name website</i>: https://www.w3.org Producer, P. P. (Producer), & Director, D. D. (Director). (Date of publication). <i>Title of Motion Picture</i> [Motion picture]. Country of origin: Studio or distributor. Smith, A. (Writer), & Miller, R. (Director). (1989). Title of episode [Television series episode]. In A. Green (Executive Producer), Series. New York, NY: WNET. |

| | Miller, R. (Producer). (1989). The mind [Television series]. New York, NY: WNET. |
|------------------|--|
| Database | Author, A. A., Author, B. B., & Author, A. A. (2002). A study of enjoyment of peas. <i>Journal Title</i> , 8(3). Retrieved February 20, 2003, from the PsycARTICLES database. |
| Dataset | Author. (2011). <i>National Statistics Office Monthly Means</i> and other Derived Variables [Data set]. Retrieved March 6, 2011, from Name website: https://www.w3.org If the dataset is updated regularly, use the year of retrieval in the reference, and using the retrieval date is also recommended. |
| Computer program | Rightsholder, A. A. (2010). <i>Title of Program</i> (Version number) [Description of form]. Location: Name of producer. Name of software (Version Number) [Computer software]. Location: Publisher. If the program can be downloaded or ordered from a website, give this information in place of the publication information. |

3. Figures

Please provide the highest quality figure format possible. Please be sure that all imported scanned material is scanned at the appropriate resolution: 1200 dpi for line art, 600 dpi for grayscale and 300 dpi for color.

Figures must be saved separate to text. Please do not embed figures in the manuscript file.

Files should be saved as one of the following formats: TIFF (tagged image file format), PNG (portable network graphics) or JPEG (also JPG).

Each file should be no larger than 1 megabyte, the total size of all files attached to one article should not be more than 20 megabytes.

All figures must be numbered in the order, in which they appear in the manuscript (e.g. Figure 1, Figure 2). In multi-part figures, each part should be labelled (e.g. Figure 1(a), Figure 1(b)).

Figure captions must be saved separately, as part of the file containing the complete text of the manuscript, and numbered correspondingly.

The filename for a graphic should be descriptive of the graphic, e.g. Figure 1, Figure 2a.

ISSN онлайн-версии: 2587-8964 ISSN печатной версии: 2587-6104

Изменяющиеся общества и личности

2020. Том 4, № 2

Печатается ежеквартально

Основан в 2016 г.

Учредитель и издатель:

Федеральное государственное автономное образовательное учреждение высшего профессионального образования «Уральский федеральный университет имени первого Президента России Б. Н. Ельцина» (УрФУ)

> Адрес: Россия, Екатеринбург, 620002, ул. Мира, 19

> > Главный редактор: Елена Алексеевна Степанова

Адрес редакции: Россия, Екатеринбург, 620000, пр. Ленина, 51, к. 240. Телефон: +7 (343) 389-9412 Электронная почта: editor@changing-sp.com Сайт: <u>https://changing-sp.com</u>

Журнал зарегистрирован Федеральной службой по надзору в сфере связи, информационных технологий и массовых коммуникаций, Свидетельство о регистрации: ПИ № ФС77-65509 от 4 мая 2016 г.

Научное издание

Changing Societies & Personalities

Vol. 4, No. 2, 2020

Дизайн А. Борбунов Технический редактор Т. Лоскутова Компьютерная верстка Т. Лоскутова

Дата выхода в свет 09.07.2020. Формат 70 × 100 100/16. Бумага офсетная. Гарнитура Helvetica. Уч.-изд. л. 8,9. Тираж 300 экз. Заказ № 369.

Publisher – Ural Federal University Publishing Centre 4, Turgenev St., 620000 Yekaterinburg, Russia Phone: +7 343 350 56 64, +7 343 350 90 13 Fax: +7 343 358 93 06 E-mail: press-urfu@mail.ru

Издательство Уральского университета 620000, г. Екатеринбург, ул. Тургенева, 4

Отпечатано в Издательско-полиграфическом центре УрФУ. 620000, г. Екатеринбург, ул. Тургенева, 4 Тел.: +7 (343) 389-94-76, 350-90-13 Факс: +7 (343) 358-93-06 E-mail: press-urfu@mail.ru www.print.urfu.ru

Распространяется бесплатно

